
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Scrutiny Commission  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Monday, 25 January 2021 at 10.00 am 

Location: MS Teams 

Contact: Mrs J Twomey (Tel: 0116 305 2583) 

Email: joanne.twomey@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. S. J. Galton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 

Dr. T. Eynon CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 
Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC 
 

 
Please note: This meeting will not be open to the public in line with Government 
advice on public gatherings. This meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent 

broadcast via the Council's YouTube Channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ  

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 
2020  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 14) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ


 
 
 
 

 
6.  

  
Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
35.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2021/22 - 2024/45  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 15 - 60) 

 Mr. N. J. Rushton CC, the Leader of the Council, and Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC, Cabinet 
Lead Member for Finance and Resources, have been invited to attend for the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) items together with other Lead Members 
as appropriate. 
 

 

9.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 
2024/25 - Chief Executive's Department  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 61 - 76) 

10.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 
2024/25 - Corporate Resources Department  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 77 - 96) 

11.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 
2024/25 - Consideration of Responses from 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

 
 

 

 The purpose of this item is to enable consideration of the responses of the following 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees to their respective areas of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy:  
 

 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 13 January)  

 Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 14 
January)  

 Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 18 
January)  

 Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee (meeting held: 19 
January) 

 

 

12.  
  

Draft Revised Corporate Asset Investment 
Fund Strategy 2021 - 2025  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 97 - 156) 

13.  
  

Supporting Economic Recovery in 
Leicestershire  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 157 - 
200) 

14.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Commission is scheduled to take place on 15 March 2021. 
 

 

15.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 
QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny Commission held at County Hall, Glenfield on 
Wednesday, 4 November 2020.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. S. J. Galton CC (in the Chair) 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 

Mr. P. Bedford CC 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 

Dr. T. Eynon CC 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 

Mr. D. Harrison CC 

Mrs. R. Page CC 

Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 

Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 

Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC 

 

 
 
In attendance 
 
Mr J. B. Rhodes CC 
 

27. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 2nd and 14th September 2020 were taken as read, 
confirmed and signed.  
 

28. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
34. 
 

29. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

30. Urgent items  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

31. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 

5 Agenda Item 1



All members of the Commission who were also members of a district and/or parish 
council declared a personal interest in the report on the Draft City of Leicester Local Plan 
(agenda item 8). 
 
 

32. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

33. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 35.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

34. Draft City of Leicester Local Plan 2020 to 2036  
 
The Commission considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the draft City of 
Leicester Local Plan for 2020 to 2036 which sought its view on the draft County Council 
response to the proposals.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
The Chair welcomed Mr Grant Butterworth, Head of Planning at Leicester City Council to 
the meeting.  Mr Butterworth provided a presentation as part of this item and a copy of 
the slides is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised, and responses provided by Mr 
Butterworth on behalf of the City Council: 
 
Redistribution of housing 
 

i. Whilst it was recognised that regeneration opportunities in the City were limited 

and capacity to meet all its housing need constrained, concern was expressed that 

7,742 dwellings would need to be redistributed to the districts.   

 

ii. It was noted that the City Council had explored a number of options to use land in 
the City, and that this included some controversial sites which would result in the 
development of green open space which was already limited in the City.  Mr 
Butterworth said it was recognised this would be a sensitive issue and every effort 
had been made to seek to minimise the number required to be redistributed, but it 
would be important for the City, County and district councils to work together to 
manage this. 
 

iii. A comparison was made to the approach adopted in Manchester which had 
undertaken significant regeneration of living accommodation in its City centre.  Mr 
Butterworth responded that Leicester City was a smaller and more compact City 
which presented different challenges to those faced in other areas. 

 
University accommodation 
 
iv. It was questioned whether there had been an overdevelopment of university 

accommodation in the City and whether this had affected its ability to now provide 
long term dwellings for permanent residents.   Mr Butterworth reported that the 
City Council had been reliant on the University providing projections for its 
accommodation needs which had been forecasted over the next 5 – 10 years.  

6



The City when compared to other University towns had been below the national 
average in terms of the level of its student accommodation, but this had increased 
in recent years and was no longer considered to be an issue.  It was noted that 
there was now a move away from purpose built accommodation to private rented 
properties which was considered positive.   
 

v. The impact of Covid-19 on university accommodation was yet to be confirmed.  It 
was acknowledged that some students now attended courses remotely.  Feedback 
on this issue from the University would be considered as part of this consultation. 

 
Employment 
 
vi. Members raised concerns about the distribution of employment developments and 

the proposal for offices (which generally attracted high paid jobs) to be primarily 
located in the City whilst warehousing (which attracted a lower paid workforce) as 
well as housing, would be pushed out to the County.  It was emphasised that 
warehousing often generated heavy vehicular traffic and therefore had a negative 
impact on air quality and pollution levels.  Further concerns were raised that this 
did not support the generation of a wide range of job opportunities for those 
leaving the three Universities in Leicester and Loughborough.  It was suggested 
that more thought should be given to creating a more even distribution of 
employment facilities across the County and City. 
 

vii. Given the effects of Covid-19 and the number of people now working from home, it 
was queried whether there was or would continue to be the same level of demand 
for office space in the City.  Mr Butterworth reported that steps had been taken to 
improve the quality of office provision in the City and this had been supported by 
developer confidence in this area.  However, the impact of Covid-19 would be 
considered as the City developed its Local Plan into the next phase. 
 

viii. The allocation of land for employment purposes was challenged if this potentially 
pushed more houses in to the County.  Particularly as this resulted in people 
having to commute back into the City and therefore risked increasing congestion 
levels which was already a problem.  Mr Butterworth responded the allocation of 
warehousing in the City would be an inefficient use of land given its limited supply.  
The extent of land allocated for employment was also relatively small and 
competing demands for residential sites was not therefore an issue.  He 
suggested that given the nature of the City, it would not be appropriate for the Plan 
to emphasise housing over other facilities, but acknowledged it was a difficult 
balance that needed to be struck.   

 
Transport Infrastructure 
 
ix. A number of concerns were raised regarding transport connections in and out of 

the City and the level of congestion which it was suggested acted as a disincentive 
to visit.  A member further suggested that targeting the use of cars in the City 
might have a negative impact on visitor numbers as whilst reducing congestion, 
there was not always suitable alternative public transport available and investment 
in bus services was not always the best alternative over the long term as services 
often changed and/or ceased.   Mr Butterworth highlighted the City Mayor’s 
programme to prioritise walking and cycling in the City which would improve the 
City environment to make it a place where people would be happy to live as well 
as visit.  It was acknowledged that the City’s growth plans needed to be supported 
by appropriate transport interventions, but unrestricted car use was not regarded 

7



as the right way forward and alternatives would therefore be sought.  
 

x. It was highlighted that investment in public transport by the City and County 
Council working together to improve connectivity had been substantial but that 
resources were limited as both Council’s continued to face increasing financial 
pressures.  A reference was made to the potential benefit of further investment in 
the Park and Ride service.  Mr Butterworth said he was optimistic about the future 
for public transport despite the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and increasing 
the use of these options was not reliant on price, but significantly on reliability and 
quality.  Reducing overall congestion in the City would therefore be key.  
 

xi. Concern was expressed that traffic moving into the City caused congestion and 
delays outside the City boundary which in turn affected pollution levels in the 
districts. The redistribution of housing out of the City it was argued would also 
further exacerbate these problems.  Mr Butterworth explained that as part of the 
Local Plan process, the City Council would need to undertake detailed modelling 
to ensure the transport implications of its draft Plan could be accommodated.  
Details of this transport modelling would be published as part of the next stage of 
the local plan process.  At present, there was confidence that the scale of 
development proposed could be met in transport terms.  However, if there was 
less provision for transport improvements then consideration would need to be 
given to the capacity of the existing network.  The transport implications arising 
from unmet housing needs redistributed to the districts would not be relevant in the 
short term but would need to be addressed over time as schemes arose. 
 

xii. It was questioned whether the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) still provided the 
necessary strategic view of infrastructure requirements across the region.  
Reference was made to the suggestion that the Leicester A46 expressway might 
not go ahead though it was acknowledged that no announcement had been made 
to confirm whether or not this was the case. Mr Butterworth said that the Strategic 
Growth Plan had been invaluable as the City Council had developed its draft Plan.   
Planning for infrastructure over the long term meant it was easier to identify and 
plan for where investment was needed in a coordinated way.  If a scheme included 
within the SGP was not to be taken forward, then the MAG would consider this 
along with any need to review the SGP itself. 
 

Retail 
 
xiii. Members highlighted the impact of Covid-19 on the retail sector which had already 

been affected in the City by the development of out of town shopping areas such 
as at Fosse Park.  It was emphasised that many district councils had sought to 
resist such shopping areas in the County to support the City area.  It was 
questioned whether consideration had been given to reducing retail provision to 
support more housing.  Mr Butterworth confirmed that the City Council had asked 
consultants to consider the potential for freeing up residential capacity and the 
outcome of that work was awaited.  Pressure on the retail sector in the City, like in 
other cities, had been an increasing issue pre-Covid and it was likely that recent 
changes to the Planning Use Classes Order would continue to add to those 
pressures.   Despite this, the City had been moving more towards leisure facilities 
and investment in that area had been and continued to be strong. 

 
Government White Paper and Infrastructure Funding 
 
xiv. Members questioned how funding for infrastructure would be generated and what 

impact, if any, the Planning for the Future White Paper and proposals for a new 

8



national infrastructure levy would have on the Plan.  Mr Butterworth confirmed that 
the White Paper would impact the Local Plan.  However, the details of this would 
not be known for some time and it was estimated that implementation of any new 
legislation could take 2 possibly 3 years.  The City Council therefore proposed to 
press ahead with its draft Plan, but there would be sufficient flexibility in the 
process and as part of the requisite 5 year review to take account of future 
changes in the planning system.  Section 106 funding would be sought for the 
infrastructure needed, but this would not fund all that was required, and further 
government funding would need to be sought.  It was noted that government 
funding initiatives were often short lived and did not support longer term planning 
which increased pressure on local authorities to manage. 

 
Member engagement  
 
xv. It was suggested that a more regular interchange between County and City 

Council members would be beneficial.  The City was the hub of the area and it 
was important for all districts and the County as a whole to see it flourish.  Joint 
working would therefore be important. 

 
The Chairman thanked Mr Butterworth for attending and welcomed an officer to come 
back as part of the next stage of the local plan consultation process. 
 
In respect of the Council’s draft response to the Consultation, officers were asked to 
specifically consider the following: 
 

 Rewording of paragraph 25 of the report which suggested that areas such as 
Blaby, Charnwood and Harborough were ‘located within the built framework of the 
City’.   

 Strengthening of the position set out on pages 48 and 50 (consultation page 
nos.181, 187 and 190) of the appendix attached to the report regarding the 
adequacy of road and transport infrastructure.    

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration. 
 

35. Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium 2020  
 
The Commission considered a report of the Chief Executive which presented the draft 
Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium for 2020 and also set out the 
Council’s performance so far this year, taking account of the impacts of Covid-19.  A copy 
of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes.   
 
Arising from discussion and questions asked, the following points were made: 
 
(i) The Commission welcomed the broader approach taken to the Annual Delivery 

Report with the inclusion of wider information on comparative funding, service 
pressures and risks, as well as wider performance data in the Compendium. 
 

(ii) A member questioned current reliance on EU funding, namely the European Social 
Fund, which underpinned delivery in a number of areas including skills and inclusion 
work.  It was noted that it was not yet clear how these areas would be carried 
forward and what funding streams might be introduced by the Government post-
Brexit.   Reference was made to the Government’s proposed new national Shared 
Prosperity Fund and a member requested that further information on this be shared 

9



once this became available.  
 

(iii) It was noted with concern that the Government’s Fair Funding Review had been 
delayed and that the County Council therefore continued to be the lowest funded 
county authority in the country.  Members highlighted that the Council and 
Leicestershire residents suffered a wide and unfair funding gap compared to other 
authorities particularly, but not just, the London Boroughs.   Despite its low funding 
position, however, Members welcomed the achievement of the Council noting that 
its performance when compared against its statistical neighbours remained high.  
Members thanked staff that had continued to deliver services to such a high 
standard even during the Covid 19 pandemic. 
 

(iv) The Commission welcomed the work being undertaken to provide more average 
speed cameras across the County but agreed that the Treasury should continue to 
be pressed to enable local authorities to keep the proceeds arising from such 
cameras to support road safety schemes.   
 

(v) The importance of tackling obesity was highlighted, particularly in children, and it 
was agreed this was a much broader issue than just a physical activity offer.  The 
role played by schools was emphasised.   
 

(vi) A Member highlighted that homelessness provision seemed to be focused in 
Loughborough and suggested that consideration should be given to improving 
provision in the south of the County. 
 

(vii) It was questioned whether the comparative data showed two tier or unitary 
authorities to be performing better.  Members noted that the performance data for 
unitary counties needed to be carefully interpreted, due to the impact of 
demographic factors on outcomes, as a number of unitary counties were achieving 
higher performance than their demographic levels would suggest.  The Commission 
said it would welcome clarity on the latest position with regard to the submission of 
unitary proposals for Leicestershire, once the Government’s position was made 
clear.   
 

(viii) The need for continued transformation was noted and the importance of projects 
such as the recent Adult Social Care Target Operating Model.  The support given by 
the Transformation Unit in enabling change across the Authority was welcomed, 
though concern was expressed about the additional use of consultants and whether 
this offered value for money.  It was agreed that this would be something that 
required close monitoring.  However, Members noted that the Adults and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee had recently received a detailed 
report on the outcomes delivered by the TOM and that that Committee had been 
pleased to see the outcomes and cost reductions delivered by the project which far 
outweighed the cost of appointing consultants to support this. 
 

(ix) Members sought further information on the criteria used by the County Council 
when considering applications for a business recovery grant which the County 
Council had introduced to support local businesses affected by the Covid 19 
pandemic and sought assurance that this had been primarily allocated to 
businesses that were not receiving help from other sources. 
 

(x) The importance of country parks and green spaces was highlighted, something that 
had been particularly evident during the pandemic.  Whilst investment in such parks 
was important and benefited residents beyond the area where they were located, it 

10



was suggested that work should continue to ensure facilities in other areas were 
also considered, particularly those which might have less access to current facilities. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration at its 

meeting on 20th November 2020. 
 

(b) That details of the County Council’s criteria for considering recovery business 
grant applications be provided to Commission members and assurance sought 
that such funds were primarily allocated to businesses which were not received 
support from other sources.  

 
36. East Midlands Development Corporation 'Interim Vehicle (DEVCO)' and Freeport 

Proposals  
 
The Commission considered a report of the Chief Executive which set out the 
background, progress to date and expected benefits of the East Midlands Development 
Corporation Programme, known as “The Alchemy Project”.  The report detailed proposals 
for the establishment of an Interim Vehicle to maintain momentum prior to a Statutory 
Development Corporation being created by Parliament, including the award of £1.5m in 
the form of a £0.5m annual grant (2021-2024) which will be considered by the Cabinet at 
its meeting on 15 December 2020, and outlined the latest position with regard to the East 
Midlands Airport ‘Freeport’ proposal which could form part of the Development 
Corporation’s emerging proposition.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is 
filed with these notes. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The principal of looking at and coordinating growth developments across county 

boundaries was welcomed, as was the proposal that spending of government 
funds allocated for such projects would be controlled locally through the planned 
Development Corporation.  The Commission agreed this was an important issue 
and the Council and its partners would be treading new ground which could reap 
significant benefits in the long term.  
 

(ii) Concern was expressed that given current national spending pressures and the 
current pause of the eastern leg of HS2 there was a risk that funding for the 
programme could be withdrawn by Government and it was questioned whether, 
given the Council’s financial investment to the project, an exit strategy had been 
put in place.   It was acknowledged that the project was not without risk.  However, 
Members were reassured that if, for example, Government funding was withdrawn 
or reduced, or the eastern leg of HS2 did not take place, Midlands Engine would 
need to reassess the scope of the development corporation and what benefits 
could still be achieved. 
 

(iii) It was acknowledged that there was still much uncertainty regarding the proposals 
at this time, but it was hoped further detail would be known to enable a report to 
the presented to the Cabinet come December.   
 

(iv) A Member queried whether housing and employment allocated as part of the 
development corporation would go towards achieving North West Leicestershire 
District Council’s requirement.  Officer’s undertook to provide further clarification 
on this after the meeting. 
 

11



(v) A member queried whether it was now accepted that HS2 would be a passenger 
line and that freight would therefore be serviced by the midland mainline.  It was 
suggested that if this was the case, this supported proposals for the electrification 
of that line. 
 

RESOLVED: 

 

(a) That proposals to establish and East Midlands Development Corporation be noted; 
 

(b) That further clarification be provided on whether the housing and employment 
allocated as part of the development corporation would go towards achieving 
North West Leicestershire District Council’s requirements.  
 

37. East Midlands Shared Services Performance Update  
 
The Commission considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which 
provided an update on the performance of East Midlands Shared Services (EMSS) 
during the past 12 months.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the Lead Member for Resources, Mr J. B. Rhodes CC to the 
meeting. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were made: 
 
(i)   EMSS provided critical services and had performed exceptionally well despite 

difficult circumstances during both the national and local lockdown.  Services had 
continued to be delivered despite officers being located at home, including payroll 
and the payment of suppliers and contractors which had all gone ahead as 
normal.  It was acknowledged that the County Council’s ICT Service had played 
a significant role in ensuring staff were provided with appropriate kit which 
enabled business as usual to continue in the way it did. 
 

(ii)   Whilst disappointing given the work that had been undertaken, the Commission 
agreed that delaying the implementation of the new system ‘Oracle Cloud’ had 
been the right approach.  It was noted that implementation would instead now go 
ahead later this month, first within Leicestershire County Council, followed shortly 
by Nottingham City Council. 
 

(iii)   It was noted that the effect of Covid-19 had presented some opportunities to 
review the Services current ways of working.  The Service currently employed 
200 people who were located in offices split across two sites.  Whilst staff were 
offered the opportunity to work from home this had rarely been taken up.  It was 
likely that this would now change.  Many were grateful for the flexibility and 
improved work/life balance remote working provided.  Productivity had also 
remained high.  However, many still felt for work and wellbeing reasons, 
attending the office part of the time would be beneficial.  A balance between the 
two would likely therefore be struck for the long term. 
 

(iv)   It was acknowledged that the Service was heavily dependent on IT and it was 
queried what measures had been put in place for if the system failed.  Members 
were reassured that Oracle was regarded as a world leading application which 
gave confidence that total system failure was unlikely.  As the Service was 
hosted by the County Council’s IT systems it also benefited from all the usual IT 

12



safeguards it put in place.   
 

(v)   A Member queried the need for efficiencies, as was suggested in paragraph 28 of 
the report, if the Service was generating sufficient income.  It was explained that, 
rather than efficiencies, the Service sought continuous improvement in its 
operations and regularly looked at and challenged current ways of working. 
 

(vi)   The presentation of the cost of the Service against the income generated and 
how this fared against the cost of the County Council providing the same service 
in house was challenged.  The Director confirmed that the figures set out in the 
report perhaps did not show the position clearly, but that he was confident the 
Service offered good value for money and that future reports would set this out 
more clearly. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update now provided regarding the operation of the EMSS during the last 12 
months and in particular during the Covid 19 pandemic, be noted. 
 

38. Financial Resilience  
 
The Commission considered the Cabinet report of the Director of Corporate Resources 
which provided an overview of the County Council’s current level of financial resilience, 
considering the significant increase in financial pressure created by Covid-19, and its 
latest position on earmarked funds.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’, is 
filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were made: 

 
(i) A strong balance sheet had ensured that the County Council had been able to be 

responsive and support Leicestershire residents during the Covid 19 pandemic 
despite the significant increase in financial pressures this had caused.  The County 
Council had been able to provide grants for local businesses and support free 
school meals as well as invest in IT equipment to support staff working from home, 
ensuring Council services could continue to be provided during the national and 
local lockdown.   
 

(ii)  Members noted that the County Council had a debt level of £265 million and that 
this generated a cost in interest at 3.9%.  However, it was welcomed that this was 
significantly lower than other authorities such as Nottingham, Kent and Leeds.  
Avoiding borrowing in recent years, despite low funding had put the Council in a 
relatively strong financial position.  The Lead Member for Resources confirmed 
that the Council had not borrowed any money since 2009 and provided assurance 
that there was currently no intention to borrow for the foreseeable future.  

 
(iii) The Government’s failure to take forward the County Council’s fair funding 

proposals was disappointing.  The current ‘unfair’ formula had been used to 
calculate the Council’s share of the Covid -19 funding allocated by the 
government, which meant again, the County Council had not received an 
adequate share compared to other authorities.  It was agreed that this should 
continue to be pursued with Government. 

 
(iv) It was noted that a review of the Council’s assets was being undertaken but was at 

a very early stage.  The Director confirmed that it had been recognised for some 
time that the number of staff needing to be permanently office based was reducing 

13



and the pandemic had driven this change forward at pace.  It was not clear what 
the longer term implications of the Covid 19-pandemic would be.  It was likely that 
a number of staff currently working from home would, at least in part, prefer to 
come back into the office in time and so a balance would need to be struck.  In 
response to questions raised, the Director said it would be likely that renting and or 
selling surplus accommodation would be considered where appropriate and this 
would be done alongside partner organisations who may also be undertaking a 
similar exercise.   

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the contents of the report and the update now provided be noted; 

 
(b) That the comments made by the Commission be reported to the Cabinet for 

consideration at its meeting on 20th November 2020. 
 
39. Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Monitoring - Period 6  

 
The Commission considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which 
provided an update on the 2020/21 revenue budget and capital programme monitoring 
position as at the end of period 6 (the end of September).  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 13’, is attached to this report. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points were made: 
 
(i) The Commission reiterated its disappointment that the Government did not 

currently plan to take forward the Council’s fair funding proposals and agreed that 
the Council should continue with its campaign to redress the position. 

 
(ii) It was noted that despite being the lowest funded local authority in the country the 

County Council had managed to continue to provide good services for residents 
and aimed to still deliver a balanced budget at the end of the financial year.  
Members thanked officers and the Lead Member for Resources for their hard work 
in managing the Council’s finances particularly during this difficult period. 

 
(iii) A member expressed concern that the Government had set out an incorrect and 

misleading position in respect of funding allocated to local authorities during the 
Covid 19 pandemic and the suggestion that this could be used to fund free school 
meals during the October half term.  Members noted that the Government had 
allocated £63m to upper tier authorities and that the County Council’s share of this 
had been £541,860.  The Director confirmed that whilst the grant had not been 
ringfenced the Government had stipulated certain conditions including a 
requirement that interventions be targeted from July with the majority of spend 
within 12 weeks (i.e. by September).  The County Council had complied with those 
requirements and this funding had now been spent with most of this having been 
allocated to foodbanks. 

 
(iv) The Director reported that, whilst not set out in the report, the Leader had 

announced that the County Council would allocate funding for free school meals 
until the end of March 2021.  These costs would be met out of the additional 
allowance set aside in the budget for further Covid costs that had not yet been 
committed.  The Commission noted that this had only been made possible 
because the Council had significantly reduced its forecasted overspend and 
therefore had a degree of flexibility in the short term. 
 

14



(v) Proposals to develop land in Snibston were still being considered.  The proposals 
to build a residential extra care home and private housing on the site remained 
unchanged.  The business case would need to be developed and consideration 
given to land contamination that would require action and whether this affected the 
viability of the proposals.  Potential funding being made available by Homes 
England would also be a determining factor. 
 

(vi) The cost of SEN Transport was not funded by the Dedicated School Grant 
received by the Council but from the Council’s revenue budget which meant any 
additional spend in this area needed to be supported by savings elsewhere.  The 
number of children attending placements out of County remained high and 
continued to rise.  Covid 19 had further increased costs in this area as many 
children needed to be transported individually to allow for social distancing. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the revenue budget and capital programme monitoring position as at the end of 
September 2020 be noted. 
 

40. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Commission would be held on Monday, 25th 
January 2020 at 10.30 am. 
 
 

1010.00 am - 3.40 pm CHAIRMAN 
04 4 November 2020 

 
 
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

  
SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 25 JANUARY 2021 

 
PROVISIONAL MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  

2021/22 - 2024/25 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 
 

a) Provide information on the proposed 2021/22 to 2024/25 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to Corporate and Central Items; 

 
b) Provide an update on changes to funding and other issues, arising since the 

publication of the draft MTFS; 
 
c) Provide details of the following strategies and policies: Capital Strategy, 

Earmarked Funds Policy, and Insurance Policy; 
 

d) Ask members of the Commission to consider any issues as part of the 
consultation process and make any recommendations to the Cabinet 
accordingly. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
2. On 15 December 2020 the Cabinet agreed the proposed MTFS, including the 

2021/22 revenue budget and 2021/22 to 2024/25 capital programme, for 
consultation.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny 
Commission will consider the proposals during January 2021. 

 
3. An update of the MTFS will be reported to the Cabinet on 5 February 2021, and 

then to the County Council on 17 February 2021 to approve the MTFS including 
the 2021/22 revenue budget and capital programme.  This will enable the 
2021/22 budget to be set before the statutory deadline of the end of February 
2021. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

  
4. The MTFS is a rolling financial plan that is updated annually.  The current MTFS 

was approved by the County Council on 19 February 2020.  The County Council’s 
Strategic Plan (agreed by the Council on 6 December 2017) outlines the Council’s 
long-term vision for the organisation and the people and place of Leicestershire.  

 

 

17 Agenda Item 8



 
 

The MTFS, along with other plans and strategies such as the Transformation 
Programme, aligns with and underpins the Strategic Plan. 
 

MTFS Summary – Cabinet 15 December 2020 
  

5. The draft MTFS was approved by the Cabinet on 15 December 2020. 
 

6. The key revenue budget details were: 
 

 One year Local Government Settlement 

 No Revenue Support Grant 

 Council Tax increase of 1.99% for all years  

 Option to add an additional 3% to the adult social care precept in 2021/22, 
or split over 2021/22 and 2022/23 

 Growth of £59m is required, primarily to meet the forecast increase in 
demand for social care 

 Provision for pay and price inflation, £56m, driven by the National Living 
Wage 

 Savings required of £92m - of which £30m are identified, £26m relate to 
Special Education Needs, leaving a shortfall of £36m to be found  

 Comprehensive Spending Review expected later in 2021 
 

7. The key capital programme details were:  
 

 The draft four-year capital programme totals £450m 

 Capital funding available totals £304m 

 Balance of £146m, temporarily funded from the County Council’s internal 
cash balances in advance of section 106 contributions and other funding 
being received in the future, e.g. increased capital receipts or new grants. 

 
Changes to the Revenue Budget 2021-25 
  
8. A summary of the overall MTFS revenue position as reported to Cabinet on 5th 

December 2020 is shown in Appendix A. 
 

9. Since the report to the Cabinet, the Local Government Settlement (LGS) was 
announced.  Changes from the settlement and other known issues since then are 
summarised below.   
 

10. Social Care Grant (-£1.6m) – an additional allocation of £2.7m was anticipated in 
the draft MTFS but the allocation announced as part of the LGS amounts to 
£1.1m. The allocation includes a significant adjustment based on the relative 
levels of funding that Councils can raise from council tax, which reallocates grant 
from areas such as County Councils to areas with low council tax levels, 
particularly in London. 

 
11. Covid 19 Grant (+£11.8m) – Additional general government funding to support 

the Council’s response to the impact of Covid 19 continuing in 2021/22. The 
funding will be added to the Covid budget for 2021/22. 

18



 
 

12. LCTS Grant (+£3.6m). This additional funding will be set aside in an earmarked 
fund to contribute towards the anticipated increase in Local Council Tax Support, 
that is driven by unemployment. 

 

13. New Homes Bonus (+0.2m) updated estimates per the 2021/22 Local 
Government Finance Settlement. There will be no “legacy” payments in 
subsequent years regarding the 2020/21 and 2021/22 parts of the grant and the 
remaining legacy amounts, in respect of 2018/19 and 2019/20, will be phased out 
by 2023/24. 

 
14. Business Rates (+£2.4m).  The values for the 2021/22 “baseline” and Section 31 

grants in the LGS are higher than assumed in the draft MTFS. 
 
15. The above changes have not yet been reflected in the Appendices to this report.  

The net effect of these changes is expected to be added to the Covid-19 budget 
and also to reduce the shortfall on the funding of the capital programme. The 
detailed updates will be included in the updated proposals to the Cabinet on 5th 
February 2021.  

  
16. The Local Government Settlement is not expected to be finalised before the 

meeting of the Cabinet.  
 
Corporate and Central Items 
  
17. Details of the corporate and central items elements of the MTFS are shown in 

Appendix B.  
 

DSG (Central Dept Recharges) 
 
18. A total of £2.3m is set aside from the DSG to fund central department costs of 

Schools.    
 
Corporate Savings 

 
19. There are two existing savings that align to current initiatives, savings will 

ultimately be delivered through department budgets; Review of Key Supplier 
Contracts (£250,000), and ICT Implementation of Digital Initiatives (£100,000). 

 

MTFS Risks Contingency 
  

20. In common with previous years the proposed MTFS includes a contingency of 
£8m in 2021/22 and later years for other specific key risks that could affect the 
financial position on an ongoing basis. Examples include: 

 

 The non-achievement of savings. 

 Certainty of partner funding, for example services provided through the 
BCF. 

 Pressure on demand led-budgets particularly in social care. 

 Maintaining the level of investment required to deliver savings. 

 New service pressures that arise (a recent example is Ash Dieback). 

19



 
 

 
21. When the contingency is released ‘free’ resources are directed toward the Future 

Developments earmarked fund to reduce the shortfall in capital funding 
discussed later in this report. 
 
Covid-19 Budget 

22. Whilst it is fully expected that the impact of Covid-19 will continue to impact the 
Council’s finances into the 2021/22 financial year, knowing the extent of this and 
how long the impact will last is extremely difficult to anticipate. Therefore 
departmental budgets have been constructed and presented on the basis as 
business as usual. Instead a budget has been included in 2021/22 only, to make 
provision for those Covid-19 related spending pressures and income losses as 
they occur. The key risks include: 
 

 Lockdown and other restrictions continue for an unknown period, increasing 
costs, reducing trading income and impeding the ability to generate savings. 

 Economy continues to decline, supressing tax income and driving service 
demand 

 Pressures on partners budgets impact the County Council, for example the 
hospital discharge funding is not maintained but expectations are. 

 The nature of Government support changes too soon. For example Holiday 
Activity funding has replaced the Winter Grant Scheme which is providing Free 
School Meals in school holidays.  
 

23. The budget will also include the 2021/22 Covid-19 grant funding announced 
alongside the Local Government Finance Settlement. 
 

24. It is expected that further government support will be made available to Councils 
in 2021/22 to supplement the County Council’s resources. The level of support 
confirmed is less than a quarter of that received in the current financial year.   

 

25. The extent to which the contingency is sufficient to cover the additional Covid-19 
financial pressures will obviously be monitored on an ongoing basis and reported 
as part of the usual budget monitoring cycle. 

 
Contingency for Inflation / Living Wage 
 

26. A total of £12.6m has been included in the latest MTFS for 2021/22, rising to 
£27m in 2022/23, £41.7m in 2023/24, and £56.1m in 2024/25.  This contingency 
will be allocated to services as necessary. 
 

27. The main components of the contingency are provisions for: 

 Pay awards £15m 

 Pension contribution increases £4m 

 National Living Wage/ Adult Social Care fee reviews £29m 

 Other running costs, net of income £8m 
 

 

20



 
 

28. The MTFS provides an estimated average increase for pay of 1% in 2021/22, 
reflecting the Spending Review announcement of a pay award “pause” for staff 
earning more than £24,000 and £250 increases for staff earning £24,000 or less. 
The MTFS provides for annual pay awards in 2022/23 onwards of 2%, with an 
allowance for higher increases in the lower Grades to reflect the impact of the 
National Living Wage (NLW).  

 
29. The central inflation contingency includes provision for an increase of 1% each 

year in the employers’ pension contribution rate, in line with the requirements of 
the actuarial assessment.  

 
30. The contingency includes provision of £29m for anticipated increases in costs  

driven by  increases in the NLW, with Adult Social Care costs being the main 
contributor. The Governments stated policy remains for the NLW to increase to 
£10.50 by 2024, an increase of 20% from the current level (£8.72). 

 
31. The Government’s preferred measure of inflation is the Consumer Price Index 

(CPI), which the Bank of England is tasked with targeting at a 2% rate. However, 
the Council’s cost base does not always reflect these household inflation 
measures.  Energy and fuel increases, for example, have a much more 
significant impact.  To compensate, the draft MTFS assumes 3% per annum 
inflation over the period 2021/22 to 2024/25 for other running costs. Conversely 
elements of the County Council’s cost base do not inflate. For example debt 
financing and fixed price contracts, as a result no inflation provision is applied to 
25% of the cost base.  

 
32. The level of inflation contingency is assessed on an annual basis. This allows any 

over or under provision to be adjusted for without balances building, which could 
be directed to service provision, or unmanageable liabilities growing. 

 
Financing of Capital 

 
33. Capital financing costs are expected to decrease to £19.0m in 2021/22 (from 

£19.2m in 2020/21) and then to rise to £20m in 2022/23 and £23m in 2023/24.  
The increase is as a result of increasing financing requirements for the capital 
programme. 

 
Revenue Funding of Capital 

 
34. The budget includes revenue funding of capital expenditure, mainly for the 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund and for Future Developments, as described 
under the capital section later in the report.  The latest position includes a total of 
£2.5m in 2021/22 and £1.5m from 2022/23 onwards.  

 
Central Expenditure  

 
35. The 2021/22 budget includes:  

 

 Pensions (£1.5m) - funding for added years, agreed before and as part of 
Local Government Reorganisation in 1997; 

21



 
 

 Members’ Expenses and support (£1.2m); 

 Flood Defence Levies (£0.3m) payable to the Environment Agency; 

 Elections (£0.2m) annual contribution to an earmarked fund to fund County 
Council elections; 

 Financial Arrangements (-£0.7m) – including income from Eastern Shire 
Purchasing Organisation surpluses and external audit fee costs. This 
includes a saving of £40,000 (rising to £80,000 by 2022/23) from growth in 
ESPO’s net income. 

 
Central Grants and Other Income  

  
36. The 2021/22 budget includes:  

 

 Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) grant income (-£11.4m) 

 Social Care Grant (new from 2020/21) (-£11.6m) 

 Adult and Children's Social Care Support Grant (-£4.1m) 

 Adult Social Care - Winter Pressures Grant (-£1.4m) 

 “Spring Budget” iBCF (-£0.9m) – one year continuation of the 2019/20 grant 

 New Homes Bonus Grant (-£2.4m)  

 Bank and Other Interest (-£1.3m) - Interest income relating to Treasury 
Management investments.  The forecast reduces in later years as balances 
are forecast to be used to fund the capital programme. The levels of interest 
are based on the expectation that Bank of England base rates will remain at 
a low level for the foreseeable future. 

 
Corporate Growth and Savings 
 
37. G25 - Corporate Growth contingency - £6.8m in 2021/22, £12.4m in 2023/24 

rising to £17.6m in 2024/25. This has been included to act as a contingency for 
potential further cost pressures in the later years of the MTFS – the value has 
been set based upon historic levels of growth incurred. Without the contingency 
the County Council would be required to make savings in a very short time 
period.   

 

Council Tax and Business Rates 
 

38. The overall quantum of funding expected to be raised through council tax has 
been reassessed in light of the Covid-19 pandemic. In the current year, district 
councils are seeing increased claims for council tax support, linked to increased 
unemployment and hardship across the County. 
  

39. Across Leicestershire the overall Local Council Tax Schemes (LCTS) totals 
£30m of which approximately £15m relates to working age adults.  The Bank of 
England has recently forecast that unemployment rates could increase from the 
current rate of 4% up to 7% by the middle of 2021.  The impact of this could 
increase working age adults LCTS to around £26m resulting in less Council Tax 
payable.  The impact on the County Council would be around 71% of the £11m 
reduction in Council Tax (approximately £8m). The position could be worse if 
there was a very hard recession that was long lasting.   

22



 
 

 
40. Council Tax payable is also affected by collection rates which could be impacted 

by rising unemployment.  These factors are reflected in the assumptions relating 
to the Council’s taxbase. It is assumed that the tax base will fall by around 2.8% 
in 2021/22 but then rise by 2.9% in 2022/23, rise by 3.1% in 2023/24 and rise by 
1.5% in 2023/24.  Final Council Tax base figures for 2021/22 will be provided by 
the district councils in January 2021 and will be reflected in the report to the 
Cabinet on the 5th February 2021. 

 
41. The negative impact upon housing growth has been lower than might be 

expected in the circumstances.  Governments direction for construction sites to 
remain open and Stamp Duty incentives have maintained the market. When 
incentives expire and unemployment increases the impact is likely to grow. 

 
42. Business rates income is also affected although the impact on the County 

Council is lower and is more problematic for district councils, as they benefit from 
the majority of the growth incentive. 

 
43. To manage the risks, the County Council has built in an estimated shortfall 

compared to previous estimates of £14m in 2021/22, £10m in 2022/23 and £5m 
in later years. 

 
Adequacy of Earmarked Funds and Robustness of Estimates 
 
44. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Director of Corporate Resources to 

report on: 
 

a) The adequacy of reserves, and 
b) The robustness of the estimates included in the budget. 

 
45. The financial environment continues to be challenging with a number of known 

major risks over the next few years.  These include:  
 

 Impact of Covid 19, continuing in 2021/22 and effects into later years.   

 Non-achievement of savings and income targets.  The requirement for 
savings and additional income totals £92m over the next four years of which 
£36m is unidentified.  Successful delivery of savings is dependent upon a 
range of factors, not all of which are in the control of the County Council. 

 The financial positions of Health and Social Care are intrinsically linked and 
of growing importance.  In common with the County Council, the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are struggling to produce a balanced 
budget, although their problems may be more pressing.  The implications 
for the County Council could be reductions in the funding received through 
the BCF and additional costs as a result of changes in the NHS, such as the 
Transforming Care programme that will move more care into the 
community.   

 Service pressures resulting in an overspend, including demand-led 
children’s and adult social care, particularly on the children’s social care and 
SEN placements budget.  

23



 
 

 Continued increase in the National Living Wage, only notified a few months 
in advance of each financial year. 

 The strength of the economy dictates the funding of the public sector, both 
directly through council tax and business rate income and indirectly through 
the influence on Government funding decisions.  

 The increasing reliance on income generated from services in other parts of 
the public sector.  Given the much tighter financial environment for the 
sector it will be challenging to maintain or keep increasing income. 

 2022 is a year which could see the biggest changes to local government for 
a generation.  The following initiatives are all now planned or anticipated to 
be implemented in that year, although further delays would not be 
unexpected: 
 

 75% Business Rate retention, including significant new responsibilities 
and a “reset” of the system’s baselines (deferred from April 2020). 

 Fair Funding Review, covering redistribution of funding nationally 
(deferred from April 2020). 

 Health Integration plans implemented (deferred from 2020). 

 Review of Social Care (deferred from 2017). 

 Review of SEND reforms. 
  

46. There are a number of ways that risks will be mitigated and reduced.  These are 
summarised below and explained in more detail in the following paragraphs:  
   

 General Fund  

 MTFS Contingencies 

 Earmarked funds 

 Effective risk management arrangements. 
  

General Fund 
 
47. The General Fund balance is available for unforeseen risks that require short 

term funding, estimated to be £16m as at 31 March 2021.  A copy of the 
earmarked funds policy is included in Appendix C. These risks come in a variety 
of forms: 
 

 Legal challenges such as judicial reviews that require a change in savings 
approach.  

 Legislative changes that come with a financial penalty, for example general 
Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

 Service provision issues that require investment, for example the capital 
investment to support the High Needs Block Development Plan – see 
below. 

 Variability in income, particularly from asset investments 
 

24



 
 

Earmarked Funds 
 
48. The estimated balance for revenue earmarked funds (excluding schools and 

partnerships) as at 31 March 2021 is £32m and for capital funding purposes 
£34m, based on forecasts made in the Autumn 2020 review.  Forecasts are 
currently under review and will be updated as part of the MTFS report to the 
Cabinet in February 2021.  The final level of earmarked funds will be subject to 
the actual expenditure and any partner contributions, e.g. health funding 
arrangements and specific grants. 

 
49. Earmarked funds and balances are held for specific purposes.  The main 

earmarked funds and balances projected at 31 March 2021 are: 
 
(a) Capital Financing (£34.0m).  This fund is used to hold MTFS revenue 

contributions to match the timing of capital expenditure in the capital 
programme and also holds the balance of contributions that will be used to 
fund future developments, mainly capital projects, as they are approved. 

(b) Insurance (£11.9m).  Funds are held to meet the estimated cost of future 
claims to enable the County Council to meet excesses not covered by 
insurance policies.  The levels are informed by recommendations by 
independent advisors.  The insurance earmarked funds includes funding for 
uninsured losses (£5.3m).  This is mainly held to meet additional liabilities 
arising from Municipal Mutual Insurance Ltd (MMI) that is subject to a run-
off of claims following liquidation in 1992 and also of other failed insurers 
such as The Independent Insurance Company.  

(c) Transformation (£4.0m).  The fund is used to invest in transformation 
projects to achieve efficiency savings and also to fund severance costs. 

(d) Budget Equalisation Fund (£18m) – fund to manage variations in funding 
across financial years. This includes the increasing pressures on the High 
Needs element of the Dedicated Support Grant (DSG) which forecasts a 
deficit of £18m by the end of 2020/21. The C&FS Department are 
investigating a number of actions that could over the course of the MTFS 
reduce demand and therefore the overall deficit. 

(e) Funds for specific departmental infrastructure, asset renewal and other 
initiatives (£22m). 

(f) Pooled Property investments (-£24m) – invested against the balance of 
earmarked funds held. 
  

50. Grant Thornton, the County Council’s external auditor, has reviewed the level of 
earmarked funds held by the County Council as part of its Value for Money 
review of the current MTFS and reported no issues.  In their latest audit Grant 
Thornton considers financial sustainability in the context of Covid-19. Their 
commentary included “Overall, we are satisfied that the Council has 
arrangements in place to monitor its financial position for the short term, and has 
appropriate level of general reserves to mitigate any shortfalls if required”. 

25



 
 

 
School Balances   

 
51. Balances are also held by schools.  They are held for two main reasons.  Firstly, 

as a contingency against financial risks and secondly, to save to meet planned 
commitments in future years.  The balance at 31st March 2020 was £8.0m.  The 
balance at 31st March 2021 has not been estimated but is expected to have 
reduced as a result of spending pressures. It is also affected by the number of 
schools converting to Academies.    

 
Insurance Policy 
 
52. The Council’s Insurance programme is arranged in conjunction with its appointed 

Insurance Brokers.  The approach is outlined in the Insurance policy, which is 
attached as Appendix D. 
 

Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 
  
53. The programme has been updated for the latest programme of deliverability and 

resources. The overall approach to developing the capital programme is set out 
in the capital strategy (Appendix E) and is based on the following key principles: 
 

 To invest in priority areas of growth, including roads, infrastructure, climate 
change, including the forward funding of projects; 

 To invest in projects that generate a positive revenue return (spend to 
save); 

 To invest in ways which support delivery of essential services;  

 Passport Government capital grants received for key priorities for highways 
and education to those departments; 

 Maximise the achievement of capital receipts;  

 Maximise other sources of income such as bids to the LLEP, section106 
developer contributions and other external funding agencies; 

 No or limited prudential borrowing (only if the returns exceed the borrowing 
costs).  

 
54. The draft capital programme totals £450m over the four years to 2024/25, shown 

in detail in Appendix F.  The programme is funded by a combination of 
Government grants, capital receipts, external contributions, revenue balances 
and earmarked funds.  

 
55. Where capital projects are not yet fully developed or plans agreed these have 

been included under the heading of ‘Future Developments’ under each 
departmental programme.  It is intended that as these schemes are developed 
during the year, they will be assessed against the balance of available resources 
and included in the capital programme as appropriate.  A fund of £50m is 
included in the draft corporate capital programme. 

 
 
 
 

26



 
 

56. The proposed programme can be summarised as: 
 

Service Improvements £223m 

Investment for Growth £96m 

Invest to Save £81m 

Future Developments £50m 

Total £450m 

 
Funding and Affordability  
  
Forward Funding 

  
57. The County Council recognises the need to forward fund investment in 

infrastructure projects to enable new schools and roads to be built and unlock 
growth in Leicestershire before funding, mainly from developer contributions, is 
received.  This allows a more co-ordinated approach to infrastructure 
development. Forward funding of £13m for highways has been included within 
the capital programme (in addition to £17.4m added in the 2020/21 capital 
programme).  When the expected developer contributions are received, they will 
be earmarked to the capital programme, to reduce the dependency on internal 
cash balances in the future.   

 
58. Forward funding presents a significant financial commitment for the County 

Council, but should ensure: 
 

 External funding is maximised, through successful bids. 

 The final cost of infrastructure investment is reduced (compared with what it 
would be if construction was delivered incrementally as and when smaller 
developments come forward). 

 The design is optimised, to benefit of the local community. 
  

59. There are risks involved in managing and financing a programme of this size. 
There is reduced scope for funding additional schemes that are identified in the 
future.  And an increased reliance on developer contributions means that it may 
take many years for investment to be repaid. This could be further compounded 
in the event of an economic slowdown.  To this end, support of district councils is 
essential to ensure the agreements reached with developers mitigate the 
chances of insufficient contributions coming forward, compromising the County 
Council’s financial position.   A key determinant in generating sufficient developer 
contributions is the approach taken by the district council, as the planning 
authority.  The district council will set the local planning context against which 
section 106 agreements will be agreed and ultimately decide on planning 
permission. 

 
60. Given the benefits to Leicestershire that the increased investment will bring it is 

considered that district councils should share in these risks in a proportionate 
way.  The County is looking to develop an approach to working with districts, 
developers and other stake holders to mitigate the County Council’s risks as 
much as possible. However, the circumstances around individual projects vary 
hence any specific agreements will need to be tailored accordingly.   

27



 
 

 
61. A significant problem associated with funding major infrastructure projects is the 

way in which capital funding is allocated.  Significant resource needs to be 
invested in developing bids which may ultimately not be successful.  Whilst it is 
important that robust business cases are developed to ensure the benefits of the 
project are sufficient to justify the investment, the fact that successful bids also 
need a degree of match/local funding to supplement grant money means that 
tight capital programmes become even more stretched.  The County Council 
considers that such an approach is unsustainable and needs to be reviewed and 
will continue to raise this with central government. 

 
62. The East Midlands is disadvantaged in terms of the ability to influence 

Government and attract investment or devolution opportunities compared to the 
West Midlands.  There is an elected mayor and a combined authority for the 
West Midlands.  Their most recent devolution deal (2017) includes £6m for a 
housing delivery taskforce, £5m for a construction skills training scheme and 
£250m to be spent on local intra-city transport priorities.  The first devolution deal 
(2015) included over £1bn investment to boost the West Midlands economy.   

 
Capital Grants 
  
63. Grant funding is the largest source of financing for the capital programme and 

totals £212m across the 2021-25 programme.  The majority of grants are 
awarded by Government departments including the DfE and the Department for 
Transport (DfT). 

  
Children and Family Services  

 
64. Capital grant funding for schools is provided by the DfE as follows: 

 
a) Basic Need – this grant provides funding for new pupil places by expanding 

existing schools and academies or by establishing new schools.  Funding is 
determined through an annual submission to the DfE which identifies the 
need for additional school places in each local authority area.  The DfE has 
announced details of the grant awards for 2021/22 (£22.1m).  No details 
have been announced for future years.  An estimate of £7.5m has been 
used for 2022/23 to 2024/25. 

 
b)  Strategic Capital Maintenance – this grant provides the maintenance 

funding for the maintained school asset base.  Details of the grant for 
2021/22 and future years have not yet been announced.  An estimate of 
£2m per annum is included in the capital programme.  It is expected that 
this grant will continue but will reduce as further schools convert to 
academy status.  

 
 c) Devolved Formula Capital (DFC) - funding provided to schools.  The DfE 

has not yet announced details of grant allocations.  However, an estimate of 
£0.5m per annum can be made, based on the number of maintained 
schools. 

 

28



 
 

d) DfE - New (Free) School bid – the programme funding includes an £8m 
grant to fund a new Social Emotional and Mental Health special school in 
2023/24 required as part of the High Needs Development plan.  

 
Adult Social Care 

 
65. Capital funding for the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) programme has not yet 

been announced. An estimate in line with previous years of £3.9m per annum 
has been included in the capital programme.  

 
Environment and Transport 

66. The DfT grants have not yet been announced. Estimates have been included for 
Improvement Schemes and Maintenance based on previous years.  The funding 
includes: 
 

 Improvement Schemes - £2.7m p.a. (£10.9m overall). 

 Maintenance funding - £11.4m p.a. (£45.8m overall). 

 Pothole and Challenge fund - £7.8m p.a. (£31.3m overall).  
 
67. Other significant Environment and Transport capital grants included are: 
 

 DfT Melton Mowbray Distributor Road funding - £42.3m (total £49.5m 
including 20/21 allocation) 

 Housing Infrastructure Fund – Melton Southern Distributor Road - £13.2m. 
 
Capital Receipts 
 
68. The generation of capital receipts is a key priority for the County Council.  The 

draft capital programme includes an estimate of £14m across the four years to 
2024/25.   

    
69. The estimate includes potential land sales that are subject to planning 

permission.  In these cases the value of the site is significantly increased when 
planning permission is approved.  However, this also comes with a significant 
amount of uncertainty and potential for delays.  For planning purposes a total of 
£3m of future estimated sales, subject to planning permission, has been 
included. 

 
Revenue / Earmarked Funds/ Contributions 
 
70. To supplement the capital resources available and avoid the need for borrowing 

£47m of revenue funding is being used in the draft programme consisting of: 
 

One-off MTFS 2021-25 revenue contributions £7m 

Departmental earmarked funds  £1m 

Capital Financing earmarked fund  £39m 

Total £47m 

 

29



 
 

71. The capital financing earmarked fund temporarily holds previous years’ revenue 
contributions to fund the capital programme until they are required.  The balance 
includes a contribution to the Environment and Transport revenue budget for the 
substitution of £6m in Environment and Transport capital grants. 

 
72. Supplementary funding is required where schemes cannot be fully funded by 

alternative sources, such as grants.  Examples of this are the replacement of 
operational assets, such as the vehicle replacement programme and ICT 
systems.  

 
External Contributions and Earmarked Capital Funds 
 
73. A total of £31m is included in the funding of the capital programme 2021-25.  This 

includes £30m from section 106 developer contributions.  
 
Funding from Internal Balances 
 
74. A total of £146m in funding required is included within the capital programme to 

fund the programme and enable investment in schools and highway 
infrastructure to be made.  Over the next 10 to 15 years it is anticipated that circa 
£30m of this funding will be repaid through the associated developer 
contributions.   

  
75. Due to the strength of the County Council’s balance sheet, it is possible to use 

internal balances (cash balances) to fund the capital programme on a temporary 
basis instead of raising new loans.  Levels of cash balances held by the Council 
comprise the amounts held for earmarked funds, provisions, the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) set aside for the repayment of debt, and working 
capital of the Council.  The cost of raising external loans currently exceeds the 
cost of interest lost on cash balances by circa 2%. 

  
76. The overall cost of using internal balances to fund £146m of investment is 

estimated to be £6.5m per annum by 2024/25, comprising MRP of £4m and 
reduced interest from investments of £2.5m.  This is a prudent assessment as 
the impact will reduce in future years as the funding is repaid. 

 
77. The County Council’s current level of external debt is £263m.  As described 

above this is not anticipated to increase during the MTFS.  
 

Capital Programme - Summary by Department 
 

78. Over the period of the MTFS, capital programme of £450m is required of which 
£138m is planned for 2021/22.  The main elements are: 

 

 Children and Family Services - £85m.  The priorities for the programme are 
informed by the Council’s School Place Planning Strategy and investment in 
SEND as part of the High Needs Development Plan, explained earlier in this 
report. 

30



 
 

 Adults and Communities - £25m. The programme includes £16m relating to 
the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) programme and schemes for the Social 
Care Investment Plan (SCIP). 

 Environment and Transport - £206m.  This relates to: Major Schemes such 
as Melton Mowbray Distributor Road N/E and Southern Sections, Zouch 
Bridge replacement as well as the Transport Asset Management 
Programme and the Environment & Waste Programme. 

 Chief Executive’s - £2m. The main scheme is the Rural Broadband Phase 3 
and also includes Leicestershire Community Grants. 

 Corporate Resources - £11m.  This mainly relates to investment in the ICT 
Programme, Property Services and Climate Change (Environmental 
Improvements). 

 Corporate Programme - £121m. The main area is the investment in the 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) includes £5m for planning and  
preparatory work at Lutterworth East,  and Future Development Projects 
(subject to business cases).  The latest CAIF strategy 2021-25 will be 
reported to the Scrutiny Commission on 25 January 2021. 

 
Budget Consultation 

79. The Cabinet at its meeting in December 2020 approved the MTFS proposals for 
consultation. The consultation asked for views on the savings plan and the 
appetite for Council Tax increases.  The consultation closes on 17th January 
2021 and a report on the outcome will be included within the MTFS report to the 
Cabinet on 5th February 2021.  

 
Results of Scrutiny Process 
 
80. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny Commission have 

received detailed reports on the revenue budget and capital programme 
proposals, which can be viewed via the County Council’s website 
(www.leicestershire.gov.uk).   A summary of the comments arising from the 
meetings of Scrutiny bodies will be presented with the MTFS report to the 
Cabinet on 5th February 2021. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
81. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not; and  

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics 
and those who do not. 

 
82. Many aspects of the County Council's MTFS may affect service users who have 

a protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the 
impact of the proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a 
formative stage prior to any final decisions being made.  Such assessments will 
be undertaken in light of the potential impact of proposals and the timing of any 

31



 
 

proposed changes. Those assessments will be revised as the proposals are 
developed to ensure that decision-makers have information to understand the 
effect of any service change, policy or practice on people who have a protected 
characteristic. 

 
83. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject 

to the County Council’s Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality 
Impact Assessment to be undertaken as part of the Action Plan.   

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
84. Some aspects of the County Council’s MTFS are directed towards providing 

services which will support the reduction of crime and disorder.   
 
Environmental Implications 
  
85. The MTFS will include schemes to support the Council’s response to climate 

change and to make environmental improvements. 
 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
86. As part of the efficiency programme and improvements to services, working with 

partners and service users will be considered along with any impact issues, and 
they will be consulted on any proposals which affect them. 

 
Risk Assessments   
 
87. As this report states, risks and uncertainties surrounding the financial outlook are 

significant.  The risks are included in the Corporate Risk Register which is 
regularly updated and reported to the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the County Council on 19th February 2020: Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2020/21-2023/24 - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=6038&Ver=4 

 
County Council Strategic Plan – 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan 

 
Report to the Cabinet on 15th December 2020: Provisional Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 – 2024/25 - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s158708/MTFS%202021-
25%20Supplementary%20Report.pdf 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Four Year Revenue Budget 2021/22 to 2024/25 
Appendix B: Corporate and Central Items Revenue Budget 2021/22 
Appendix C:  Earmarked Funds Policy 

32

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=6038&Ver=4
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s158708/MTFS%202021-25%20Supplementary%20Report.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s158708/MTFS%202021-25%20Supplementary%20Report.pdf


 
 

Appendix D:  Insurance Policy 
Appendix E:  Capital Strategy 
Appendix F: Draft Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 
 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources, 
Corporate Resources Department, 
Tel: 0116 305 6199  E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property) 
Corporate Resources Department, 
Tel: 0116 305 7668  E-mail: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk 

33

mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

2021/22 - 2024/25 REVENUE BUDGET *

TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL Inflation/ Growth Savings TOTAL

2020/21 Contingencies 2021/22 Contingencies 2022/23 Contingencies 2023/24 Contingencies 2024/25

/Transfers /Transfers /Transfers /Transfers

Spending £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Services :

Children & Family Services 80,914 1,882 10,040 -3,750 89,086 4,025 -3,500 89,611 4,705 -4,100 90,216 4,285 -4,650 89,851

Adults & Communities 143,083 8,274 3,470 -3,395 151,432 2,915 -2,190 152,157 2,980 -1,160 153,977 3,480 -1,310 156,147

Public Health ** -665 -673 20 -5 -1,323 -65 -1,388 -1,388 -1,388

Environment & Transport 80,677 2,547 -800 -1,070 81,354 1,100 -1,010 81,444 1,750 -610 82,584 2,300 -160 84,724

Chief Executives 11,805 463 395 -205 12,458 5 -25 12,438 5 -75 12,368 -230 -75 12,063

Corporate Resources 32,805 1,609 645 -970 34,089 135 -1,235 32,989 -100 -290 32,599 -40 32,559

348,619 14,102 13,770 -9,395 367,096 0 8,180 -8,025 367,251 0 9,340 -6,235 370,356 0 9,835 -6,235 373,956

DSG (Central Dept recharges) -2,285 -2,285 -2,285 -2,285 -2,285

Other corporate growth & savings -350 -350 6,770 6,420 5,660 12,080 5,165 17,245

MTFS Risks Contingency 4,000 4,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000

Covid-19 Budget 0 2,700 2,700 -2,700 0 0 0

Contingency for inflation/ Living Wage 16,300 -3,750 12,550 14,400 26,950 14,700 41,650 14,400 56,050

366,284 17,052 13,770 -9,395 387,711 11,700 14,950 -8,025 406,336 14,700 15,000 -6,235 429,801 14,400 15,000 -6,235 452,966

Central Items:

Financing of capital 19,200 -200 19,000 1,000 20,000 3,000 23,000 23,000

Revenue funding of capital 23,900 -21,400 2,500 -1,000 1,500 1,500 1,500

Central expenditure 2,720 -171 -40 2,509 -100 -40 2,369 -100 2,269 -100 2,169

Central grants and other income -33,241 114 -33,127 4,105 -29,022 1,145 -27,877 -27,877

Total Spending 378,863 -4,605 13,770 -9,435 378,593 15,705 14,950 -8,065 401,183 18,745 15,000 -6,235 428,693 14,300 15,000 -6,235 451,758

Contributions to budget equalisation earmarked fund 11,000 4,000 1,000 3,000 5,000

Contributions to General Fund 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

Budget Requirement 389,863 383,593 403,183 432,693 457,758

Funding

Business Rates - Top Up -40,346 -38,673 -37,074 -35,698 -33,323

Business Rates Baseline/Retained -23,920 -24,150 -21,349 -21,719 -22,089

S31 grants - Business Rates -4,156 -4,180 -4,220 -4,270 -4,320

Council Tax Collection Fund net deficit / (surplus) -2,091 0 0 0 0

Council Tax -319,350 -316,590 -332,230 -349,270 -361,740

-389,863 -383,593 -394,873 -410,957 -421,472

VARIANCE 0 0 8,310 21,736 36,286

Band D Council Tax £1,343.73 £1,370.47 £1,397.74 £1,425.56 £1,453.93

Increase 3.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%

*   provisional for 2022/23 and later years

** preventative expenditure within other Deparments' budgets to be identified and absorbed into the ring fenced budget

35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22

Net Budget

2020/21 Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Budget

External 

Income

Net Budget 

2021/22

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

CORPORATE

-2,285,000 DSG (Central Dept recharges) 0 0 0 0 -2,285,000 -2,285,000 

CORPORATE SAVINGS

-250,000 Review of key supplier contracts 0 -250,000 0 -250,000 0 -250,000 

-100,000 ICT implementation of digital initiatives 0 -100,000 0 -100,000 0 -100,000 

-350,000 0 -350,000 0 -350,000 0 -350,000 

4,000,000 MTFS RISKS CONTINGENCY 0 8,000,000 0 8,000,000 0 8,000,000

0 COVID-19 BUDGET 0 2,700,000 0 2,700,000 0 2,700,000

1,149,000

CONTINGENCY FOR INFLATION/ LIVING 

WAGE * 2,250,000 10,300,000 0 12,550,000 0 12,550,000

2,514,000 TOTAL CORPORATE BUDGETS 2,250,000 20,650,000 0 22,900,000 -2,285,000 20,615,000

CENTRAL ITEMS

19,200,000 FINANCING OF CAPITAL 0 21,981,000 -54,000 21,927,000 -2,927,000 19,000,000

23,900,000 REVENUE FUNDING OF CAPITAL 0 2,500,000 0 2,500,000 0 2,500,000

CENTRAL EXPENDITURE

1,700,000 Pensions (pre LGR /LGR) 0 1,500,000 0 1,500,000 0 1,500,000

1,229,000 Members Expenses & Support etc 90,800 1,138,200 0 1,229,000 0 1,229,000

296,000 Flood Defence Levies 0 296,000 0 296,000 0 296,000

200,000 Elections 0 200,000 0 200,000 0 200,000

-677,000 Financial Arrangements 0 210,000 -221,000 -11,000 -705,000 -716,000 

2,748,000 90,800 3,344,200 -221,000 3,214,000 -705,000 2,509,000

CENTRAL GRANTS AND OTHER INCOME

-2,800,000 Bank & Other Interest 0 0 0 0 -1,300,000 -1,300,000 

-3,747,000 New Homes Bonus Grant 0 0 0 0 -2,433,000 -2,433,000 

-1,413,000 

Adult Social Care - Winter Pressures Grant 

(£2.4m total, £1m used for A&C exp.) 0 0 0 0 -1,413,000 -1,413,000 

-4,124,000 Adult and Chidren's Social Care Support Grant 0 0 0 0 -4,124,000 -4,124,000 

-11,353,000 Improved Better Care Fund 0 0 0 0 -11,353,000 -11,353,000 

-904,000 

Spring Budget - additional IBCF (£3.4m total, 

£2.5m used for A&C exp.) 0 0 0 0 -904,000 -904,000 

-8,900,000 Social Care Grant 0 0 0 0 -11,600,000 -11,600,000 

-33,241,000 0 0 0 0 -33,127,000 -33,127,000 

12,607,000 TOTAL CENTRAL ITEMS 90,800 27,825,200 -275,000 27,641,000 -36,759,000 -9,118,000 

* 2020/21 contingency net of transfers to Departmental budgets

CORPORATE & CENTRAL ITEMS

37



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
 

EARMARKED FUNDS POLICY 2021/22 
 
 
General Fund 
 
The level of the General Fund would ordinarily reflect the overall financial environment 
and the key financial risks faced by the County Council.  The amount held will be 
reviewed at least annually.  Any funds in excess of the assessed amount will in the first 
instance be used to fund one off expenditure (capital and revenue including invest to 
save and pump priming initiatives) and secondly to support recurring revenue 
expenditure over the medium term, subject to the key consideration of sustainability. 
 
Holding non earmarked funds is essential in enabling the County Council to manage 
unforeseen financial events without the need to make immediate offsetting savings.  This 
allows better decisions to be made and reduce the impact this could have on users of 
County Council services.  
 
Based on an assessment of risk, the target level for the General Fund is within the range 
of 4% to 7% of net expenditure (excluding schools).  The forecast balance of £20m 
(4.5%), by the end of the MTFS is within that range but towards the bottom reflecting the 
tighter financial pressures of the Council.  Following the creation of an earmarked fund 
for known risk areas, including the High Needs DSG deficit, the target level has been 
reduced for 2021/22. The overall assessed level of risk has not reduced, funds are now 
split between the General Fund and the earmarked fund. 
 
In reviewing the level of the General Fund the Cabinet will take advice from the Director 
of Corporate Resources. 
 
The uncertainty of costs resulting from Covid 19, projections of reductions in core income 
and increased ongoing expenditure will mean further pressure on the general fund in 
later years. 
 
As such it is necessary to ensure that plans are in place so that unforeseen events do not 
exhaust the general fund.  A key part of the plan is to impose increased restrictions on 
the use of earmarked funds in order to provide additional financial resilience. 
 

 
Earmarked Funds 
 
Earmarked funds are traditionally held for six main reasons. The key factors that 
determine their level are set out below: 
 

 Insurance fund – to meet the estimated cost of future claims not covered by 
insurance policies. 

 Renewals – to enable services to plan an effective programme of systems, 
equipment and vehicle replacement. These earmarked funds are a mechanism to 
allow a sensible replacement programme, that can vary in size depending upon 
need, without the requirement to vary annual budgets.  

 Trading accounts - in some instance surpluses in excess of the budgeted level are 
retained by the traded service for future investment. 

39



 Other earmarked funds will be set up from time to time to meet predicted liabilities 
or unforeseen issues that arise. 

 To support transformational and departmental change. 

 Meet commitments made that will be incurred in the future. Examples include; 
completion of projects, County Council contributions to partnership funding, 
commitments in the MTFS such as the Capital Programme. 

 
Reserves are not suitable for on-going service commitments. 
 
Given the increased financial pressures, additional measures need to be put in place. 
These measures are set out below. 
 

 Departments to identify specific and known planned expenditure to be funded from 
reserves. These will be held centrally as earmarked funds. 

 After allowing for this, general departmental reserves above a minimum allowance 
allowing departments to manage day to day, smaller essential interventions etc, will 
be centralised. 

o A&C  £250,000 
o CFS  £250,000 
o E&T  £250,000 
o CR  £100,000 
o CE  £50,000 
o PH  £50,000 

 

 The above limits will be reviewed annually as part of the new MTFS.  

 All reserves above this amount to be brought into the general fund 

 Trading surpluses will be brought back into central control – services impacted can 
request funding to support specific investments along with other services. 

 All reserves set aside for asset renewals will be managed centrally based on 
consideration of regular departmental submissions 

 Schools and partnership reserves will be unaffected by these changes.  However, 
there must be a clear plan of purpose for each reserve. 

 
The Director of Corporate Resources has the authority to take decisions relating to the 
creation and management of earmarked funds.  
 
Schools Earmarked Funds  
 
Schools balances are held for two main reasons.  Firstly, as a contingency against 
financial risks and secondly, to save to meet planned commitments in future years.  
Decisions on these funds are taken by individual schools. 
 
Monitoring Policy 
 
The level of earmarked funds and balances are monitored regularly throughout the year.  
Reports will be taken to members as part of the MTFS, an update in the autumn and at 
year end. 

40



APPENDIX D 
 

INSURANCE POLICY 2021-25 
 
 
Leicestershire County Council’s Insurance programme is arranged in conjunction with 
its appointed Insurance Brokers. 
 
Losses are covered by a combination of self-insurance and a range of policies held 
with insurance companies, which are renewed on an annual basis. The process to 
identify the level of self-insured retention against the insurance required is based on 
several factors. These include the reduction in premium to be achieved by altering the 
excess levels weighed up against the County Council’s ability to meet an increased 
exposure, for example by way of a spike in claims received due to external factors like 
the weather and for one off large losses. 
 
Aggregate stop limits are in place which cap the potential exposure to LCC on an 
annual basis by reducing the self-insured retention levels (excess) significantly once 
the limit has been breached. 
 
The Leicestershire County Council Insurance Programme is currently insured via Risk 
Management Partners with Liability and Motor Risks underwritten by QBE and 
Property Risks underwritten by AIG. As of 1st October 2020, Excess Layer Employers’ 
Liability cover is provided by Aspen Insurance UK Ltd in addition to the cover provided 
by QBE.  
 
The current insurance arrangements have been in place since 2014 following an 
OJEU compliant Tender. The tender was awarded based on a long-term agreement 
covering a maximum 10-year period with various break points during the contract. 
 
The following policies are currently in place as of the 1st October 2020: 
 
Class of Insurance Limit of Indemnity / 

Basis of Cover 

Aggregate Stop 

Limit if 

applicable  

Excess 

Employers’ Liability  £75m – Cover written on 

an any one occurrence 

basis (£50m via QBE, 

£25M Excess Layer via 

Aspen) 

£3m £375,000 

Public Liability £50m - Cover written on 

an any one occurrence 

basis 

£3m £375,000 

Officials Indemnity £10m – Cover written on 

an aggregate basis 

£3m £250,000 

41



Professional 

Indemnity 

£10m - Cover written on 

an aggregate basis 

£3m £25,000 

Fidelity Guarantee £10m - Cover written on 

an aggregate basis 

N/A £100,000 

Motor Comprehensive N/A £1,250 (only applying 

to own vehicle 

damage) 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Non-Education) 

Day One Reinstatement  

Business Interruption 

£25m Increased Cost of 

Working (ICOW) (48 

months) 

£1m £500,000 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Education) 

Day One Reinstatement 

Business Interruption 

£25m ICOW (48 months) 

£1m £500,000 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Commercial 

including Industrial 

Units) 

Day One Reinstatement 

Business Interruption 

£25m ICOW (48 months) 

N/A £250 

Material Damage & 

Business Interruption 

(Farms) 

Day One Reinstatement 

Business Interruption 

£25m ICOW (48 months) 

N/A £500 

Terrorism County Hall Only 

Business Interruption 

£25m (48 months) 

N/A Nil 

 
An annual revenue contribution is required to allow the County Council to fund claims 
within the self-insured retention limits, thus aiming to prevent a detrimental impact on 
service budgets. The level required is assessed annually as part of the MTFS, based 
upon a number of factors including the current claims experience and anticipated 
future changes.  For example, new heads of claims which may emerge. 
 
The amount of funding required from the County Council, can vary significantly each 
year. This can be due to one off catastrophic incidents occurring, such as a large 
building fire, or simply the timing of when claims are reported culminating in an 
increased volume of claims covering one particular period. 
 
For own property damage claims, and fidelity claims, there is usually a short delay 
between incident and notification. It is therefore a more straightforward process to set 

42



aside appropriate funding for annual losses but retaining a focus on catastrophic 
events which occur on a less regular basis but which have a greater financial impact.   
 
Assessing liability claim levels are more difficult, due to the nature of claims that the 
County Council receives, claims will have been incurred but not reported within the 
financial year of the incident. A number of years can elapse before a liability claim is 
concluded. 
 
Earmarked funds are held to allow for years of exceptionally high claims, both in terms 
of volume and value, to be covered without detriment on the annual revenue budget. 
The earmarked funds for these classes are subject to an annual internal assessment 
and periodic actuarial review to ensure that they are maintained at suitable levels in 
order to meet ongoing financial commitments. In addition, provisions are held for 
claims received that are awaiting settlement, the level being based on an assessment 
of the likely liability. 
 
The Insurance Section employs experienced claims negotiators who handle all liability 
claims brought against Leicestershire County Council up to the delegated authority 
limits as agreed with the insurer. 
 
The claims handling delegated authority extends to cover investigations into 
allegations of negligence and provides authority to take decisions on liability.  County 
Council negotiators and the Legal section work in partnership to defend litigated 
claims.   
 
The Insurance Section is subject to annual audits undertaken on behalf of the 
Insurance Company.  The outcome of these audits could ultimately have implications 
on the agreed delegated authority limits resulting in reduced autonomy over decisions 
of liability and settlement negotiations 
 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E 
 

 

1 
 

CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021-2025 
 
Introduction 
 
This strategy sets out the County Council’s approach to compiling the capital programme, 
its priorities, availability of funding and financial management. 
 
The County Council’s capital programme is derived primarily from the Strategic Plan. It 
aligns with departmental commissioning and service plans to ensure a prioritised, joined up 
use of resources to maximise outcomes for all Leicestershire service users, citizens and 
other stakeholders. 
 
This strategy links to the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Corporate Asset Investment 
Fund (CAIF) Strategy and the Treasury Management Strategy. The CAIF Strategy sets out 
the Council’s approach to non Treasury Management investments made primarily for the 
purpose of generating an income and supporting economic development. The level of 
funding available for the CAIF is determined by the Capital Strategy. 
 
The overall approach to developing the capital programme is based upon the following key 
principles; 
 

 To invest in priority areas of growth, including roads, infrastructure, economic growth, 
including forward the forward funding of projects; 

 To invest in projects that generate a positive revenue return (spend to save); 

 To invest in ways which support delivery of essential services;  

 Passport Government capital grants received for key priorities for highways and 
education to those departments. 

 Maximise the achievement of capital receipts. 

 Maximise other sources of income such bids to the LLEP, section106 housing 
developer contributions and other external funding agencies. 

 No or limited prudential borrowing (only if the returns exceed the borrowing costs). 
 
Funding Sources 
 
The approach to funding is: 
 
External Funding 

 Central Government Grants – passport grants to the relevant departments, even when 
not ring fenced. 

 External Grants - maximise bids for funding from external sources including providing 
matched funding where appropriate to do so, subject to approval of fulfilment 
conditions and any contingent liabilities. 

 External Contributions – maximise section 106 developer claims/ contributions to 
cover the full capital costs. 

 
Discretionary Programme  

 Capital Receipts – maximise individual receipts and use to fund the discretionary 
capital programme.  

 Earmarked Capital Receipts – only to be used in situations where this is an 
unavoidable requirement of an external party, for example, there is a requirement to 

45



APPENDIX E 
 

 

2 
 

gain DfE approval for the disposal of education assets, with the related receipts to be 
earmarked to education assets. These will be reviewed on a case by case basis to 
ensure the requirement is met and to consider options for substitution of discretionary 
funding where appropriate. 

 Revenue underspends and surplus earmarked funds – review opportunities as they 
arise to contribute to the discretionary capital programme. 

 Prudential borrowing – only to be used after all other available funding and only then 
where the incremental costs are fully funded from savings from the new investment. 
Internal borrowing (from County Council cash balances) would be prioritised over 
external borrowing.  

 Leasing – Due to the County Council’s ability to access relatively inexpensive funding 
rental/ lease proposals need to be appraised to ensure additional benefits justify the 
financing cost. 

 
Other 

 Renewal Earmarked Funds – held to make an annual contribution reflecting the life 
and replacement cost of the asset. Use when the service is externally funded 
(commercial, partnerships, specific grants) or small scale asset owned by an individual 
service. Larger more significant assets will be funded through the discretionary capital 
programme. 

 Building Maintenance – funded through the Central Maintenance (revenue) Fund 
(CMF). Significant lifecycle replacements to be funded through the discretionary 
capital programme. 

 Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) – investment repaid from additional income 
generated, for example additional Business Rates.  
  

Capital Requirements 
 
Children’s and Family Services 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Meet demand for new school places. 
Meet increasing demand for SEN places 

High 
High 

Central Government grants 
Developer contributions (section 106) 

Maintenance and renewal for: 
 Maintained school estate  

Children’s Centres 

 
High 
Low 

 
Central Government grants 
Discretionary Programme 

Children’s social care (minimal demand as 
commissioned service) 

Low Spend to save 

 
Adults and Communities 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Adult Accommodation Strategy High Discretionary programme 

Disabled Facilities Grant Mid Central Government grants 

Maintenance and renewal for: 
 Libraries & Heritage  
 Community Libraries  

 
Low 
Low 

 
Discretionary programme 
Support external funding bids 

Adult Social Care (minimal demand from 
commissioned service) 

Low Spend to save  

 

46



APPENDIX E 
 

 

3 
 

Public Health 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Public Health (minimal demand from 
commissioned service) 

Low Spend to save  

 
Environment and Transport 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Maintenance of the highway infrastructure 
(using asset management principles)  
New Waste Transfer Station 

High 
 

High 

Central Government grants/  
Discretionary programme 
Discretionary programme 

Improvement to the highway infrastructure 
 Major schemes 
 Minor Schemes 

Advanced Design 

 
Mid 
Mid 
Mid 

External Funding 
Central Gov’t grants (inc. LLEP, TIF) 
Central Government grants 
Discretionary programme 

County Council vehicle replacement 
programme 

Mid Discretionary programme 

Maintenance and renewal of waste 
management infrastructure 

Mid Discretionary programme 

 
 
Chief Executives  
 

Demand £ Funding 

Economic Development (e.g. Broadband) Mid Central Government and External grants 
Discretionary programme (inc. TIF) 

Programme of small shire community 
grants 

Low Discretionary programme 

Other Services Low Spend to save, Discretionary programme 

 
 
Corporate Resources 
 

Demand £ Funding 

ICT Infrastructure 
 Renew and expand the current 
 corporate estate 
 Major ICT upgrades and 
 replacements 

 
Mid 

 
Discretionary programme 
 
Discretionary programme + Spend to 
save 

Property Estate* 
 Regulatory compliance 
 Expansion and replacement 

Mid  
Discretionary programme 
Spend to save 

Climate Change 
 Environmental Improvements 

 
Mid 

 
Spend to save 

Transformation/change Low Spend to save 
* maintenance of current properties funded from central maintenance fund (revenue budget) 
 

 
 
 

47



APPENDIX E 
 

 

4 
 

Corporate Programme 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund High Spend to save 

   

 
Future Developments Programme 
 

Demand £ Funding 

Including: 
New Area Special School 
Children’s Social Care 
Additional School and Highways 
Infrastructure (from housing growth) 
Adult Accommodation Strategy 
Collections Hub 
New Recycling and Household Waste Site 
Major ICT system replacements 
Country Parks Strategy 
Climate Change Strategy 
Efficiency & Productivity Investment 
Contingency for major schemes 

High Discretionary Funding 
One off revenue and earmarked fund 
contributions 
Reinvest returns 
Spend to save 
 

 
External Funding 
 
To ensure that funding is at the required level the following approach will be taken.  
 
Children and Family Services 
Maximise DfE capital grant through up to date capacity assessments and school place data. 
Submit bids, where appropriate to do so, for additional DfE capital funding when available. 
Take opportunities to lobby the DfE for additional funding. 
 
Adults and Communities 
Work with District Councils and other partners to ensure that the Disabled Facilities Grant is 
at an appropriate level and how it is spent to reduce the costs of adult social care.  Take 
opportunities to lobby the Department of Health for Social Care infrastructure grants. 
 
Environment and Transport 
Maintain Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Planning Level 3.  Invest in advance 
design and business case development work focused on government priorities to access 
capital grants (which are increasingly being channelled through bidding processes) and 
developer funding. 
 
Section 106 Contributions / Forward Funding 
Maximise section 106 contributions through recovery of the total costs of required 
developments and regular review of key assumptions used (at least annually).   
Where funding of capital expenditure is required in advance of the receipt of section 106 
income (usually paid on completion of trigger points) projects may require initial cash flow 
by the County Council or from rescheduling grant expenditure.  

48



APPENDIX E 
 

 

5 
 

 
The County Council recognises the need to forward fund investment in infrastructure 
projects to enable new schools and roads to be built and unlock growth in Leicestershire 
before funding, mainly from section 106 developer contributions, is received.  Forward 
funding of £13m for highways ((in addition to £17.4m added in the 2020/21 capital 
programme). When the expected developer contributions are received, they will be 
earmarked to the capital programme, to reduce the dependency on internal cash balances 
in the future.   

 
Forward funding presents a significant financial commitment for the County Council, but 
should ensure: 
 

 External funding is maximised, through successful bids. 

 The final cost of infrastructure investment is reduced (compared with what it would be 
if construction was delivered incrementally as and when smaller developments come 
forward). 

 The design is optimised, to benefit of the local community. 
  

There are risks involved in managing and financing a programme of this size. There is 
reduced scope for funding additional schemes that are identified in the future.  And an 
increased reliance on developer contributions through section 106 agreements means that it 
may take many years for investment to be repaid. This could be further compounded in the 
event of an economic slowdown.  To this end, support of district councils is essential to 
ensure the agreements reached with developers mitigate these risks.   
 
Tax Incremental Financing 
The County Council will work with District Councils on construction schemes that unlock 
infrastructure and housing growth and seek agreements to fund the work from linked 
Council Tax, Business Rates growth and additional New Homes Bonus Scheme grant.  
 
Summary 
The 4 year capital programme 2021-25 totals £450m.  External funding from capital grants, 
section 106 agreements and third party contributions totals £243m.  Without this funding 
being available schemes of any significant size would not be affordable by the County 
Council. 
 
Discretionary Funding 

 
The discretionary capital programme totals £207m for the period 2021-25.  Funding is from 
the sale of County Council capital assets (capital receipts), MTFS revenue contributions and 
surplus earmarked funds.  Discretionary funding can also include prudential borrowing, 
which is unsupported by central government with the costs of financing the borrowing 
undertaken falling on the County Council’s revenue budget. 

 
Capital receipts 
Property Services are responsible for identifying additional capital receipts and maximising 
the sale value of surplus assets. Property Services will seek opportunities to maximise the 
value of surplus land, for instance by obtaining planning permission.  The targets for new 
capital receipts to fund the 2021-25 capital programme, are: 
 
 

49



APPENDIX E 
 

 

6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The estimates are higher in the earlier years reflecting the increased confidence in the sale 
of those assets. 
 
Revenue Funding 
The capital programme 2021-25 includes a total of £47m in revenue funding of capital. 
 
On-going revenue - £7m (£2.5m in 21/22, then £1.5m from 2022/23 allocated in the MTFS. 
One-off revenue - £40m is allocated in the MTFS/ earmarked funds. These have arisen from 
past: 

• Opportunities from underspends – cannot be relied upon going forward. 
• MTFS risk contingency 
• Surplus earmarked funds no longer required 

 
Other 
For invest to save schemes, a discount rate of 6% will be used, including inflation, (3.5% for 
energy projects) as part of the net present value assessment in the business case. Only 
projects that show a positive return using these rates will be considered for inclusion in the 
capital programme. 
 
Funding from Internal Balances 
A total of £146m in funding required is included within the capital programme to fund the 
programme and enable investment in schools and highway infrastructure to be made.  Over 
the next 10 to 15 years it is anticipated that circa £30m of this funding will be repaid through 
the associated section 106 developer contributions.   

  
Due to the strength of the County Council’s balance sheet, it is possible to use internal 
balances (cash balances) to fund the capital programme on a temporary basis instead of 
raising new loans.  Levels of cash balances held by the Council, currently £250m, comprise 
the amounts held for earmarked funds, provisions, Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) set 
aside for the repayment of debt, and working capital of the Council.  The cost of raising of 
external loans currently exceeds the cost of interest lost on cash balances by circa 2.5%. 

  
The overall cost of using internal balances to fund £146m of investment is estimated to be 
£6.5m per annum by 2025, comprising MRP of £4m and reduced interest from investments 
of £2.5m.  This is a prudent assessment as the impact will reduce in future years as the 
funding is repaid. 

 
The County Council’s current level of external debt is £263m.  As described above this is 
not anticipated to increase during the MTFS.  
 
 

 General Earmarked Total 
 £m £m £m 

2021/22 2.0 5.5 7.5 

2022/23 2.0 - 2.0 

2023/24 2.0 0.2 2.2 

2024/25 2.0 - 2.0 

Total 8.0 5.7 13.7 

50



APPENDIX E 
 

 

7 
 

Affordability 
 
The impact of the discretionary programme on the revenue budget, and forecast at the end 
of the MTFS is: 
  

£m 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2024/25 

Revenue 0.7 0.7 1.5 1.5 

MRP 10.4 10.0 6.0 8.8 

Interest* 13.9 13.9 14.0 17.1 

On-going revenue Total 25.0 24.6 21.5 27.4 

% Revenue budget 6.9% 6.5% 5.5% 6.1% 

Voluntary MRP 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

One-off revenue 25.2 50.3 22.4 0.0 

One-off revenue 25.2 50.3 22.4 0.0 

Total 50.2 74.9 43.9 27.4 

% Revenue budget 13.9% 19.8% 11.3% 6.1% 
*includes reduction in income received from transferred debt, plus interest cost of internal 
borrowing. 

 
To ensure the discretionary programme remains affordable the following approach is taken 
to manage the MRP and interest charges: 
 

 No new external borrowing to finance capital expenditure. 

 Temporarily use internal balances from the overall council cash balances in advance 
of their designated use. 

 Review opportunities to repay debt. 

 Re-profiled MRP in 2020/21 to be commensurate with the average age of assets 
funded from borrowing and delay the impact on the revenue budget.  It should be 
noted that this does not reduce the amount to be set aside but delays the period over 
which it is to be paid. 

 
Capital Financing Requirement 
The CFR is the measure of the Council’s historic need to borrow for capital purposes.  As at 
31st March 2021 the CFR is forecast to be £232m compared with actual debt of £263m.  
The difference is a temporary ‘over-borrowed’ position pending future scheduled debt 
repayments and new prudential borrowing requirements.  The forecast annual cost of 
borrowing in 2021/22 is £19m rising to £23m by 2023/24.  The financing costs (external 
interest and MRP) are met from the revenue budget.    
 
The planned use of internal cash balances to fund the four year capital programme will add 
£146m to the CFR.  Together with reductions made by MRP, the CFR is forecast to be 
£350m by the end of the MTFS (31 March 2025).  Assuming no new borrowing is 
undertaken in this period, actual debt would by £256m at that time, resulting in an under-
borrowed position of £94m.  This can be managed as interest charges for new debt is 
forecast to continue to be higher than the interest that can be earned on cash balances.  
 
The detailed approach to this is covered in the Treasury Management Strategy, approved 
by the County Council annually in February. 
 

51



APPENDIX E 
 

 

8 
 

Financial Management of the Capital Programme 
 
Prioritising the Programme 
 
The approach to compiling the capital programme is through a combination of service 
requirements developed by each relevant department, statutory requirements and asset 
management planning.  
 
For land and building assets, Strategic Property, in conjunction with service areas, develops 
all the estate strategies, asset management plans and property elements of the corporate 
capital and revenue programmes.  They seek to ensure that the County Council is making 
full use of all assets, and any under-performing or surplus assets are identified and dealt 
with by either their disposal or investment to improve their usage.  Outcomes from condition 
survey information together with on-going reviews of the property portfolio feed into the 
capital programme and revenue budget.  The Corporate Asset Management Plan, which 
promotes the rationalisation of property assets, reducing running costs and cost effective 
procurement of property and property services is reported annually to the Cabinet. 
 
The County Council operates the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) which invests in 
assets to achieve both economic development and investment returns.  A copy of the CAIF 
strategy is attached to the MTFS report.  The CAIF operates through the Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund Strategy with a view to: 
 

 Generate an income stream which increases the Council’s financial resilience given 
the decrease in government funding 

 Supports the delivery of front line services through increased income generation, or 
through capital investments that will reduce operating costs. 

 Supports the Council’s strategic objective of affordable and quality homes through 
helping to unlock and accelerate developments 

 Manage investment risk by investing in diverse sectors 

 Meet the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan, Strategic 
Plan, its Economic Growth Plan and the County-wide Local Industrial Strategy 

 Maximise returns on Council owned property assets 
 
Current holdings plus schemes in the 2020/21 capital programme will result in a total 
holding of £189m.  A fund of £71m has been included the draft 2021 to 2025 MTFS to bring 
the fund to the notional target of achieving a holding of £260m.  Appraisal includes external 
due diligence performed before each purchase.  
 
The corporate programme also includes additional funding of £50m for the Future 
Developments fund.  The Fund is held to contribute towards schemes that have been 
identified but are not sufficiently detailed for inclusion in the capital programme at this time.  
There is a long list of projects that may require funding over the next 4 years.  These include 
investment in infrastructure for schools and roads arising from increases in population, 
investment in health and social care service user accommodation, highways match funding 
of capital bids, and investment in the efficiency and productivity programme.  The list of 
future developments is continually refreshed.  Bids against the fund will be managed 
through prioritisation and where possible the identification of alternative funding sources. 
This approach forms part of the wider strategy to ensure that the capital programme is 
deliverable, affordable and the risks are understood, in line with CIPFA’s requirements. 
 

52



APPENDIX E 
 

 

9 
 

For highways and associated infrastructure needs, the Council’s key transport policy 
document is the Local Transport Plan. This provides the long term strategy within which the 
Council manages and maintains its network. In light of the continuing financial challenge the 
Council’s priority is only to add to the highway network where this will help to enable new 
housing and jobs. Furthermore, additions will normally be considered only in circumstances 
where specific external funding can be secured to achieve this. 
 
Further improvements to the highway network will require continued pursuit of external 
resources such as Government grants and developer funding. Government grants include 
bids to funds including Growth Fund (through the LLEP), the Growth and Housing Fund, the 
National Productivity Investment Fund, Local Authorities Majors Fund and the Housing 
Investment Fund. In order to maximise the impact of funding that can be secured for 
improvements, the County Council is doing more to define the roles of the various elements 
of the road network so that it is able to target investment where it will be of most benefit, 
particularly in terms of supporting economic prosperity and growth. 
 
Bids for funding from the discretionary programme require the completion of a capital 
appraisal form for each project. The forms collate detailed information on the proposed 
project including justification against strategic outcomes, service objectives, statutory 
requirements and/or asset management planning, timelines, detailed costings including 
revenue consequences of the capital investment, and risks to delivery.  All bids for land and 
building projects are also supplemented by a Strategic Property scoping and assessment 
form.  Bids are then prioritised and assessed against the discretionary funding available.  
The revenue costs and savings associated with approved capital projects are included in 
the revenue budget. 
  
Where schemes have not yet been fully developed these are included as future 
developments in the capital programme. As schemes are developed they are assessed 
against the available resources and included in the capital programme as appropriate. 
 
Financial Management of Delivery 
 
The key risks to the delivery of the capital programme are overspending against the 
approved budget, delays in the delivery of projects/programmes thereby delaying the 
expected benefits, and delays in or non-receipt of external contributions towards the cost of 
the scheme. 
 
To ensure that capital spending and the delivery of this strategy is effectively managed:  
 

 Programmes being reviewed in light of the most up to date information around funding 
available and latest priorities. 

 All schemes within the programme being monitored regularly, usually monthly. 

 Financial progress being reported on a regular basis throughout the year and at year 
end to the Cabinet and Scrutiny Commission to update them on progress and any 
significant variations in costs.   

 Projects part or wholly funded by external contributions being separately monitored to 
ensure compliance with any funding conditions applicable. 

 All projects are assigned a project manager appropriate to the scale of the scheme. 

 The procurement of projects within the capital programme following the Council’s 
approved contract procedure rules and where applicable the Public Contract’s 
Regulations 2015. 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-25 - Draft APPENDIX  F

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

MAIN GRANT FUNDED PROGRAMME 

Mar-25 58,321 Provision of Additional School Places 29,543 9,478 5,300 14,000 58,321

SEND Programme

Mar-22 500 Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) Units 500 500

Mar-22 500 SEMH Special School - LA Developed 500 500

Mar-24 9,500 SEMH Special School - Free School 500 1,000 8,000 9,500

Mar-22 500 Communication and Interaction Difficulty Units 500 500

Mar-22 3,000 Expansion of Special Schools 3,000 3,000

0

Sub-total  - SEND Programme 5,000 1,000 8,000 0 14,000

Mar-25 8,000 Strategic Capital Maintenance 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 8,000

Mar-25 2,000 Schools Devolved Formula Capital 500 500 500 500 2,000

Mar-24 600 Schools Access / Security 200 200 200 600

Mar-24 2,500 Asessment & Resi Multi-functional properties x 4 1,260 190 50 1,500

0

Other Capital 3,960 2,890 2,750 2,500 12,100

Overall Total 38,503 13,368 16,050 16,500 84,421

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

New Area Special School

55



ADULTS & COMMUNITIES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-25 - Draft

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Mar-22 3,730 Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent - NWL Development - Improved Service User Accommodation 2,130 2,130

Mar-25 15,680 Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 3,920 3,920 3,920 3,920 15,680

Changing Places/Toilets (Personal Assistance) 30 30 60

0

6,080 3,950 3,920 3,920 17,870

Social Care Investment Plan (SCIP):

Mar-25 5,500 Specialist Dementia Facility - Coalville 1,900 2,550 600 350 5,400

Mar-22 4,500 SCIP - Additional Schemes to be confirmed - balance 1,619 1,619

0

Sub-Total SCIP 3,519 2,550 600 350 7,019

Total A&C 9,599 6,500 4,520 4,270 24,889

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Records Office

Heritage and Learning Collections Hub

Adult Accommodation Strategy (Social Care Investment Plan)

Digital for A&C

56



ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-25 - Draft

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Major Schemes

Mar-24 63,500 Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - North and East Sections 9,460 36,240 10,882 56,582

Mar-24 27,900 Melton Distributor Road - Southern Section 5,000 14,200 8,200 27,400

Mar-23 12,430 Zouch Bridge Replacement - Construction and Enabling Works 3,160 5,194 2,000 10,354

Mar-21 24,830 M1 Junction 23 / A512 Improvements 368 368

Mar-25 8,100 County Council Vehicle Replacement Programme 1,730 2,270 1,900 2,200 8,100

Mar-25 9,080 Advance Design / Match Funding 1,995 2,424 2,405 2,562 9,386

Mar-22 5,400 A511/A50 Major Road Network - Advanced design 1,740 1,740

Mar-22 10,740 Anstey Lane A46 (subject to £4.1m Leicester City contribution) 222 222

Mar-23 2,000 M1 Junction 20a - Advanced design 900 513 1,413

Mar-24 5,300 Melton Depot - Replacement 5,000 5,000

24,575 60,841 30,387 4,762 120,565

Mar-25 47,870 Transport Asset Management 15,751 14,307 17,811 47,869

Mar-21 2,885 Capital Schemes and Design 2,885 2,885

Mar-21 630 Bridges 631 631

Mar-21 190 Flood Alleviation- Environmental works 190 190

Mar-21 2,500 Street Lighting 2,500 2,500

Mar-21 250 Traffic Signal Renewal 249 249

Mar-21 4,000 Preventative Maintenance - (Surface Dressing) 4,000 4,000

Mar-21 7,225 Restorative (Patching) 7,226 7,226

Mar-21 50 Safety Barrier etc 50 50

Mar-21 25 Public rights of way maintenance 24 24

Mar-21 55 Network Performance & Realibility 54 54

Mar-22 5,655 Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) - NPIF 3,800 3,800

Mar-22 792 Safety Schemes 792 792

22,401 15,751 14,307 17,811 70,270

Environment & Waste

Mar-22 5,500 Kibworth Site Redevelopment (Commitments b/f) 3,634 1,000 4,634

Mar-22 9,000 Waste Transfer Station Development (Commitments b/f) 6,962 1,000 7,962

Mar-22 500 Recycling Household Waste Sites - 300 300

Mar-25 1,856 Recycling Household Waste Sites - Improvements 254 210 232 1,160 1,856

Mar-23 340 Mobile Plant 170 170 340

11,320 2,380 232 1,160 15,092

Total E&T 58,296 78,972 44,926 23,733 205,927

57



Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

New Melton RHWS 

MMDR - North & East latest OBC + Contingency

Contingency for Major projects/ Additional bid development/match funding

Lutterworth Spine Road

Windrow Composting Facility

Compaction equipment

Whetstone mobile plant

A511 MRN Corridor

Safety Schemes (Accident Reduction Initiatives)

58



CHIEF EXECUTIVES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-25 - Draft

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Mar-25 400 Leicestershire Grants 100 100 100 100 400

Mar-22 2,900 Rural Broadband Scheme  - Phase 3 1,850 1,850

0

Total Chief Executives 1,950 100 100 100 2,250

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Relocation of Hinckley Registry Office

Rural Broadband Scheme

59



CORPORATE RESOURCES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-25 - Draft

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

ICT

Mar-24 920 Corporate ICT Programme 0 420 500 920

Mar-24 400 Workplace Strategy - ICT Infrastructure 0 150 250 400

Mar-25 3,700 Workplace Strategy - End User Device (PC, laptop) 900 800 400 1,000 3,100

Mar-25 1,000 Internal Firewall Replacement 300 0 0 700 1,000

Mar-22 200 Cisco Core Network Switch Replacement 200 200

Mar-23 80 SolarisServer Refresh 20 60 80

Sub total ICT 1,420 1,430 1,150 1,700 5,700

Property Services

Mar-22 4,420 Melton, Sysonby Farm Development - site preparation and infrastructure works 2,465 2,465

Mar-24 1,200 Workplace Strategy - property costs, dilapidations and refurbishments 400 400 400 1,200

Mar-23 440 County Hall Lift Replacement Scheme 50 150 130 330

Mar-22 85 Romulus Court - IT environmental monitoring (subject to approach review) 85 85

Mar-22 110 County Hall - Fire Compartmentation 110 110

Mar-22 110 Coalville Office - Window replacement - Environmental improvements 110 110

Sub total Strategic Property 3,220 550 530 0 4,300

Climate Change - Environmental Improvements

Mar-24 980 Score + (Schools Energy Efficiency Scheme) 330 330 320 980

Mar-23 200 Electric Vehicle Car Charge Points 100 100 200

Mar-23 110 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards 55 55 110

Sub total Energy 485 485 320 0 1,290

Total Corporate Resources 5,125 2,465 2,000 1,700 11,290

60



Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Major System Replacements, IAS, Mosaic, Capita One, STADS, PAMS, s106 system

Strategic Property Future Developments

C Hall Eastern annexe - replacement roof and cladding to enable collections hub

C Hall Eastern annexe - internal adaptations to enable collections hub

ICT Future Development:

Remote Access

Network Connectivity (Resiliency)

Hyperconverged Infrastructure

Backup System Replacement

WDM Equipment (DC to DC Connectivity Hardware)

Telephony Equipment

LoadBalancers

Mobile Smartphone Refresh

Solaris Storage

Country Parks Future Developments:

Watermead CP -  Visitor Centre Toilets and Café

Market Bosworth Park - Café

Country Parks - ticketless parking at Broombriggs, Bosworth Battlefield and Watermead CP 

Ashby Woulds Heritage Trail - resurfacing

Broombriggs Farm Cottage - refurbishment 

Climate Change Future Developments:

Energy & Water Strategy - Invest to save

Eastern Annexe  - Solar Panels and Rain Water Harvesting 

Stud Farm - Solar PV

61



CORPORATE - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-25 - Draft

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF)

Sep-21 6,390 Quorn Solar Farm 6,390 6,390

Mar-22 7,490 Quorn Barrow Road Industrial Units (Carbon Neutral) 7,490 7,490

Mar-25 1,300 County Farms Estate - General Improvements 700 200 200 200 1,300

Mar-25 1,080 Industrial Properties Estate - General Improvements 330 250 250 250 1,080

Mar-23 2,750 M69 Junction 2 - SDA 2,530 200 2,730

Mar-23 8,200 Leaders Farm, Phase 2 - Ind Units and x2 Drive Thru Restaurants 0 8,000 8,000

tbc 5,000 East of Lutterworth SDA (planning and preparatory works) 2,000 3,000 5,000

Mar-25 39,000 Asset Acquisitions / New Investments - subject to Business Case 0 10,000 12,000 17,000 39,000

Sub total CAIF 19,440 21,650 12,450 17,450 70,990

Future Developments

Mar-25 50,000 Future projects - subject to business cases 5,000 10,000 16,000 19,000 50,000

Total Corporate Programme 24,440 31,650 28,450 36,450 120,990 62



  

 
SCRUTINY COMMISSION - 25 JANUARY 2021 

 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2021/22 – 2024/25 

 
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND THE DIRECTOR 

OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to:   
  

a) provide information on the proposed 2021/22 to 2024/25 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Chief Executive’s 
Department; and  
 

b) ask the Commission to consider any issues as part of the consultation 
process and make any recommendations to the Cabinet accordingly.  

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 

2. The County Council agreed the current MTFS in February 2020.  This has been 
the subject of a comprehensive review and revision in light of the current 
economic circumstances.  The draft MTFS for 2021/22 to 2024/25 was 
considered by the Cabinet on 15th December 2020.  

  

Background 
 

3. The MTFS is set out in the report to Cabinet on 15th December 2020, a copy of 
which has been circulated to all members of the County Council.  This report 
highlights the implications for the Chief Executive’s Department. 
 

4. Reports such as this one have been presented to the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees.  The Cabinet will consider the results of the scrutiny 
process on the 5th February 2021 before recommending an MTFS, including a 
budget and capital programme for 2021/22, to the County Council on the 17th 
February 2021.   

  

Service Transformation 
 

5. The functions delivered by the Chief Executive’s Department play critical roles 

in supporting transformation and the Department takes the corporate lead on 
developing and delivering the Strategic Plan and the Communities Strategy.  

63 Agenda Item 9



  

The work of the Chief Executive's Department includes: Legal Services, 
Democratic and Civic and Member Support, Strategy and Business Intelligence 
(including Resilience, Communities and Economic Growth), Planning and the 
Historic and Natural Environment and Regulatory Services which includes 
Trading Standards, Registration and Coronial services. 
 

6. The Department is co-ordinating the Council’s response to Covid-19 and the 
end of the EU Exit transition period through the involvement of Departmental 
Management Team (DMT) members, Heads of Service and many staff, 
including the partnership-funded Resilience Team.  These two incidents, 
together with other possible incidents (seasonal flu, floods, storms etc) are 
expected to place substantial demands on the Department for the rest of 
2020/21 and into 2021/22.  Regulatory Services and the Resilience Team have 
been especially involved but with other sections also very actively committed to 
supporting the Council’s response.  Longer term recovery work will remain a 
priority for many years, including for the Economic Growth and Communities 
teams.   

 

Proposed Revenue Budget 

 

7. Table 1 below summarises the proposed 2021/22 revenue budget and 
provisional budgets for the next three years thereafter.  The proposed 2021/22 
revenue budget is shown in detail in Appendix A.  
 

Table 1 – Revenue Budget 2021/22 to 2024/25 

 
 2021/22

£000 
2022/23

£000 
2023/24 

£000 
2024/25 

£000 

Original prior year budget 11,805 12,458 12,438 12,368 

Budget transfers and adjustments 463 0 0 0 

Add proposed growth (Appendix B) 395 5 5 -230 

Less proposed savings (Appendix B) -205 -25 -75 -75 

Proposed/Provisional budget 12,458 12,438 12,368 12,063 

 

8. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price 
inflation.  A central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services 
as necessary.  

 
9. The central contingency also includes provision for an annual 1% increase in 

the employers’ contribution to the Local Government Pension Scheme based 
upon the 2019 triennial actuarial revaluation of the pension fund. 

 
10. The total proposed expenditure budget for 2021/22 is £17.9 million with 

contributions from grants, fees and charges and other income sources totalling 
£5.4 million.  The proposed net budget for 2021/22 of £12.5 million is distributed 
as shown in Table 2 below: 

 
 

64



  

Table 2 - Net Budget 2021/22 

 £000 % 

Democratic Services and Civic and Member 
Support  

1,654 13.3 

Legal Services 2,575 20.7 

Strategy and Business Intelligence 4,936 39.6 

Emergency Management and Resilience 302 2.4 

Regulatory Services 2,613 21.0 

Planning, Historic and Natural Environment 497 4.0 

Departmental Items -119 -1.0 

   

Total 12,458 100.0 

 
 
Budget Transfers and Adjustments 
 

11. A number of budget transfers (totalling a net increase of £0.46 million) were 
made during the 2020/21 financial year.  

 

12. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the 
following classification: 

 * item unchanged from previous MTFS 

 ** item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made 

No stars - new item 
 

13. This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings 
below. 

 

14. Savings have also been highlighted as ‘Eff’ or ‘SR’ dependent on whether the 
saving is seen as an efficiency or service reduction or a mixture of both. ‘Inc’ 
denotes those savings that are funding related and/or generate more income. 
 

Growth 
 

15. Details of proposed growth are set out in Appendix B and provide for an 
additional £0.2 million per annum by 2024/25.  These are described in the 
following paragraphs.  

 

16. *G18: Business Intelligence - support C&FS and E&T; £75,000 in 2021/22 
 
Increased capacity is required to: 
 

65



  

 Provide additional business intelligence support for the Children and 
Family Services Department.  In particular, additional support is required 
to support SEND/High Needs Block intelligence – an area of high 
expenditure and at high risk of costs escalating – hence the need for 
better quality data, at a pupil level, to predict demand and identify 
opportunities to achieve savings.  Work is also urgently needed to set up 
new systems and robust daily management information following 
restructuring in the department and the establishment of the Children and 
Family Wellbeing Service.  This will provide daily insight to enable more 
efficient planning and delivery of frontline services, better decision making 
and the ability to measure interventions more accurately.   

 

 Provide additional business intelligence support for the Environment and 
Transport Department.  This resource will enable the provision of daily 
operational data to enable more efficient deployment of resources in 
highways and data-driven decision making.  It will also provide Business 
Intelligence support to underpin the climate emergency work. 

 

 Work alongside the Transformation Unit in both departments to provide 
the evidence to drive strategic change.  This will include working with 
Newton Europe in Children and Family Services. 

 

17. G19: Connectivity (Broadband) Team - formalise revenue funding; £220,000 in 
2021/22, £225,000 in 2022/23, £230,000 in 2023/24 reducing to zero in 2024/25  
 
This growth bid formalises the funding of the Connectivity (Broadband Team), 

which has historically been offset against future expected gainshare returns.  

Formalising the revenue funding of the team to 31 March 2024 will provide 

greater flexibility in relation to the deployment of future gainshare income. 

However, potential sources of external funding for the team will continue to be 

explored alongside funding for the infrastructure.  

 

18. G20: Legal Services – support increased caseload; £100,000 in 2021/22  
 
The Service is proposing to increase capacity by 1FTE solicitor post and 1FTE 

paralegal post.  The increased capacity is required in two areas: 

 

Adult Social Care (1FTE paralegal) 

There is an increase in instructions in adult services.  Creating an additional 

paralegal post will enable the in-house solicitors to focus on the more 

demanding and complex legal work required in the litigation (drafting robust 

responses, managing the court process, advocacy and providing clear advice).   

 

Contracts and Procurement (1FTE solicitor) 

Additional capacity is required to meet client department demand led legal work 

in the Contracts team.  For example: 

 

 Within the Environment and Transport Department there is an increase in 

Highways work requiring specialist knowledge and the Waste section are 

66



  

undertaking a competitive procurement process involving a contract 

value of £450m over a 24-year period.  

 The volume and complexity of contracts from the Adults and 

Communities Department has steadily increased due to the Health & 

Social Care Integration agenda and contractual and procurement 

implications of the rising cost of social care.   

 There is an increase in the number of partnership working arrangements 

due to joint commissioning of public health and social care.  Legal 

Services take the lead given their specialist knowledge and 

understanding   

 

When Legal Services do not have the capacity to undertake work in-house this 

has to be externalised to solicitors in private practice, counsel or by using 

supernumerary locum staff.  This is costly and Legal Services do not have a 

budget for this. Currently the cost is transferred to the appropriate service 

department, but consideration will be given to transferring this to Legal Services 

going forwards in line with the general direction of travel for support services.  In 

respect of Contracts legal work, the cost to the Council of external solicitors to 

date this year is approximately £360,000.    

 

Savings 

 

19. Details of proposed savings are set out in Appendix B and total £0.4 million by 
2024/25. These are detailed in the following paragraphs.  

 

20. CE1: Eff Business Support Review: £50,000 in 2021/22 
 

The Department has conducted a light touch review of Business Support and 
concluded that efficiency savings can be found across all sections of the 
Department through reviewing the function to identify if this can be provided in a 
more streamlined way, maximising digital processes where possible and 
reviewing where there may be processes that can reasonably be avoided 
without risk.   

 

21. CE2: SR/Eff Staffing (Vacancy control and agency costs); £100,000 in 2021/22 
rising to £200,000 in 2024/25 

 
The Department has implemented stringent expenditure controls as well as a 
recruitment freeze, which will continue throughout the MTFS period.  All 
vacancies will be scrutinised via a newly established board and, where a post is 
to be recruited, there will be a time lag between the postholder leaving and a 
new appointee starting which will contribute to the savings. 
 
The Department is reliant on using agency staff at times for certain posts due to 
the shortage of certain skills within the marketplace, particularly in Regulatory 
services, Legal Services and Planning Historic and Natural Environment.  
Stricter controls are to be applied to this through scrutiny via the newly 
established board and it is also expected that specific recruitment incentive 
packages will assist in making the Council a more competitive employer in the 

67



  

market place.  The impact of the pandemic and home-working has also 
extended the geographic pool of potential candidates for appointment which will 
assist the Department in avoiding costly agency placements.  
 
These savings will be found from all sections within the Department.  
 

22. CE3: SR Paperless Meetings; £30,000 in 2021/22 
 

Prior to the pandemic, the Department had agreed to trial paperless meetings.  
The onset of the pandemic has brought forward that trial and Members now 
receive electronic papers, accessed via County Council provided hardware. 
Paper copies have only been provided upon request to a small number of 
Members where a need has been demonstrated. 
The intention is to continue with paperless meetings in the future which will 
reduce printing and postage costs. 
 

23. CE4: Inc Planning, Historic and Natural Environment - Fee Income; £25,000 in 
2021/22 rising to £100,000 in 2024/25 

 
There is an expectation that Planning Application fees will be the subject of a 
Government review in 2023 but in the interim, fees will be reviewed and 
adjusted to generate and maximise additional income. 

 

Savings Under Development 

 
24. The Department has been requested to identify £600,000 of additional savings 

by 2024/25, of which £380,000 has already been identified by the departmental 
working group. The Department will also endeavour to identify an additional 
£100,000 savings to offset the additional growth requested. The group will 
continue its work to identify the remaining £320,000 before the end of the MTFS 
period.  Options under consideration are detailed below. 
 

25. Case Management 
 

A review will be undertaken looking at case management processes and the 
potential to exploit digitalisation to identify further efficiencies in how all Services 
operate. 

 
26. Economic Development 
 

A structural review looking at what benefits can be created by bringing together 
the Growth Unit, Economic Growth team and Broadband team. 
 

External Influences 

 
27. The Department will continue to support the Council’s response to the Covid-19 

pandemic, which will place additional pressure on business as usual and the 
Communities, Resilience, Trading Standards, Coroner’s and Legal services 
sections. 

 

68



  

Following the UK’s departure from the EU, Trading Standards and Legal 
Services will experience a significant increase in the demand for their services 
with the new regulatory framework that will come into effect in due course which 
may impact on the achievement of the MTFS in 2021/22 and beyond. There 
may also be implications for the work of the Resilience Team and the Economic 
Growth Team. 
  

28. If and when a Devolution White Paper is published (possibly in 2021) there is 
likely to be additional demand on most sections of the Department. 

 
29. All the services delivered by Legal, Trading Standards, Coroners and Registrars 

are demand led.  The expected growth in the local population, coupled with the 
increase in the average age of residents, will increase the demand on services.  
Consumer fraud is on the increase, which will place more demand on Trading 
Standards to tackle scams and other forms of financial crime.  

 
30. The planning fee income will be subject to any national guidance or regulations 

that may be issued in due course.  Whilst all sections in the Department will be 
affected by the general economic position, it is likely that this will impact the 
Planning, Historic and Natural Environment most significantly if there is a 
downturn in development.   

 
31. Increases in Legal Services fee income are limited to the rules that apply to an 

in-house local authority legal department to the effect that charges imposed are 
to recover costs and not make a profit.  Accordingly, existing notional hourly 
rates for the Council’s professional legal staff will be reviewed.  Legal Services 
is also restricted in its ability to undertake traded work with non-council clients 
requiring Regulatory Body approval.  Legal Services will monitor any relaxations 
in restrictions to be able to explore this opportunity further.   In the meantime, it 
will promote its expertise and availability through the ‘buy- back’ scheme it 
operates to provide legal advice and support to Leicestershire academy trusts 
and schools. 

 

Other Funding Sources 
 

32. For 2021/22, the following Government grant is expected: 
 

The Local Reform and Community Voices Grant (£294,000 in 2020/21) provides 
funding to support the local Healthwatch and Independent Complaints 
Advocacy services. Local Healthwatch is the consumer champion for patients 
and the public in health and social care. The Independent Complaints Advocacy 
Service (ICAS) provides support to people who wish to make a complaint about 
the service they have received from the NHS. The level of funding has yet to be 
confirmed for 2021/22. 

 

Capital Programme  
 

33. The Chief Executive’s Department capital programme totals £1.9 million in 
2021/22 and £2.2million over the next four years. Details are provided at 
Appendix C and in the following paragraphs.  

 

69



  

34. Superfast Broadband 
 

The Phase 3 Broadband contract was awarded to BT Openreach on 6 August 
2019 and covers the West of the County only. Phase 4 of the Rural Broadband 
Scheme, which planned to extend broadband provision in the East of the 
County, failed to receive any tenders by the July 2020 deadline.  Further 
opportunities to deliver gigabit capable broadband to the remaining unserved 
residential and business premises in east Leicestershire are currently being 
explored. The potential for external funding for this is being investigated in 
parallel, which may reduce the future capital investment required.  

 

35. Shire Community Solutions Grants 
 
The funding requested is to continue the capital scheme at the present level of 
funding of £0.1 million per year. There is also an annual revenue budget of 
£0.35 million per year in the current MTFS. The Shire Community Grants 
scheme provides funding to voluntary and community sector organisations for 
projects supporting implementation of the Communities Strategy, in particular 
the support of vulnerable and disadvantaged people and communities.  
Providing support to these communities in the form of grant funded projects 
should also reduce demand for Council services in the longer term. 

 

Background Papers 
 
Cabinet 15 December 2020 - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/25 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b16058/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Str
ategy%20202122%20-%20202425%20-%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20-
%20Supplementary%20Report.pdf?T=9 

 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact  
 
John Sinnott, Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 305 6000 
E-mail: john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk 
 
Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Tel: 0116 305 6240 
E-mail: lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk  
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 306 7019 
E-mail: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk  
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources, Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 
E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 

 

70

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b16058/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20202122%20-%20202425%20-%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20-%20Supplementary%20Report.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b16058/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20202122%20-%20202425%20-%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20-%20Supplementary%20Report.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b16058/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20202122%20-%20202425%20-%20Proposals%20for%20Consultation%20-%20Supplementary%20Report.pdf?T=9
mailto:john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk
mailto:lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk
mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk


  

List of Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Revenue Budget 2021/22 

Appendix B – Growth & Savings 2021/22 – 2024/25 

Appendix C – Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2024/25 

 

Equality and Human Rights implications  
 
36. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not; and 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics 
and those who do not.   
 

37. Many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS may affect service users who have 
a protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the 
impact of the proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a 
formative stage prior to any final decisions being made. Such assessments will 
be undertaken in light of the potential impact of proposals and the timing of any 
proposed changes. Those assessments will be revised as the proposals are 
developed to ensure decision makers have information to understand the effect 
of any service change, policy or practice on people who have a protected 
characteristic. 

38. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject 
to the County Council Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality 
Impact Assessment to be undertaken as part of the action plan.  

 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22

Budget

2020/21 Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income Gross Budget

External 

Income Net Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES, ADMIN & CIVIC AFFAIRS

1,404,907 Democratic Services and Administration 1,353,480 91,260 0 1,444,740 -69,833 1,374,907

114,000 Subscriptions 0 114,000 0 114,000 0 114,000

165,900 Civic Affairs 29,039 142,861 0 171,900 -6,000 165,900

1,684,807 TOTAL 1,382,520 348,121 0 1,730,640 -75,833 1,654,807

2,474,528 LEGAL SERVICES 3,568,503 161,500 -650,475 3,079,528 -505,000 2,574,528

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE

1,418,231 Business Intelligence 2,126,225 139,757 -530,500 1,735,482 -226,950 1,508,532

523,894 Economic Growth 628,109 147,278 -49,961 725,426 -10,000 715,426

1,732,525 Policy and Communities 758,414 1,507,094 -137,725 2,127,783 -395,258 1,732,525

436,199 Management and Administration 415,156 5,742 0 420,898 0 420,898

579,888 Growth Unit 484,292 74,064 0 558,356 0 558,356

4,690,737 TOTAL 4,412,196 1,873,935 -718,186 5,567,945 -632,208 4,935,737

302,293 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND RESILIENCE 644,981 39,193 -69,047 615,127 -312,834 302,293

REGULATORY SERVICES

1,616,748 Trading Standards 1,719,709 149,039 -60,000 1,808,748 -192,000 1,616,748

1,097,241 Coroners 208,238 944,003 0 1,152,241 -55,000 1,097,241

-100,985 Registrars 987,171 74,544 0 1,061,715 -1,162,700 -100,985

2,613,004 TOTAL 2,915,118 1,167,586 -60,000 4,022,704 -1,409,700 2,613,004

471,888 PLANNING SERVICES 1,166,544 169,695 0 1,336,239 -839,330 496,909

30,880 DEPARTMENTAL ITEMS -150,000 40,850 -9,970 -119,120 0 -119,120

12,268,137 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVES 13,939,862 3,800,880 -1,507,678 16,233,063 -3,774,905 12,458,158

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S  DEPARTMENT

73



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

References 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000

GROWTH

Demand & cost increases

* G18 Business Intelligence - support C&FS and E&T 75 75 75 75

G19 Connectivity (Broadband) Team - core funding until 2023/24; 

sources of external funding to be explored. 220 225 230 0

G20 Legal Services - additional capacity, reducing need for external 

solicitors etc. 100 100 100 100

Total 395 400 405 175

SAVINGS

CE1 Eff Business Support review -50 -50 -50 -50

CE2 SR/Eff Staffing (vacancy control and agency reduction) -100 -100 -150 -200

CE3 SR Paperless meetings -30 -30 -30 -30

CE4 Inc Planning, Historic and Natural Environment - fee income -25 -50 -75 -100

Total -205 -230 -305 -380

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

Eff = Efficiency saving;  SR = Service reduction;  Inc = Income

75



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

CHIEF EXECUTIVES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25 - Draft

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Mar-25 400 Leicestershire Grants 100 100 100 100 400

Mar-22 2,900 Rural Broadband Scheme  - Phase 3 1,850 1,850

Total Chief Executives 1,950 100 100 100 2,250

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Relocation of Hinckley Registry Office

Rural Broadband Scheme

77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION - 25th JANUARY 2021 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2021/22–2024/25 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

1. The purpose of this report is to: 

 

a) Provide information on the proposed 2021/2022 to 2024/25 Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Corporate Resources Department; 

 

b) Ask members of the Scrutiny Commission to consider any issues as part of the 

consultation process and make any recommendations to the Cabinet accordingly.  

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 

2. The County Council agreed the current MTFS in February 2020. This has been the 

subject of a comprehensive review and revision in light of the current economic 

circumstances. The draft MTFS for 2021/22–2024/25 was considered by the Cabinet on 

15th December 2020. 

 

Background 

 

3. The MTFS is set out in the report to Cabinet on 15th December 2020, a copy of which 

has been circulated to all members of the County Council. This report highlights the 

implications for the Corporate Resources Department. 

 

4. Reports such as this one are being presented to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees. The Cabinet will consider the results of the scrutiny process on 5th 

February 2021 before recommending a MTFS, including a budget and capital 

programme for 2021/22, to the County Council on 17th February 2021. 

 

Service Overview 

 

5. The Corporate Resources (CR) department provides front line, traded and support 

services to enable the organisation to be efficient and effective through the Digital and 

Information Technology, People, Workplace and Commercial agendas. 

 

79 Agenda Item 10



 
 

6. The CR department is also undergoing significant change through the Fit for the Future 

project which will transform the system (replacing Oracle) and ways of working for the 

functions of Finance, HR, Procurement and East Midlands Shared Services (EMSS).   

 
7. Additionally, programmes such as the Corporate Asset Investment Fund, alongside 

developing work streams around the Workplace Strategy and Wider Commercialism, 

have the potential to fundamentally transform the way the Corporate Services function 

operates and drives efficiencies. 

 

Proposed Revenue Budget 

 

8. Table 1 below summarises the proposed 2021/22 revenue budget and provisional 

budgets for the next three years. The proposed 2021/22 revenue budget is shown in 

detail in Appendix A. 

 

Table 1 – Revenue Budget 2021/22 to 2024/25   

 2021/21 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 
£000 

Original prior year budget 32,805 34,089 32,989 32,599 

Budget transfers and adjustments 1,609 0 0 0 

Add proposed growth (Error! 
Reference source not found.) 

645 135 -100 0 

Less proposed savings (Appendix B) -970 -1,235 -290 -40 

Proposed/Provisional budget 34,089 32,989 32,599 32,559 

   

9. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price inflation. A 

central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services as necessary. 

 

10. This contingency also includes provision for an annual 1% increase in the employers’ 

contribution to the Local Government Pension Scheme, in line with the requirements of 

the actuarial assessment. 

 

11. The total proposed expenditure is £90.9m with a gross budget for 2021/22 of £69.7m 

after accounting for internal income, recharges and contributions from earmarked funds 

of £21.2m. Trading income and other grants are projected at £35.6m resulting in a 

proposed net budget for 2021/22 of £34.1m which is distributed as follows: 

 

Net Budget  2021/22 

Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning  £9.6m 

East Midlands Shared Services £1.8m 

Information Technology, Communications & Digital and 

Customer Service 

 

£14.5m 

Commercialism (net contribution) -£1.7m 

Corporate Services and Operational Property £14.1m 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund -£4.2m 

Department Total £34.1m 

80



 
 

 

 

Other Changes and Transfers 

 

12. A number of budget transfers (totalling a net increase of £1.6m) were made during the 

2020/21 financial year. These transfers include:   

a) £1.2m for pay (including increments relating to the National Living Wage) and 

pension inflation transferred from the central inflation contingency; 

b) £0.4m for running cost inflation transferred from the central inflation contingency. 

 

13. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the following 

classification: 

 

*   item unchanged from previous MTFS; 

**   item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made; 

No stars new item. 

 

14. This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings below. 

 

15. Savings have also been highlighted as “Eff” or “SR” dependent on whether the saving is 

seen as an efficiency or a service reduction or a mixture of both. “Inc” denotes those 

savings that are funding related or to generate more income. 

 

Growth 

 

16. The total amount of growth requested for 2021/22 is £0.6m, representing 1.9% of the 

existing net Corporate Resources budget.  Details are included below. 

 

 
 

Demand and Cost Increases 

 
17. G21(*) Customer Service Centre – support service levels (removal of temporary 

growth): -£0.1m in 2021/22 increasing to -£0.3m by 2023/24 
 
The Customer Service Centre (CSC) is the first point of contact for customers of Adult 
Social Care, Highways and Transport enquiries, Waste Management, Regulatory 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000

CORPORATE RESOURCES

Demand & cost increases

* G21 Customer Service Centre - support service levels (removal 

of temporary growth)

-100 -200 -300 -300

G22 County Hall Catering (lower occupancy) 50 0 0 0

G23 ICT license subscription and support costs 400 685 685 685

G24 Digital team to continue beyond March 2021, enabling 

authority-wide savings and cost avoidance

295 295 295 295

TOTAL 645 780 680 680

References

GROWTH

81



 
 

Services and School Admissions; answering a half a million customer contacts every 
year across a range of channels. 
 
Additional temporary resources of £0.3m were provided for 2020/21 to meet additional 
demand due to the extension to the Blue Badge scheme; and the delay in realising 
efficiencies and savings from technological improvements to working practices. A 
phased programme of improvements focusing on reducing high volume low complexity 
queries through increased automation and self-service is expected to facilitate a 
reduction in headcount. The additional budget was expected to be reduced by £0.10m 
each subsequent year of the MTFS, which continues to remain in line with anticipated 
savings delivery. 

 
18. G22 County Hall Catering (lower occupancy): £0.05m for 2021/22 only 

 
As a result of the Council’s requirement for the majority of staff to work from home 
during the pandemic, County Hall Catering lost significant traded income. Although, 
furloughing of staff and a reduction in service offer has mitigated the net operating loss 
in 2020/21. Despite a formal review of staff and a restructure to reduce the on-going 
costs £50k of growth is required to ensure that a service offer can continue at County 
Hall and allow capacity to expand when numbers return. It will allow for specialist 
catering staff to ensure a civic catering provision can be provided in 2021/22. The 
growth is for one year only as traded income is expected to improve when staff can 
return to County Hall.  

 

19. G23 ICT license subscription and support costs: £0.4m in 2021/22 increasing to £0.7m 
by 2022/23 
 
On-going revenue implications are expected to materialise mainly as a result of 
Microsoft price hikes of up to 40% on all public sector organisations and the increased 
dependency of the authority on IT services for current and future ways of working. 
 
ICT will review the authority’s communication systems, (skype, teams etc.) next year 
once the new negotiated contract between Crown Commercial Services and Microsoft 
is in place. 
 
Some of the costs can be delayed by retaining Skype, rather than a full migration to 
Microsoft Teams. The additional cost cannot be delayed indefinitely as the current 
Skype platform will only be supported until 2025 by Microsoft. If the decision is to 
proceed with Teams then further implications on revenue costs are expected in 
relations to Anywhere 365 (the Contact Centre system) and the need to move to a 
cloud hosted platform. This additional cost is included in the growth request. 
 

82



 
 

20. G24 Digital team to continue beyond March 2021, enabling authority-wide savings and 
costs avoidance: £0.3m from 2021/22 onwards 
 
As part of the strategic change portfolio the County Council is delivering a programme 
of digital transformation. A temporary Incubation team was established in 2020/21 to 
expedite delivery of digital change projects through an agile approach, as prioritised 
through the authority’s Digital Programme Board. This has enabled the council to drive 
down the cost of delivery through a ‘zero touch’ approach to automate and simplify 
processes. It has also enabled the council to target low cost, digital and automated 
channels over the higher cost channels. 
 
Examples of cost savings and avoidance delivered through the pre-programme pilot 
activities and during the early programme include digital blue badge renewals, online 
smart library registration and digital parking permits. These initiatives alone have 
generated on-going cost savings and cost avoidance in excess of £0.4m. 
 
Growth would enable this Incubation team to continue beyond March 2021 to enable 
authority-wide savings and cost avoidance. It is envisaged that this function will 
become self-funding through the delivery of cashable savings as reflected in other 
departments 2021-25 MTFS savings targets.  

 
 

Savings 
 
21. The MTFS proposed savings for Corporate Resources total £1.0m for 2021/22 rising to 

£2.5m by 2024/25. The main savings are detailed below. 

 

 
 

 

22. **CR1(Eff) Workplace Strategy – optimising building/office use: -£0.31m in 2021/22 
rising to -£0.67m by 2023/24 
 
The Workplace Programme is a multi-disciplinary taskforce working collaboratively to 
drive out new, more flexible ways of working. With representatives across IT, Property, 
Transformation, HR/OD and Communications, focus has been not only on how we use 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000

CORPORATE RESOURCES

** CR1 Eff Workplace Strategy - optimising building/office use -315 -575 -670 -670

** CR2 Eff/Inc Increase Commercial Services contribution 0 -315 -430 -470

* CR3 Eff Environment improvements - energy & water -50 -100 -100 -100

* CR4 Inc Environment improvements - Score+ energy 

efficiency scheme

-50 -50 -50 -50

* CR5 Eff Returns from Corporate Asset Investment Fund 0 -570 -570 -570

** CR6 Inc Place to Live - Accommodation income -40 -80 -160 -160

CR7 Eff Business Support - efficiencies from Records Hub 

and indexing system

-80 -80 -80 -80

CR8 Eff Strategic Property restructure -300 -300 -300 -300

CR9 Eff Departmental Management Team restructure -135 -135 -135 -135

TOTAL -970 -2,205 -2,495 -2,535

SAVINGS

References

83



 
 

our physical workplace (desks and buildings) but also on culture and infrastructure 
changes that will maximise the potential benefits of embedding new ways of working 
within the Council. 
 
Savings will be generated from reductions in property rental costs, service charges and 
running costs as premises are exited; rationalised or sold. 

 
Covid-19 has completely reshaped how our services operate now and in the future – 
bringing new opportunities for positive change. It is envisaged that our emerging Ways 
of Working programme will be bolder in ambition in relation to our property estate, 
changing our workplace model, investing in value-adding technology and importantly 
supporting our people whilst unlocking further opportunities for financial savings. A 
refreshed business case will be submitted for approval in the 2nd quarter of 2021 that 
will encompass the newly revised programme scope and incorporate the people 
strategy. 

 

23. **CR2 Eff / Inc Increasing Commercial Services contribution: -£0.32m in 2022/23 rising 

to -£0.47m by 2024/25 

 

Between 2016 and 2020 Leicestershire Traded Services (LTS) had a target to increase 

the contribution that it makes to Leicestershire County Council by an additional net 

£2m through a combination of increased sales, increased prices and reducing costs.  

 

The service has faced additional cost pressures from the increase in National Living 

Wage (NLW), and underachievement of income growth targets, in some LTS services. 

Covid-19 and associated government restrictions has hindered recovery and continues 

to have a significant impact on some LTS services. The savings target has been 

reprofiled whilst attention is placed on recovery. 

 

Rationalisation of teams within Operational property, supplemented with increased 

income from Country Parks arising from a combination of car parking price increases; 

and a permanent increase in visitor numbers with the opening of Snibston Country 

Park should lessen the impact.  

 

All other commercial services are reviewing their service offer and responding in 

pursuit of financial recovery. Some services will need to reduce costs to mitigate the 

lost income faced before initiatives to improve contribution can be implemented. The 

recent restructure of the county hall catering service falls into this saving category. 

Other services with a hospitality element will be in a similar position. 

 

Leicestershire Traded Services have been impacted by the pandemic significantly 

given school are the main client. Huge uncertainty over future performance remains, 

although it is clear the impact will continue into 2021/22. In the current year losses 

have been mitigated by government schemes such as furlough. 

 

A Covid-19 reserve has been established and this will be drawn on to mitigate losses in 

2020/21 as necessary.  

84



 
 

 

24. *CR3 Eff Environment improvements - energy & water: -£0.05m from 2021/22 rising to 
-£0.10m by 2022/23 
 
The Water Strategy was developed to increase water efficiency at County Council run 
properties. The Strategy sets out to reduce annual water consumption by 10%; 
equating to £0.02m annual savings to contribute towards the Energy and Water annual 
savings target. Furthermore, the Strategy sets out to recycle water and source its own 
water through boreholes, rainwater recycling and greywater recycling. 
 
Energy 'Invest to Save' projects are being pursued via capital schemes for which 
business cases are being developed and external funding sought. These projects 
target buildings using the most Energy to ensure the property estate is fit for purpose. 
Schemes such as the biomass boiler at County Hall and the installation of Solar Panels 
across the Council’s estate have previously delivered large savings.  

 
Property Services also continue to investigate opportunities to ‘trade’ Energy 
Performance upgrades with public sector partners in an approach similar to Score+. 
Public sector bodies would be able to access the County Council’s experience and 
knowledge of Energy Management while accessing the successful Energy 
Performance Contract to realise asset upgrades to save energy. 

 

25. *CR4 Inc Environment improvements – SCORE+ and energy efficiency scheme: -

£0.05m from 2021/22 

 

Schools Collaboration on Reducing Energy (SCORE+) is an invest-to-save programme 

of building improvements to educational estates. It allows maintained schools and 

academy trusts across Leicestershire to access LCC capital investment to improve 

energy efficiency and where possible establish the generation of renewable energy. 

Interest and management fees are charged as part of an on-going contract with each 

educational establishment to recover capital financing costs and generate income to 

offset overheads within property services. 

 

The SCORE+ service also supports the Council’s recent Climate Emergency 

declaration which commits the Council to achieving carbon neutrality by 2030 for its 

own operations, to work with others and to lobby government to make the wider 2030 

target possible and to limit global warming to less than 1.5°C. 

 

Two schemes have been completed to date: Bosworth Academy Lighting and PV; and 

Countesthorpe College LED lighting, income from which is meeting 2020/21 savings 

targets. The 2021/22 savings target is on track to be fully delivered with Bosworth 

Phase 3 and Winstanley School, which are both expected to be completed by March 

2021. A project at Lutterworth College is also currently in development.   

 

26. *CR5 Eff Returns from Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF): -£0.57m from 

2022/23 

 

85



 
 

As part of the 2020-24 MTFS a revenue target from asset investment of £3m per 

annum was set based on schemes that were either completed or in advanced stages 

of completion. 

 

Covid-19 has had an impact on the CAIF with construction constraints caused by the 

pandemic delaying delivery of investment opportunities. Although income generation is 

currently below 2020/21 target overall returns have been reasonable, helped by a low 

exposure to the retail sector. 

 

Future income has therefore been profiled on a prudent basis to only reflect completed 

schemes such as Airfield Phase 1, Apollo Court, Embankment House and LUSEP. As 

new developments come on stream, including planned projects such as Airfield Farm 

phase 2, this will be reflected in future MTFS’s. 

 

27. **CR6 Inc Place to Live – Accommodation income: -£0.04m in 2021/22 rising to -

£0.16m by 2023/24 

 

The Council has invested £10.3m in the Adult Social Care capital programme to fund 

developments linked to Social Care Investment Programme objectives.  As an upper 

tier authority with no Housing function the Council has contracted with Nottingham 

Communities Housing Association (NCHA) to act as a landlord on its behalf.  NCHA 

leases the housing that the Council develops and rents them to vulnerable tenants 

nominated by the Council. This saving represents the lease income from this 

arrangement that contributes to funding the capital investment. Further financial benefit 

is received through the reduced accommodation costs relating to Adult Social Care.  

Various sites throughout the County have been or are in the process of being 

developed creating in excess of 50 units. 

 
28. CR7 Eff Business Support – efficiencies from Records Hub and indexing system: -

£0.08m from 2021/22 

Savings represent reduced costs derived through efficiencies from the Records Hub 

and indexing system. In addition, there is 0.61FTE Grade 5 vacant post being offered 

up as a saving.  

 

86



 
 

29. CR8 Eff Strategic Property restructure -£0.30m from 2021/22 

As part of a recent restructure a dedicated Development and Investment Team was 

proposed to support the CAIF. Given the slow-down in the property market and the 

wider economy during the pandemic, and the need to make savings during this time, 

recruitment to the Development and Investment team has been paused. Recruitment to 

the current team structure will continue and the Estates team will continue to offer 

support to the CAIF (for both its existing tenanted properties and its development 

schemes). 

30. CR9 Eff Departmental Management Team Restructure -£0.14m from 2021/22 

 

An action plan consolidating responsibilities and reducing the number of Assistant 

Directors from the current 4 posts to 3 posts was issued. Consultation is complete, and 

the action plan has been fully implemented.  

 
Savings Under Development 
 

31. There are a number of savings that are currently under development within the 
department: 
 

32. Departmental review: Following the Departmental Management Team restructure a 
further review will be undertaken looking at structures across the department for 
synergies and improvements. 
 

33. Insurance review: Evaluation of the current external insurance coverage and policy 
limits. 
 

34. Increased automation within Customer Service Centre: Process improvement, 
automation and digitalisation will lead not only to an improved customer experience but 
also provide savings opportunities from improved productivity, reduction in handling 
and errors as well as a greater use of self service. 
 

35. Review of vacant properties: As assessment of the County Council’s existing portfolio 
of vacant properties against the Workplace Strategy will be completed, with potential 
one-off savings arising from the sale of properties and/or land or on-going savings 
arising from development and lease opportunities. 
 

36. ESPO contribution increase: ESPO have developed plans to grow their existing 
business, with a particular focus on growth outside of their current base. Successful 
delivery of the place will increase the dividend received from the County Council’s 
(partial) ownership. 
 

37. Amalgamation of transactional activity: There are several areas of similar and/or linked 
transactional activity, for example Finance, both within the department and across the 
County Council. This offers the potential for centralisation of transactional functions 
across the County Council to be investigated to identify service improvements through 
standardisation and efficiency opportunities through increased use of automation 
including robotics. 
 

87



 
 

38. Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF): The Capital programme allows for additional 
investment in CAIF. The benefits of making these investments will not only be to the 
local economy, but also generates additional on-going revenue streams (for example 
as rental income from farms or industrial units) or future capital receipts in excess of 
that required for the initial investment. 
 

39. This potential additional income is over and above what is already included in the 
MTFS. The majority of investment is expected to come from the development of sites, 
which is a more uncertain undertaking. Hence, they are still included as a Savings 
Under Development. Income will be included in the MTFS when investment returns 
have a good degree of certainty. 
 

40. Digital Initiatives: Growth has been included in the MTFS for an Incubation team 
providing more efficient and effective Council services, empowering people and 
introducing digital ways of working through easier to use, customer focused and joined 
up services across the County Council and with partners. 
 

41. The team has received temporary funding to date and the extension of this funding 
beyond March 2021 will enable further authority-wide savings and cost avoidance 
initiatives to be developed. 

 

 
Corporate Resources Capital Programme  
 

42. Table 2 below summarises the proposed capital programme. A further breakdown is 

provided in Appendix C. The proposed capital programme totals £11.3m over the next 

four years including £5.1m in 2021/22 and is described in more detail in the following 

paragraphs. 

 
Table 2 – Summary Draft Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 

 
 

43. ICT and Digital infrastructure and developments: £1.4m in 2021/22 amounting to £5.7m 
over the MTFS period 
 
Investment in technology and digital capability throughout the organisation is a priority to 

increase efficient and modern ways of working in addition to maintaining security and 

robust systems and infrastructure. This investment includes replacement, capacity 

growth and upgrade across the corporate estate for 2021/22 including: 

 

 £0.9m (£3.1m across the MTFS) investment in the ICT requirements to support 

the Workplace Strategy, through the provision of end user devices in line with 

identified worker styles to facilitate remote and collaborative working;  

 

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

ICT and digital infrastructure developments 1,420 1,430 1,150 1,700 5,700

Property major maintenance and improvements 3,220 550 530 0 4,300

Climate change - environmental improvements 485 485 320 0 1,290

TOTAL 5,125 2,465 2,000 1,700 11,290

88



 
 

 £0.3m (£1.0m across the MTFS) for the replacement of an Internal Firewall as 
support package is due to expire June 2022. 

 

 £0.2m for the replacement of the Cisco Core Network Switch, which has reached 

the end of its expected life. 

 
44. Property major maintenance and improvements: £3.2m in 2021/22 amounting to £4.3m 

over the MTFS period 

 

For 2021/22 significant elements of the programme include: 

 £2.5m Melton, Sysonby Farm Development site preparation and infrastructure 

works to support 290 dwellings within this ‘sustainable neighbourhood’ (subject to 

suitability of Homes England grant conditions);  

 

 £0.4m (£1.2m across the MTFS) to implement the property element of the 

Workplace Strategy  

 

 £0.2m in major maintenance to install fire suppression systems to the existing 

generators inside the County Hall Rutland Building and replacement of single 

glazed life expired windows at Coalville offices. 

 

45. Climate Change - environmental Improvements: £0.5m in 2021/22 amounting to £1.3m 

over the MTFS period 

 

For 2021/22 this includes: 

 £0.3m (£1.0m across the MTFS) to support SCORE+ - the Schools energy 

efficiency scheme. 

 

 £0.1m (£0.2m across the MTFS) for additional investment in Electric Vehicle Car 

Charging Points. The additional charging points will be targeted at public locations 

managed by the Council, such as Bosworth Battlefield and Beacon Hill, dependant 

on feasibility studies.  

 

  £0.1m to improve minimum energy efficiency standards. 

 

Future Developments 

 

46. Capital projects that have not yet been fully developed or plans agreed have been 

excluded from proposed bids and will be treated as ‘Future Developments’. It is 

intended that as these schemes are developed during the year and where there is a 

financial justification, or an investment required to maintain delivery of the service, they 

are included in the capital programme.  

 

47. The potential programmes and schemes that may require capital investment in the 

future include: 

 

89



 
 

 ICT Investment: There is a need for significant investment in the ICT infrastructure 

including remote access, network connectivity, data centres and data storage, 

telephony and system back up. Further work is required to assess options. 

 

 Country Parks: A number of initiatives are being scoped to generate additional 

income from country parks including: development of cafés, ticketless car parking 

and improvements to the park facilities. 

 

 Climate change: Continued development of Energy asset upgrades to corporate 

buildings to reduce running costs, and deliver on corporate energy strategy, 

environmental strategy and climate targets. In addition installation of solar panels at 

Stud Farm to supply electricity via a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) to the 

tenant farmer. Income from the PPA would accrue to the energy projects revenue 

budget, with payback anticipated within 15 years. 

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications  

 

48. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 

characteristics and those who do not;  

and 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and 

those who do not.   

 

49. Many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS may affect service users who have a 

protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the impact of the 

proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a formative stage prior to any 

final decisions being made. Such assessments will be undertaken in light of the potential 

impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes. Those assessments will 

be revised as the proposals are developed to ensure decision makers have information 

to understand the effect of any service change, policy or practice on people who have a 

protected characteristic. 

 

50. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to the 

County Council Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality Impact 

Assessment to be undertaken as part of the action plan.  

 

 

Background Papers 

 

Cabinet : 15th December 2020 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/25 

 

Circulation under local issues alert procedure 

90



 
 

 

None. 

 

Officers to Contact 

 

Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 

Tel: 0116 305 6199  

E-mail: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 

 

Declan Keegan, Director of Finance, Corporate Resources Department 

Tel: 0116 305 7668 

E-mail: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 

 

 

Susan Baum, Finance Business Partner, Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6931 
E-mail: Susan.Baum@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A – Revenue Budget 2021/22 

Appendix B – Growth and Savings 2021/22 – 2024/25 

Appendix C – Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2024/25 

91

mailto:lsley.hagger@leics.gov.uk
mailto:enny.Lawrence@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Net Budget 

2020/21 Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income Gross Budget

External 

Income

Net Budget 

2021/22
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

AD Finance, Strategic Property & Commissioning
2,978,600 Strategic Property 1,929,590 1,421,740 -551,630 2,799,700 -298,810 2,500,890

2,241,970 Audit & Insurance 1,183,740 3,828,770 -1,104,530 3,907,980 -1,709,030 2,198,950

3,775,410 Strategic Finance & Pensions 5,142,860 589,060 -1,600,640 4,131,280 -219,680 3,911,600

1,098,650 Commissioning Support 1,142,280 45,700 -130,000 1,057,980 -12,500 1,045,480

10,094,630 Total 9,398,470 5,885,270 -3,386,800 11,896,940 -2,240,020 9,656,920

1,510,470 EMSS 4,427,180 1,967,659 -301,185 6,093,654 -4,310,477 1,783,177

AD IT, Communications & Digital, Customer Service
10,463,070 Information & Technology 7,438,250 4,543,670 -380,600 11,601,320 -442,000 11,159,320

1,020,260 Communications & Digital Services 1,133,030 245,500 -349,000 1,029,530 -9,300 1,020,230
2,381,150 Customer Services 2,505,690 -44,500 -125,110 2,336,080 -54,850 2,281,230

13,864,480 Total 11,076,970 4,744,670 -854,710 14,966,930 -506,150 14,460,780

Commercialism
72,000 Leisure & Hospitality 506,360 628,180 0 1,134,540 -1,048,230 86,310

-981,450 Education Catering 10,720,090 5,625,220 -6,186,270 10,159,040 -10,277,470 -118,430

-200,000 Beaumanor 914,760 610,920 0 1,525,680 -1,848,270 -322,590

-1,109,450 LTS Hospitality & Catering 12,141,210 6,864,320 -6,186,270 12,819,260 -13,173,970 -354,710
0 Music Service 1,347,460 469,100 0 1,816,560 -1,816,600 -40

-49,040 Bursar Service 166,580 16,500 0 183,080 -205,000 -21,920

-540,960 LEAMIS 652,700 336,410 0 989,110 -1,334,410 -345,300

-175,000 HR Services 1,118,570 64,750 -146,000 1,037,320 -1,132,300 -94,980

-765,000 LTS Professional Services 1,937,850 417,660 -146,000 2,209,510 -2,671,710 -462,200
42,450 LTS Infrastructure 208,380 66,860 -1,190,750 -915,510 0 -915,510

-1,832,000 Total 15,634,900 7,817,940 -7,523,020 15,929,820 -17,662,280 -1,732,460

AD Corporate Services & Operational Property
1,960,640 Corporate HR 2,285,210 85,250 -410,400 1,960,060 0 1,960,060

1,391,150 L&D 880,130 860,680 -195,080 1,545,730 -157,900 1,387,830

990,420 Business Support 921,080 173,000 -167,600 926,480 -13,600 912,880

587,150 Management 502,720 11,000 -33,000 480,720 0 480,720

1,427,240 Transformation Unit 3,783,100 39,300 -2,395,200 1,427,200 0 1,427,200

18,660 Transformation 0 833,000 -378,000 455,000 -455,000 0

6,375,260 Corporate Services 8,372,240 2,002,230 -3,579,280 6,795,190 -626,500 6,168,690
3,280,890 Building Running Costs 288,440 4,081,330 -204,340 4,165,430 -840,320 3,325,110

2,300,000 Building Maintenance 0 3,650,000 -1,350,000 2,300,000 0 2,300,000

2,110,700 Operational Property 2,082,820 203,150 -221,570 2,064,400 0 2,064,400

76,250 Traveller Services 220,850 54,450 -15,000 260,300 -200,150 60,150

7,767,840 Operational Property 2,592,110 7,988,930 -1,790,910 8,790,130 -1,040,470 7,749,660
313,080 Parks & Forestry 856,130 549,990 -392,000 1,014,120 -791,950 222,170

400,620 Hard FM 1,558,410 944,610 -1,356,000 1,147,020 -606,000 541,020

-409,130 Soft FM 342,130 206,350 -735,100 -186,620 -300,000 -486,620

-76,680 Print 316,690 444,590 -829,500 -68,220 0 -68,220

227,890 LTS Property Services 3,073,360 2,145,540 -3,312,600 1,906,300 -1,697,950 208,350

14,370,990 Total 14,037,710 12,136,700 -8,682,790 17,491,620 -3,364,920 14,126,700

Corporate Asset Investment Fund
-495,750 Rural 0 782,200 0 782,200 -1,278,000 -495,800

-708,900 Industrial 0 1,781,650 -246,000 1,535,650 -2,244,500 -708,850

-2,389,520 Office 0 1,215,910 -230,000 985,910 -3,986,970 -3,001,060

-3,594,170 Total 0 3,779,760 -476,000 3,303,760 -7,509,470 -4,205,710

34,414,400 TOTAL 54,575,230 36,331,999 -21,224,505 69,682,724 -35,593,317 34,089,407

CORPORATE RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22

93



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000

Demand & cost increases

* G21 Customer Service Centre - support service levels (removal of temporary 

growth)

-100 -200 -300 -300

G22 County Hall Catering (lower occupancy) 50 0 0 0

G23 ICT license subscription and support costs 400 685 685 685

G24 Digital team to continue beyond March 2021, enabling authority-wide 

savings and cost avoidance

295 295 295 295

TOTAL 645 780 680 680

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000

** CR1 Eff Workplace Strategy - optimising building/office use -315 -575 -670 -670

** CR2 Eff/Inc Increase Commercial Services contribution 0 -315 -430 -470

* CR3 Eff Environment improvements - energy & water -50 -100 -100 -100

* CR4 Inc Environment improvements - Score+ energy efficiency scheme -50 -50 -50 -50

* CR5 Eff Returns from Corporate Asset Investment Fund 0 -570 -570 -570

** CR6 Inc Place to Live - Accommodation income -40 -80 -160 -160

CR7 Eff Business Support - efficiencies from Records Hub and indexing system -80 -80 -80 -80

CR8 Eff Strategic Property restructure -300 -300 -300 -300

CR9 Eff Departmental Management Team restructure -135 -135 -135 -135

TOTAL -970 -2,205 -2,495 -2,535

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy

** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

Eff - Efficiency saving

SR - Service reduction

Inc - Income

References

GROWTH

SAVINGS

References

CORPORATE RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

95



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

ICT
Mar-24 920 Corporate ICT Programme 420 500 920

Mar-24 400 Workplace Strategy - ICT Infrastructure 0 150 250 400

Mar-25 3,700 Workplace Strategy - End User Device (PC, laptop) 900 800 400 1,000 3,100

Mar-25 1,000 Internal Firewall Replacement 300 700 1,000

Mar-22 200 Cisco Core Network Switch Replacement 200 200

Mar-23 80 Solaris Server Refresh 20 60 80

Subtotal ICT 1,420 1,430 1,150 1,700 5,700

Property Services
Mar-22 4,420 Melton, Sysonby Farm Development - site preparation and infrastructure works 2,465 2,465

Mar-24 1,200 Workplace Strategy - property costs, dilapidations and refurbishments 400 400 400 1,200

Mar-23 440 County Hall Lift Replacement Scheme 50 150 130 330

Mar-22 85 Romulus Court - IT environmental monitoring (subject to approach review) 85 85

Mar-22 110 County Hall - Fire Compartmentation 110 110

Mar-22 110 Coalville Office - Window replacement - Environmental improvements 110 110

Subtotal Strategic Property 3,220 550 530 0 4,300

Climate Change - Environmental Improvements
Mar-24 980 Score + (Schools Energy Efficiency Scheme) 330 330 320 0 980

Mar-23 200 Electric Vehicle Car Charge Points 100 100 200

Mar-25 110 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards 55 55 110

Sub total Energy 485 485 320 0 1,290

Total Corporate Resources 5,125 2,465 2,000 1,700 11,290

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

ICT Investments:

Remote Access

Network Connectivity

Backup System Replacement

Telephony Equipment

Mobile Smartphone Refresh

Country Parks:

Café Developments

Ticketless Car Parking

Park Facility Improvements

Climate Change:

Installation of Solar Panels and Rain Water Harvesting

CORPORATE RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22-2024/25

97



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                             
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 25TH JANUARY 2021 
 

DRAFT REVISED CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 
STRATEGY 2021 TO 2025 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Commission’s views on the revised 

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) Strategy for 2021 to 2025 (attached as 
Appendix A to this report) which sets out the Council’s approach to future asset 
investments utilising the CAIF. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The creation of the CAIF was included in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 

2014/15-2017/18 (MTFS), which was approved by the County Council in February 
2014.  This has been renewed annually and appropriate provision made within the 
MTFS to enable the fund to grow. 
 

3. In May 2014 the Cabinet established the Corporate Asset Investment Fund 
Advisory Board, comprising five Cabinet members. 

 
4. The Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan was approved by the Cabinet in 

June 2016.  This promotes the rationalisation of the Authority’s property assets, 
reducing property running costs, generating new property income streams to 
support wider service delivery, ensuring cost effective procurement of property and 
property services, and creating capital receipts to support capital programme or 
other beneficial investment proposals.  This Plan is currently being reviewed and 
will be the subject of a report to a future meeting of the Commission. 

 
5. The draft Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2021-25 capital programme was 

reported to the Cabinet on 15th December 2020 and is to be considered elsewhere 
on this agenda.  This, taken with the current year allocation, includes provision of 
£89m for CAIF projects up to 2025.  This is in addition to £171m of assets already 
held in the Fund as at 31st March 2020 which meets the targeted overall total for 
the fund of £260m. 
 

6. The Commission last considered the CAIF Strategy on 4th September 2019 
following changes made to reflect the aims of the Council’s Environment Strategy 
2018-2030 and full Council’s decision in May 2019 to declare a climate emergency 
and commitment to seek to achieve carbon neutrality in its own operations by 

 

99 Agenda Item 12



2030.  This iteration of the Strategy was subsequently appended to the MTFS 
2020-24 which was agreed by full Council on 19th February 2020. 
 

Background 
 

7. The Council has owned and managed ‘investment properties’ in the form of the 
existing Industrial and County Farms estate for many years.  These properties are 
held for the purposes of supporting the delivery of various economic development 
objectives and to generate revenue and capital returns to the County Council. 
 

8. In May 2014, the Cabinet approved the establishment of the Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund and associated governance arrangements.  In 2018, its purpose 
was aligned with the five Strategic Outcomes of the Council’s Strategic Plan 
(Strong Economy, Wellbeing and Opportunity, Keeping People Safe, Great 
Communities and Affordable and Quality Homes) to ensure CAIF investments: 
 

 Support the objectives of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

 Generate an income stream which increases the Council’s financial resilience 
given the decrease in government funding. 

 Support the delivery of front line services through increased income generation, 
or through capital investments that will reduce operating costs. 

 Support the Council’s strategic objective of Affordable and Quality Homes 
through helping to unlock and accelerate developments. 

 Manage investment risk through the opportunity to invest in diverse sectors. 

 Meet the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan, 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy, Strategic Plan and Single 
Outcomes Framework, the Economic Growth Plan and Local Industrial 
Strategy. 

 Increase the size of the property portfolio and improves the mix and quality of 
land and property available across the County and the sub-region.  

 Maximise returns on Council owned property assets.  

 Support growth in the County and its economic area of influence and ensures 
there is a more diverse range of properties and land assets available to meet 
the aims of economic development. 
 

9. Further changes to the Strategy were made in 2019 to align with the Council’s 
environmental commitments and make clear that CAIF developments will, so far 
as possible, be built in a sustainable manner to support the aim of carbon 
neutrality through the construction phase of its projects, and ensure energy 
efficiencies in the occupancy and operation of its properties, including the use, 
where viable, of on-site renewable energy sources.  Furthermore, the intention that 
developments will achieve net biodiversity gain and push waste up the Waste 
Hierarchy by adopting a reduce, reuse, recycle approach was also included. 
 

10. The Cabinet also established the Corporate Asset Investment Fund Advisory 
Board, chaired by the Cabinet Lead Member for Resources and comprising four 
other Cabinet members.  The Board is supported by an officer group formed from 
strategic property, finance and legal services to provide advice on risks, 
deliverability and financial implications.  Specialist property investment support and 

100



advice is also available to provide an independent view and robust challenge. 
 

11. The Commission receives a full performance report on the operation of the CAIF 
every year.  It last received a report in September 2020 and a further report will be 
provided in September this year.  General progress is also included in the 
quarterly MTFS Monitoring reports considered by the Commission and the Cabinet 
throughout the year. 
 

Resource Implications 
 

12. The County Council faced a very difficult financial outlook before the impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic are taken into account.  The draft MTFS 2021-25, presented 
to the Cabinet in December 2020, sets out the need for further savings of £92m to 
be made by 2023/24, of which £36m is unidentified.  

 
13. The draft revised CAIF Strategy for the period 2021 to 2025 will be presented as 

part of the MTFS and provides for the Fund to grow to its previously projected level 
of £260m over the MTFS period.  The exact level of investment will be dependent 
on the availability of good investments, the actual cost of development and the 
level of funding available.  The expectation is that the returns (a combination of 
revenue income and capital growth) generated by the CAIF will have a meaningful 
impact on the Council’s budget to reduce the funding gap with a targeted return of 
7%, eventually generating circa £18m per annum by the time all developments are 
completed. 

 
14. The value of the Fund as at 1st April 2020 was £171m.  The draft MTFS 2021-25 

capital programme, coupled with the current year’s allocation includes provision of 
£88.8m spread over the four years 2020/21 to 2023/24 to fund further CAIF 
investments. 

 
15. Options to fund the increase are under review.  Options include using the current 

and forecast overborrowed position on the capital programme.  This would mean 
incurring additional prudential borrowing on the capital programme, but due to the 
overborrowed position it is anticipated that there would be no need to raise new 
external debt to fund the additional investment.  This would require a change to the 
prudential indicators and would need to be approved by the County Council. 

 
16. There is an operational cost to running the Fund and this is being constantly 

reviewed in the light of the increased size. 

 
Revised CAIF Strategy 2021-2025 

17. The purpose of the review is to ensure that the Fund continues to provide security 
for the Council’s monies invested by enabling it to respond to the current economic 
challenges in a way that maximises its future benefits to the County Council.  In 
this current review, account has also been taken of the recommendations of an 
independent review of the Fund undertaken by Hymans Robertson in December 
2020 (attached as Appendix B).  
 
 

101



Hymans Roberston Review 
 

18. The Hymans Robertson review considers the current economic outlook and that of 
the real estate investment market in the light of the current Covid-19 crisis and the 
implications of Brexit, and in line with other commentators acknowledges the 
challenges facing the market at the present time particularly the retail sector. 
Equally, it identifies the industrial, distribution and logistics sectors as being the 
most resilient to current circumstances. 
 

19. In reviewing the County Council’s portfolio it draws similar conclusions to those 
contained in the Annual Report considered by the Commission last September and 
in addition provides a detailed resume of the Pooled Property portfolio. 
 

20. Further, it examines the potential to diversify the portfolio further by considering 
infrastructure investments and the need to consider the environmental, social and 
governance credentials of future potential investments. 
 

21. Broadly, the report makes the following main recommendations: 
 
a. Investment in direct property assets should be focused on the industrial, 

distribution and logistics sectors especially given Leicestershire’s location at the 
heart of the national transport network. 
 

b. Investment in the office and rural sectors should be maintained at current levels. 
 

c. Investment in the Pooled Property sector should be reduced over time and the 
funds reinvested in other more attractive investments.  The private debt 
investments have the potential to deliver greater returns and should be 
maintained or increased. 
 

d. Consideration should be given to investing in infrastructure and renewables 
either directly or via a pooled investment vehicle.  Entry into the residential 
market is also recommended.  However, this would present particular problems 
for the County Council. 

 
Key Changes 
 

22. In growing the Fund to the projected £260m the draft revised Strategy proposes 
that investment be directed to the industrial and distribution sectors.  Where 
possible, in respect of direct property investments, advantage will be taken of the 
additional returns that can be achieved by developing sites already within County 
Council ownership in line with the current programme of development projects.  
 

23. It should be noted that by developing and investing responsibly in assets that meet 
high environmental, social and governance standards (ESG) together with 
renewables, the overall sustainability of the portfolio will be improved contributing 
to the County Council’s aim of being carbon neutral by 2030.  Again, aware of the 
need to diversify the portfolio a potential pipeline of renewable projects is already 
under consideration. 
 

102



24. Consideration will also be given to the restructuring of the Pooled Property 
portfolio, over time, in order to provide greater resilience and maintain revenue 
streams. 
 

Conclusion 

25. The Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy is aimed at generating a long term 
and relatively stable source of income to offset the funding gap in the MTFS. 
Revisions to the CAIF Strategy for 2021-2025 seek, in achieving financial benefits 
for the Authority, to minimise risk by focusing investment on those assets and 
sectors that will be the most resilient to current economic pressures. 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
26. There are no equality or human rights implications directly arising from this report. 

 
Environmental Implications 

 
27.  Where possible, the environmental impact of the Fund’s developments will be as 

low as possible and be low carbon and energy efficient. 
 

28. Where possible, and where there is no adverse financial impact, when disposing of 
land for development, the sale terms will require the purchaser to develop in a 
sustainable and low carbon way. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Background Papers  
 
Report to Cabinet, 14 September 2018 - Corporate Asset Investment Fund Annual 
Performance Report 2017-18 and Strategy for 2018 to 2022 - https://bit.ly/2NsvaAk  
 
Officers to Contact  
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 7830 
Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Jonathan Bennett, Head of Strategic Property Services, 
Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6358   
Email: jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk  
 
Appendices  
 
Appendix A -  Draft Revised Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021 - 2025 
Appendix B  -  Hymans Robertson Strategy Review Paper – December 2020 
 

103

https://bit.ly/2NsvaAk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Building Business. Boosting Communities.

STRATEGY 2021/2025

Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund 

105



2   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

FOREWORD

Byron Rhodes
Deputy Leader
Leicestershire County Council  
and Chair of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund Advisory Board

The Council has a long and strong track record in owning and managing a diverse portfolio of 
property and other investment assets. In recent years, the Council has taken a more proactive 
commercial approach to investment expanding the portfolio, thereby boosting the local 
economy and generating vital income for front line council services.

This strategy helps ensure there is a strong and resilient foundation to the Council’s property 
holdings and that council taxpayers’ money is invested safely and wisely to ensure the 
services can continue to be supported against the background of tight financial settlements 
from central government. (TO BE UPDATED)

Chris Tambini, 
Director of Corporate Resources

The Corporate Asset Investment Fund is an important source of funding for the Council.

As central government support is reducing, it is important for the Council to ensure its long-
term financial viability and stability. One important way this is achieved is by becoming more 
commercial and looking for new and innovative ways to safeguard the Council’s services that 
people of Leicestershire rely on.  (UPDATE)

106



3   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction............................................................................................................................................. 4

2. Strategic Objectives ............................................................................................................................. 5

3. Legal Context .......................................................................................................................................... 7

4. Investment Strategy 2021 to 2025 ............................................................................................... 8

5. Financial Returns ................................................................................................................................13

6. Investment Assessments .................................................................................................................17

7. Risk...........................................................................................................................................................20

8. Risk Summary ......................................................................................................................................24

9. Performance Monitoring / Benchmarking ..................................................................................25

10. Staff Resources....................................................................................................................................27

Appendix A - Quantitative Performance Indicators ............................................................................28

Appendix B  ...................................................................................................................................................29

Updated January 2021

107



4   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Leicestershire County Council (the Council) owns and manages property and other 
investments, some of which are held for the purposes of generating income to support 
front line services. These types of investments are held in and funded through the 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund (the Fund) which the Council established in 2014.

1.2 Such investments have a significant and growing value that represent a means by 
which the Council can continue to provide high quality services to the people of 
Leicestershire despite the ongoing pressure on public finances. Since 2014, income 
generated by the Fund has reduced the amount of savings required to be made, and 
the impact on service provision to residents and businesses in the County which might 
otherwise have been adversely affected.

1.3 The Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy for 2020 to 2024 is aimed at 
supporting the growth of the Fund to further improve the Council’s financial resilience 
as government grants continue to fall, and demand on services and operating costs 
continue to rise. It outlines how the Council will look to make investments during this 
period utilising the Fund and how it will manage these to help achieve the strategic 
priorities of the Council.

1.4 Whilst a key priority is to continue to increase the income/revenue for the Council from 
its investments, the Strategy sets out processes to ensure this is done in a transparent 
and safe and secure way, ensuring adequate liquidity should the Council ever need to 
call upon the capital invested, that risks are properly identified and managed and that 
performance is monitored continuously.

1.5 The Strategy for 2021/25 includes reference to indirect and non-property investments. 
These forms of investments have gained greater prominence within the Fund which 
now includes investments in Pooled Property Funds and private debt. 

1.6 The Strategy is an integral part of the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and intrinsically linked with the Corporate Asset Management Plan (CAMP) and 
the Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy and it should be 
read in conjunction with these documents.

1.7 The Council is committed to ensuring the Fund owns effective and efficient assets 
which enhance the environment and biodiversity in the county where possible and 
improves the lives of communities in the county whilst maximising opportunities to 
generate secure, long term, income streams such that the Fund is able to assist the 
Council deliver its front line services.

108



5   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

2.1 The aims of this Strategy have been aligned with the five Strategic Outcomes set out in 
the Council’s Strategic Plan (below) which will play a key role, alongside the Medium-
Term Financial Strategy, in shaping the Council’s investment activities over the next 
four years. The continued growth of the Fund during 2020 to 2024 will be at the 
heart of the Council’s ability to deliver these objectives and other Council policies and 
programmes going forward.

Strong Economy - Leicestershire’s economy is growing and 
resilient so that people and businesses can fulfil their potential.

Wellbeing and Opportunity - The people of Leicestershire have 
the opportunities and support they need to take control of their 
health and wellbeing.

Keeping People Safe - People in Leicestershire are safe and 
protected from harm.

Great Communities - Leicestershire communities are thriving and 
integrated places where people help and support each other and 
take pride in their local area.

Affordable and Quality Homes - Leicestershire has a choice of 
quality homes that people can afford.

2.2 The specific aims of this Strategy are to ensure investments funded or held in the Fund:

• Support the objectives of the Council’s MTFS.

• Generate an income stream which increases the Council’s financial resilience given the 
decrease in government funding.

• Supports the delivery of front-line services through increased income generation, or 
through capital investments that will reduce operating costs.

• Supports the Council’s strategic objective of affordable and quality homes through helping 
to unlock and accelerate developments.

• Manage investment risk by investing in diverse sectors.

• Meet the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan, Strategic Plan, its 
Economic Growth Plan and the County-wide Local Industrial Strategy.

• Maximise returns on Council owned property assets.

109



6   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

•  Support growth in the county and its economic area of influence and ensure there is a 
more diverse range of properties and land assets available to meet the aims of economic 
development.

• Support the Council in maximizing the benefit from its financial assets in a risk aware way 
(not including standard treasury management activity)1.

1 Treasury Management activity with banks, local authorities and the capital market are not in the scope of this 
Strategy, such activities being undertaken in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy and Invest-
ment Strategy agreed annually by the County Council.

110



7   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

LEGAL CONTEXT

3.3 Section 12 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 2003 Act) provides a general power 
to invest:

“(a) for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment or

(b) for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs”

3.4 The power contained in Section 12 (a) cannot be used for investing purely to create 
a return as this is not considered to be a purpose relevant to the Council’s functions 
whereas the power in Section 12 (b) may be used for investing to create a return as 
it may be prudent when used with other measures to manage the Council’s financial 
affairs.

3.5 Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972 (the 1972 Act) provides the power for 
the acquisition of land by agreement (whether inside or outside the authority’s area) for 
the purpose of:

“Any of their functions under this or any other enactment, or the benefit, improvement 
or development of their area”

3.6 Acquisition can take place notwithstanding that the land is not immediately required for 
that purpose.

3.7 Further power is conferred upon an authority by the Localism Act 2011 (the 2011 
Act). Section 1 of this Act introduced a new General Power of Competence which gave 
local authorities the power to do anything that individuals generally of full legal capacity 
may do. This Act is widely drawn and includes reference to commercial activities which 
do not necessarily have to benefit the local authority’s area. However, this power is 
subject to a requirement that any actions being carried out for a “commercial purpose” 
must be done “through a company”, (i.e. a company within the meaning of s.1 (1) 
Companies Act 2006).

3.8 The approach of the County Council to date has been to rely on the powers set out 
in the 2003 Act. At present, this has not required the setting up of a company for its 
property and non-property investment activities using the Fund. However, it is likely to 
be necessary in the future, if the Council wishes to expand and diversify the scope of 
its investments. Such arrangements are not detailed in this Strategy at this stage.

3.9 The Strategy should be read in conjunction with the Capital Strategy, Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy and taken together take into 
account the statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State under the Local 
Government Act 2003.

111



8   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2021 TO 2025

4.1 The Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy is a high-level summary of the Council’s 
approach to investments made for the purposes of generating an income. It sets out 
the criteria and the processes and practices that will be considered and followed when 
carrying out such activities.

4.2 The Strategy developed for 2021 to 2025 has been aligned with the Council’s MTFS 
timetable and reflects the aspiration of the current Capital Programme to invest in 
assets that will secure a long-term return. It is designed to provide a framework 
that is flexible enough for the Council to compete in the commercial market whilst 
ensuring governance processes are in place, full assessments are made, and risks are 
minimised.

Use of the Fund
4.3 The primary use of the Fund will be to:

4.3.1 develop new or existing assets to meet Council service needs where this will 
reduce operating costs or, for example, meet local housing needs, whilst at the 
same time securing a return for the Council;

4.3.2 continue to acquire both parcels of land for development and standalone income 
producing investments;

4.3.3 continue to make better use of underperforming investment assets already 
owned by the Council, to redevelop these where appropriate to ensure they meet 
the needs of local businesses, meet current market expectations and achieve a 
higher economic return;

4.3.4 maintain progress in the restructuring and rebalancing of the property portfolio 
(including the use of pooled property funds).

4.4 In addition, the Fund includes investment in Private Debt. Approval was granted by the 
Cabinet in December 2017 to invest up to £20m in private debt. Such investments are 
covered by the treasury management strategy agreed annually by the County Council. 
However, the funding, and overall monitoring of these investments are being picked 
up under the Corporate Asset Investment Fund to reflect the potential higher risk/ 
higher reward nature of the investment and also to provide diversification to the overall 
portfolio of the Fund.

4.5 The Fund will be reviewed, and performance of individual investments assessed on 
an annual basis. Where performance of an investment cannot be improved to an 
acceptable level, this will be disposed of. The sale proceeds from such disposals will 
either be reinvested or directed to other service needs.

112



9   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

Growth of the Fund
4.6 The overall value of the Fund as at 31st March 2018 was £100m from which an 

annual income of approximately £4m per annum is derived. The value of the fund 
is expected to incrrease to £120m by 31st March 2019. In addition, there is also 
underlying growth (capital growth) being achieved on the value of the assets.

4.7 An overall target return for the fund is 7%, made up of a combination of capital growth 
and revenue income. 

4.8 Decisions on how the investment programme is funded will be defined by the Council’s 
Treasury Management strategy and considered as part of the MTFS.

4.9 The CAIF programme has an original target of growing to £200m by the end of the 
MTFS. Existing holdings plus named projects in the draft capital programme for 
2019/20 will result in a CAIF investment of £186m. The balance of £14m has been 
included in the draft programme as future asset acquisitions.

4.10 Further investment opportunities have been identified that could increase the overall 
CAIF programme to £260m. These are at very early stages and have therfore not been 
included within the draft 4 year capital programme. Given the overall availability of 
discretionary capital resources and the estimated calls on the Future Developments 
fund, it is likely that these projects would require prudential borrowing. This would only 
be considered where the investment return would cover the additional borrowing costs. 

113



10   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

INVESTMENT CRITERIA

5.1 When investing the Council’s financial resources action will be taken to ensure: -

• That principal sums invested are safeguarded as far as possible;

• That they provide adequate liquidity;

• That investment returns (or yield) are considered and balanced against 
potential risk factors.

5.2 Once liquidity (the ability to ensure (as far as is practicable) that should the Council 
wish to divest itself of an asset, it can do so without incurring any material loss) has 
been confirmed, the following criteria will be considered as appropriate when assessing 
a potential investment (including developments):

• Security of the principal capital to be invested (both for land acquisitions and 
development/construction proposals);

• Return on investment (revenue and capital growth);

• Sensitivity analysis (i.e. returns pre and post rent reviews, voids assumption, 
end of life repair/disposal etc.);

• Any legal issues (restrictive covenants etc.) regarding the title of the land/ 
property;

• Any potential liabilities (such as land contamination/asbestos);

• Sustainability (the energy performance of any existing property and its   use);

• Full cost of the acquisition (land value, fees, end of life costs etc.);

• Fit with the current portfolio;

• Exit strategy.

In addition, any property investment opportunities will also be considered with 
particular regard to:

• Actual income: The income produced by the asset is the most important 
element of a potential acquisition. The income from an asset is governed 
by the lease length, rent review pattern, break options, vacancy rates and 
management costs.

• Development potential income: The total income assuming the site is fully 
developed (with cash flow timescales).

• Tenant: The financial standing and viability of any existing (or potential) 
tenants’ covenants is to be considered.

• Location: More weighting is given to acquiring assets or land in an area      
that is viewed to be economically buoyant and has the ability of sustainable 
financial and economic growth, over the life time of the investment. There is a 
need, however, to be mindful of the ratio of investments within and without of 
the county.

• Sector: The strength of the investment or development sector should be 
considered in relation to its location, rather than in isolation. (e.g. a hotel in 
Leicester would be scored lower than a hotel in London).

114



11   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

• Building: The age and construction of any existing buildings should be taken   
into account in the decision-making process. This should include how energy 
efficient the building/s is/are. The potential for future structural repairs, retrofits 
and refurbishment expenses for both the Fund and the occupiers should be 
limited as much as possible. The Fund should not purchase a property let on 
a term which exceeds the economic life expectancy of the buildings.

5.3 Once an asset/investment opportunity has been identified, it should be considered as 
objectively as possible to ensure that the overall aims of the Fund are achieved in a 
coordinated and measured way.

5.4 The adequacy of the estimated financial return will be judged against the certainty of 
the return materialising, with riskier investments expected to demonstrate a potential for 
higher returns.

115



12   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

Environmental, Social Governance (ESG)
In 2018 the County Council adopted a new environment strategy (‘Environment 
Strategy 2018 - 2030 – delivering a better future’) which contains the following 
commitment:

“The UK Government’s recent Clean Growth Strategy underlines the role that local 
government has in delivering and supporting our evolution to a low carbon society 
as we respond to these national and international commitments. The urgent need for 
concerted international action on climate change has been recognised by over 170 
countries globally. 

The Paris Agreement of 2015 requires countries to work together in limiting global 
temperature rise to below 1.5 to 2°C, the recognised level established by the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change to limit the risks and impacts of climate 
change. The interconnection between economic development, social equity and 
inclusion and environmental impacts has also been recognised internationally via the 
2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. In recognition of this the County Council 
has signed up to UK 100 which commits the Council to achieving 100% clean energy 
by 2050.”

Furthermore, in May 2019, County Councillors unanimously backed a motion calling 
for more to be done by the authority to cut pollution and declared a climate emergency. 
Leicestershire County Council now has an aim for its own operations to be carbon 
neutral by 2030.

In light of this, the Fund will aim to ensure that its developments will be built in 
as sustainable a manner as possible with the aim of being net zero carbon in the 
construction phase and as energy efficient to occupy and operate as possible (including 
the use, where viable, of on-site renewable energy sources).

Furthermore, the developments will achieve net biodiversity gain and also push 
waste up the Waste Hierarchy by adopting a reduce, reuse, recycle approach to the 
management of waste particularly during the construction phase.

The wider public health agenda issues such as obesity, mental health, general health 
and wellbeing will also form part of the decision-making criteria as to what makes a 
good development design and layout. When deciding how and where to invest, the 
County Council is cognisant of the economic, social and environment considerations 
and will seek to ensure that any development it is involved with is a sustainable 
development. 

The County Council will ensure that the relevant environmental, social, and governance 
(ESG) standards are met when seeking to screen potential investments.

1. Environmental criteria will be used to consider how the County Council performs in 
its responsible use and protection of the natural environment through conservation 
and sustainable practices to enhance ecosystem resilience and human well-being. 

2. Social criteria will examine how it manages relationships within the communities 
around the county where the County Council owns assets. 

3. Governance criteria will ensure that the controls and processes for the Fund are 
appropriate and followed.

116



13   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

FINANCIAL RETURNS

Yield
6.1 The level of yield required balances security and liquidity. The term ‘yield’ can be 

defined as:

“The annual return on an investment, expressed as a percentage of the capital value”

6.2 For example, the annual rent received on a property investment is currently £50,000 
per year gross. If the property has been valued at £1,000,000 then the revenue yield 
is 5%:

Yield = Annual Rental Income x 100

Capital Value

5% = (50,000/1,000,000) x 100

6.3 However, in addition there is also the potential capital growth which reflects how the 
value of an asset changes over time. If, for example, the value of the £1,000,000 
investment had risen to £1,025,000 by the end of the first year; this would give capital 
growth of 2.5% and a combined gross yield / return of 7.5%

6.4 The yield figure will reflect the various risks involved in the investment. By and large, 
the higher the level of uncertainty (e.g. a tenant with a poor credit rating) the higher the 
required yield would be.

6.5 The average/balanced target yield for investments made by the Fund is 7% nominal. 
There will be costs incurred in managing the Fund and also costs associated with 
abortive work (feasibility studies, consultant work/staff time unsuccessful acquisitions 
bids).

6.6 Individual lot sizes can each be considered on their merits as long as they conform to 
the agreed overall portfolio mix.

6.7 Assuming that investment/development property is the only asset class of investment 
that is being considered, the overall return of a standalone investment will vary 
depending on the market sector, the nature of the property asset acquired and the 
characteristics of the tenant in the acquired property.

6.8 Whilst aiming for a yield of 7%, the Fund will seek to invest in a balanced way over 
several market sectors and types of investment in order to balance risk with securing 
the best return on investment.

117



14   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

Internal Rate of Return
6.9 Whilst yield is a useful measure for assessing the merits of an investment, yield will 

change over the life of an investment. To give a longer-term perspective, the Internal 
Rate of Return (IRR) is a metric that is used to assess the strength of an investment. 
The IRR is the interest rate at which the net present value of all cash flows arising 
from an investment is equal to zero. In calculating an estimated IRR, a number of 
assumptions need to be made in terms of projecting future expenditure and income 
streams including the future capital value of the investment holding. As a guide 
a minimum IRR of 7% is a high-level assessment for whether an investment is 
worthwhile.

Other Balancing Factors
6.10 Other balancing factors to be reviewed regularly with respect to property investments 

(with the following approximate targets) are:

Location

In County
Out of 
County

In terms of amount of fund 
invested.

75% 25%

Asset type

Development site
Standalone 
investment

In terms of amount of fund 
invested.

75% 25%

Tenant Risk

Low Medium High Risk
Look for spread of risk 
(higher risk for small 
industrial units, lower risk 
for large office investments/ 
development)

25% 50% 25%

Lease length

Short  
<5 years

Medium 
5-10 years

Long  
10 years +

Look for spread of leases 
lengths (shorter for small 
low value assets, longer 
for high value investments/ 
developments

25% 50% 25%

118



15   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

Independent Review
6.11 In December 2020 County Council instructed an independent review of the CAIF strategy 

and the sectors in which it invests. Whilst the review broadly agreed with the Strategy as 
previously written, some adjustments have been made to the in light of this advice. The 
Hymans report (Appendix B) highlights within section 6 the main next steps.

6.12 The recommendations on page 16 advises whether to increase, maintain or reduce 
holdings in each asset class. The recommendations have been considered and for 
clarity, if the projects in the development pipeline are included, the recommendations 
are broadly achieved.  Notes of significance with respect to the Hymans 
recommendation are included below.

Asset Class

Value at  
31st 

March 
2020

Portfolio 
Balance at  
31st March 

2020

Hymans Strategic 
Recommendation

Valuation 
including  
Pipeline 
Projects

Portfolio Balance 
on completion of 
Pipeline Projects

Direct Property Portfolio
Offices £27.2m 15.9% Maintain or reduce £49.2m 21.8%
Industrials £12.4m 7.3% Increase £46.5m 20.6%
Distribution £0.5m 0.3% Increase £6.3m 2.8%
Rural £22.5m 13.3% Maintain or reduce £23.0m 10.2%
Other £4.4m 2.6% £12.9m 5.7%
Infrastructure New Allocation £8.7m 3.8%
Development £58.8m 34.4% £34.0m 15.1%
Direct Property 
(including Development)

£125.8m 73.6% £180.6m 80.0%

Direct Property 
(excluding Development)

£67.0m 39.2% £146.6m 64.9%

Pooled Fund Portfolio
Property (Core Commercial) £24.8m 14.5% Decrease £24.8m 11.0%
Private Debt £20.3m 11.9% Maintain or increase £20.3m 9.0%
Residential New Allocation
Infrastructure New Allocation
Pooled Fund Portfolio £45.1m 26.4% £45.1m 20.0%
Total £170.9m 100.0% £225.7m 100.0%
Increase in value required 
to meet investment target

£99.1m £34.3m

Investment Target £260.0m £260.0m
Notes:

1. Pipeline projects comprise schemes completed since 31st March 2020, projects within the Capital 
Programme and projects with positive business cases awaiting CAIFAB approval.

2. The valuation of pipeline projects represents the value of the completed project based on current rental 
and yield expectations

3. Land within the East of Lutterworth SDA remains in the Development Sector as the delivery strategy 
has yet to be finalised and approved by Cabinet. The land is valued either on the basis of purchase price 
(Acquisitions) or in accordance with CIPFA Guidelines (County Farms land).

119



16   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

6.13 Offices – Hymans recommend a maintain / reduce weight however the estimated 
weight shows a growth in total weight to c22%. A large office building let to a high 
quality tenant on a long lease has now completed and explains the increase.

6.14 Infrastructure – Hymans recommend a new allocation to infrastructure. The portfolio 
has a scheme in the pipeline that would contribute towards this target.  In addition, 
the CAIF will engage with LGPS Central, “Central”, (the part owned pension pooling 
company) who will be delivering infrastructure pooling investment products. The 
County Council should take a view to leveraging our access to the knowledge and 
expertise at Central to the benefit of the CAIF.  The Pension Fund has a number of long 
standing open ended infrastructure investments which may also be considered when 
deciding on a relevant weight within this category.

6.15 Property core – Hymans recommend a reduction.  The weight will naturally reduce as the 
CAIF invests up to the £260m target.  In addition, the CAIF holds a closed ended pooled 
property funds that have a finite life and as such they will eventually return capital to the 
fund and reduce the weight.  The remaining pooled property funds could also be divested 
at a time where the valuations and / or investment profiles are in the funds favour.

6.16 Private Debt – Hymans recommend a maintain or increase weighting.  The fund has 
invested in a product that will begin to return capital over the coming years and as such 
a relevant replacement will need to be sourced.  Central are in the process of designing a 
private debt investment product for the eight Local Authorities who are part owners and 
have an interest in the private debt asset class.  The CAIF could leverage the knowledge 
and experience available.  A product from Central is being developed in 2021.

6.17 Residential Property – Hymans recommend initiating a new allocation to this class.  
Again, Central may include residential exposure within their indirect pooled property 
offering that is yet to be designed.  The Pension Fund is also interested in a similar 
offering and as such it would make sense to understand the overlap and if one product 
can service both the CAIF and pension fund.

6.18 Underpinning the use of Central will be subject to potential legal approval surrounding 
non pension fund assets investing into funds managed by Central.

6.19 Residential properties - As per Central Government guidance, any local housing 
authority that owns 200 or more social dwellings are required to account for them 
within their Housing Revenue Account. A ‘Local housing authority’ means a district 
council, a London borough council, the Common Council of the City of London, a 
metropolitan borough council, a unitary council, or the Council of the Isles of Scilly. 
County councils, where they are part of a two-tier system (such as Leicestershire 
County Council), parish councils and town councils are not local housing authorities. 
Therefore, a trading company would need to be incorporated for the County Council to 
own such residential assets for income producing means.

6.20 The County Council owns a large County Farms Estate as part of the Fund and, where 
appropriate, brings land forward for development. In the past, when this development 
has been residential in nature, the County Council has sold the land with the benefit 
of planning permission to the private sector to develop.  In order to assist in bringing 
forward the housing numbers the county needs; the County Council is becoming more 
involved in the planning and delivery stages.  By being part of the whole development 
process, not only will the County Council help set the pace of new homes delivery 
(where it is able) but the financial returns will be enhanced.

120



17   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

INVESTMENT ASSESSMENTS

7.1 This Strategy places emphasis on openness, transparency and consistency. It aims to 
ensure maximum benefit from the effective purchase and subsequent management 
of the Council’s assets, but within a framework which can be adaptable to market 
conditions. Within this framework, the Council must act within the appropriate legal 
framework, in a demonstrably fair and open manner, and consider whole life costs.

Direct Property Investments
7.2 Each proposed direct property investment proposal (including both proposals to acquire 

and/or develop property) will be subject to a three-stage appraisal process as detailed 
below, although given the need to respond quickly to opportunities as they become 
available, a degree of flexibility is required and some of these stages may be combined.

STAGE 1 - Initial Assessment
7.3 The first phase of determining whether a direct property investment opportunity is 

worth proceeding with consists of a number of separate assessments:

1. Strategic Fit

2. Risk Profile

3. Yield Profile

4. Tenancy Terms

5. Planning Overview

6. Site Inspection

7. Potential capital Growth

8. Valuation

7.4 Strategic Property Services will first prepare an Initial Appraisal Report (IAR) which is 
intended to answer the basic question – ‘is the asset worth acquiring?’.

7.5 The IAR considers the likelihood of the proposed investment achieving the return 
required, the size and barriers to entry of the market, plus its suitability to the Council’s 
own ethical standards, the quantum of risk and complexity, the payback period 
and how much the Council knows about the proposal (i.e. are there just too many 
unknowns?). Initial basic property details are also recorded at this time.

7.6 The answers to these key points will give a simple yet effective picture of the proposal 
and will allow an early decision to be made by the Director of Corporate Resources as 
to whether an investment is worth pursuing.

7.7 The process is run by the Strategic Property Services team and the decisions 
summarised in a regular report to the Director of Corporate Resources.

7.8 A challenge can be raised through the Strategic Property Services team, ultimately to 
the Director of Corporate Resources, but there must be no multiple consideration of the 
same proposal during the initial process. Once it has been deemed a fail, unless there 
is a fundamental error in the data provided or a paradigm shift on the proposal itself 
then the activity must cease.

121



18   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

STAGE 2 – Financial Appraisal and Business Case
7.9 Once the asset/site has passed the initial evaluation, a financial appraisal and business 

case will be prepared to establish the financial/budgetary implications of acquiring the 
property at the negotiated price.

7.10 An independent property advisory firm will also be consulted on the opportunity and 
their report made known to the Board if the proposal is progressed beyond stage two.

7.11 The aim of the financial appraisal and business case is to assess how the acquisition 
will perform. It will consider all the acquisition costs and any potential income, the 
associated risks and then assess whether the asset is a suitable acquisition from a 
financial perspective. This process will be led by the Strategic Finance Service, but the 
Director and the Board will be kept advised as projects are assessed and negotiated.

Other Council Consultees
7.12 After the identification of an asset, it will be incumbent on Strategic Property Services 

as Fund Manager to establish whether there may be constraints on the development or 
use of the asset.

7.13 In some cases, it may be appropriate to seek planning permission for a form of 
development prior to acquiring land. Strategic Property Services will consult with 
planning and highways colleagues (and other departments as appropriate) together 
with external consultants to decide whether planning permission should be sought prior 
to acquisition (conditional contract).

7.14 As part of this consultation, advice will be sought on suitable alternative uses for the 
site/asset. In case the existing or proposed use becomes unviable in the future, it is 
useful to have an alternative use value. The relative monetary risk of the investment 
can be quantified using this information.

7.15 Contemporaneously with the planning audit, the Council’s legal section will be asked 
to undertake title searches of the land to ensure that the title is clean and there are no 
abnormal issues with the land that would be detrimental from a legal perspective.

7.16 Any existing or proposed tenant will also be credit checked.

Valuation
7.17 Valuation advice will usually be provided by a professionally qualified member of 

the Council’s Estates team. Where the advice required is particularly specialist or, if 
otherwise appropriate, valuation advice may be provided by another suitably qualified 
external surveyor.

122



19   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

STAGE 3 - Approval to Acquire/Develop
7.18 If the investment satisfies both stages one and two of the appraisal process, then on 

reaching agreement in principle as to the terms of acquisition, a detailed report will be 
prepared for consideration by the Board. Subject to the Board’s support, acquisitions 
will then either be presented to the Cabinet for approval (necessary due to the size, 
complexity or risk (financial or reputational) of the proposed investment) or will be 
progressed by the Director of Corporate Resources under delegated powers. This report 
will set out how the acquisition is in accordance with agreed Council priorities and this 
Strategy.

7.19 Each business case will be approved by the Director of Corporate Resources (Section 
151 officer) prior to presentation and discussion at the Board, which is chaired by the 
Lead Member for Resources.

7.20 All acquisitions shall have the necessary budgetary and relevant approvals before the 
acquisition is completed.

7.21 For clarity any decision that requires an approval of expenditure of more than 
£100,000 but less than £5 million can be made by the Director of Corporate 
Resources under the powers delegated by the Council.

7.22 Any decision that requires an approval of expenditure of less than £100,000 (and is 
line with a previous approved budget/scheme) can be made by the Head of Strategic 
Property Services’.

7.23 Any decision that requires an approval of expenditure of more than £5m will require 
Cabinet approval.

7.24 Cabinet approval is required for any ‘out-of-county’ direct property investment 
acquisitions.

7.25 Any indirect or non-property investment acquisitions ‘out-of-county’ are within the 
delegated authority of the Director of Corporate Resources

Surveys and Instructions
7.26 When all appropriate surveys (which must include an asbestos survey where the 

acquisition involves a building erected prior to 1999) have been satisfactorily 
completed or provided, the Council’s legal services team will be instructed to complete 
the documentation associated with the acquisition.

Other Investments
7.27 Other investments, such as into pooled property funds and private debt, will be subject 

to approval as part of the Council’s overall financial management processes. This will 
include a specific report to Cabinet outlining the potential risks and benefits of the 
investment.

123



20   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

RISK

8.1 In respect of every investment there will be several risks that need to be assessed 
prior to a project being taken forward and then managed, mitigated and monitored 
throughout the life of a project. The key risks faced by the County Council in respect of 
its investment activities are set out below.

Investment Risk
8.2 The main risk with any investment lies with the ability to ensure the ongoing income 

stream and original investment is maintained and safeguarded.

8.3 For direct property, measures can be taken through, for example, ensuring that the 
tenant is of good covenant and is financially secure.

8.4 If the tenant defaults then whilst there are procedures to recover the rent, this is not 
guaranteed and can be time consuming and costly.

8.5 There are also issues with voids (periods of time when the investment is not income 
producing but the asset is incurring costs such as insurance, security, business rates, 
repairs etc.).

8.6 The ability to attract tenants of sufficient quality/sound covenant will also be affected by 
the macro-economic situation and more regional/location factors.

8.7 Holding an element of the fund in pooled property funds helps to mitigate against these 
risks although for these, and non-property-based investments, there will always be 
a dependency on the overall economic situation, including specifically the prevailing 
interest rate.

Financing Risk
8.8 The Council is to ensure compliance with the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 

Local Authorities and ensure liquidity and security of the principal capital and not to tie 
up resources into long term situations whereby short-term cash needs cannot be met or 
cannot be met without a significant financial penalty.

8.9 The returns generated by the Fund need to reflect the potential for the principal invested 
to reduce and for lost liquidity. A minimum total nominal return of 6.1% is sought in 
every investment (3.5% Green Book * 2.5% average inflation). This is reviewed (at 
least) annually for changes in the opportunity cost of the Council’s resources (e.g. 
borrowing) and other factors such as inflation and returns available elsewhere. Detail of 
how financial returns on investments will be assessed is set out in Appendix A of this 
Strategy below.

8.10 Decisions relating to the financing of investment and/or development will be taken in 
conjunction with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy both approved each year as part of the Council’s MTFS.

124



21   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

Reputational Risk
8.11 It is important that the reputation of the Council is protected during both times of 

financial restraint or otherwise in the investments that it makes.

Development Risk
8.12 This risk is specifically associated with developing property and these are higher than 

those risks associated with acquiring an already built property investment or investing 
in pooled property funds. This is therefore reflected in the potential returns.

8.13 Build cost over runs and delays during the pre and the main construction phases will 
directly affect the profitability of the scheme and (as above) the risk of not securing a 
tenant to pay the rent is higher when dealing with new builds.

8.14 This can be mitigated by not building speculatively but only with an identified occupier 
tenant already in place, legally secured through an Agreement to Lease. However, this 
may not always be the best strategy as some prospective tenants may wish to see the 
building in place first before entering into a contract. Each of these scenarios will be 
judged on a merit basis as they arise.

8.15 Officers will continue to keep the Director of Corporate Resources updated on projects 
to ensure that risks are monitored, eradicated or mitigated (or, in project management 
risk terms, the strategies to be employed are: treat, tolerate, transfer, terminate) where 
possible.

Managing Risks 
Direct Property Investment Appraisal Process

8.16 In order to minimise the risks associated with any investment being considered the 
Director of Corporate Resources will:

8.16.1 Consider the level of return required from the capital that is invested. Each 
proposal should review the liquidity of the proposed acquisition and a fully 
costed exit strategy should the asset underperform and is not capable of being 
improved.

8.16.2 Undertake a cost/benefit analysis to fully understand the likely returns, 
identify any hidden costs and include key metrics such Expected Yield, 
Internal Rate of Return and Payback period.

8.16.3 Undertake a market analysis to ascertain the likelihood of success across a 
full range of indicators.

8.16.4 Consider the use of external expertise where required to enhance the internal 
knowledge/ skills of officers and provide a greater level of assurance on 
the risks and mitigations involved, with the quality of the advice measured 
through the performance of each individual proposal against the benchmark/ 
target rate as set in the original business case and reported through to the 
Board regularly.

125



22   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

8.16.5 Produce a risk register for each property investment opportunity and update 
this annually. As each risk is analysed, a score which is a factor of probability 
and impact will be calculated (as per chart below) to ascertain the need for 
prioritising any actions to either tolerate, treat, terminate or transfer each 
particular highlighted risk.

Impact (Negative)

Minor Moderate Major Critical
1 2 3 4

P
ro

ba
bi

lit
y 4 Almost Certain Medium (4) High (8) Very High (12) Very High (16)

3 Likely Medium (3) High (6) High (9) Very High (12)
2 Possible Low (2) Medium (4) High (6) High (8)
1 Unlikely Low (1) Low (2) Medium (3) Medium (4)

8.17 The property investments will be considered as part of a diverse asset portfolio, to 
mitigate the risk associated with any single investment proposal. This diversification 
will include selecting a range of proposals with mixed payback, investment levels, 
returns, geographical locations, investment liquidity, specialist’s skills and markets.

Fraud and Corruption
8.18 The Director of Corporate Resources will ensure that risks of loss through fraud, error, 

corruption or other such eventualities in its investment dealings are mitigated as far as 
is practicable and that these systems and procedures in place to tackle this are robust.

8.19 The Director and officers are alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of 
an attempt to involve it in a transaction involving the laundering of money. Accordingly, 
procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties (e.g. tenants) will 
be maintained, as will arrangements for reporting suspicions, and ensuring that all 
members of staff involved in such dealings are properly trained.

8.20 Items that will be regularly reviewed as part of every transaction will include:

8.20.1 Powers to own property investments

8.20.2 Money laundering risks

8.20.3 Property fraud risks

8.20.4 Changes to property legislation (e.g. Energy Act)

8.20.5 Appropriate third party checks before transacting

8.20.6 Due diligence in transactions

8.20.7 Keeping abreast of impact of legislative changes

8.20.8 Regular inspections of the assets

8.21 Full records of the purchase process will be kept in a separate file relating to the 
property and these records shall include details as to the valuation relied on in making 
the decision to acquire, the financial appraisal together with consents, approvals and 
papers recording the decisions taken under delegated powers. Such documents will 
form part of the public record.

126



23   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

Member and Officer Oversight
8.22 The Council will continue to ensure the prudent management of its investments and for 

giving priority firstly to the security of the capital.

8.23 The Council will continue to ensure that procedures for monitoring, assessing and 
mitigating the risk of loss of invested sums are robust. The Board will play a vital role in 
assessing investment proposals early on and thereafter monitoring projects and overall 
performance of the Fund.

8.24 Financial performance of the Fund is monitored by officers and members on a regular 
basis. The Cabinet and the Scrutiny Commission will receive regular MTFS monitoring 
reports which include information on the operation of the Fund. These bodies also 
receive an annual report on investment activity undertaken during each financial year 
which also provides an update on ongoing projects.

8.25 Officers have continuous oversight of matters relating to property assets held for both 
service delivery and investment purposes. These are monitored through the Asset 
Management Working Group and the Corporate Property Steering Group chaired by the 
Director of Corporate Resources.

8.26 Effective management and control of risk are prime objectives in the management of 
the Fund. Any risk identified will form part of the managing departments Risk Register 
Which will be managed and mitigated and reassessed regularly in accordance with the 
Council’s usual practice. Where appropriate, any significant risks will be captured on 
the Council’s Corporate Risk Register which is overseen and monitored by the Council’s 
Corporate Governance Committee

127



24   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

RISK SUMMARY

9.1 The Fund is to acquire property investments (where the Fund is purely buying an 
income stream), property development sites (where the Fund will be involved in finding 
tenants and building schemes out) and other property/strategic land (where there is an 
expectation of a future capital gain).

9.2 This could be either directly or indirectly as part of the managed fund (pooled property). 
The Fund is also acquiring debt but not considering, at this stage, investing in other 
investable assets (commodities, FTSE shares etc.).

9.3 The Fund is unlikely to acquire surplus operational property (that is being disposed of) 
where it has no development potential.

9.4 The Council must consider its ability to recall invested funds; including the length 
of time and the ease and cost with which said investments can be returned in their 
entirety.

9.5 It is important for the Council to consider the key requirement of the Prudential Code 
which requires authorities not to tie up resources into long term situations whereby 
short-term cash needs cannot be met or cannot be met without a significant financial 
penalty. There must be a clear understanding and forecast of short-term cash needs 
which will need to be fully provided for by the Council before it considers longer term 
capital tie in.

9.6 This portfolio view, as well as individual asset classes, will be regularly reported to the 
Board, the Cabinet and the Scrutiny Commission.

9.7 Each individual proposal will have an exit strategy clearly articulated in the original 
business case which will provide an indicative timeline for the repayment of capital/ 
returning of funds once the decision has been made to divest, subject to market 
conditions.

128



25   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

PERFORMANCE MONITORING/ 
BENCHMARKING

10.1 CIPFA guidance states that: -

“Performance measurement is a process designed to calculate the effectiveness of a 
portfolios or managers investment returns or borrowing costs, and the application of the 
resulting data for the purposes of comparison with the performance of other portfolios 
or managers, or with recognised industry standards or market indices.”

10.2 It is clearly important to monitor performance to ensure that any judgements being 
made are the right ones.

10.3 The Fund is subject to regular valuations – with a regular review of investment methods 
as well as the delivery models. This will also include a regular assessment of the credit 
worthiness etc. of the Fund’s tenants.

10.4 It is the Council’s aim to achieve a stable long-term surplus, profit and value for money 
from its investment activities.

10.5 As part of the performance reporting of the commercial programme the Board will 
consider not only new investment proposals, but also ongoing reporting of commercial 
activity outlining:

10.5.1 the performance of the portfolio,

10.5.2 the future pipeline of opportunities,

10.5.3 the investment forecast,

10.5.4 the risks and mitigations,

10.5.5 the detailed performance and commentary of each investment/ development 
proposal within the portfolio.

10.6 The reporting will be effective enough to allow the Board to support decisions on the 
future of each investment proposal considering four key outcomes:

Increase - the proposal is performing well, and every indicator shows that the Council 
should increase the amount invested to generate a greater return

Continue - the proposal is performing well, and every indicator shows that the Council 
should continue with the existing levels of investment

Warning - the proposal is not performing well and should be closely monitored and 
remedial action taken. If the proposals poor performance hasn’t been reversed The 
Board should consider alternate strategies

Exit/Disinvest/Stop - the proposal is not performing well, despite the Council’s best 
efforts, the proposal should be considered for closure as soon as practicable and the 
exit strategy evoked.

10.7 The commercial approach of the Council has to be considered against the wider CIPFA 
financial regulations and MHCLG guidelines.

129



26   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

10.8 Each investment made by the Council will need to be regularly valued as part of 
the year end accounts closure process, with different asset types requiring differing 
valuation methods and timings.

10.9 There will be an annual analysis of the portfolio mix and re-profiling of the portfolio. 
This includes the current estate as well as new acquisitions. There will be more regular 
reviews in changeable/volatile economic   circumstances.

10.10 The Fund should continue to consider its exposure to both macro and local economic 
downturns and monitor financial market commentaries and reviews on the likely future 
courses of interest rates, exchange rates and inflation and their potential impact on the 
property market and yields.

10.11 The Fund should allow sufficient flexibility both to take advantage of potentially 
advantageous changes in market conditions and to mitigate the effects of potentially 
disadvantageous changes.

10.12 Officers will report regularly to the Director of Corporate Resources and will provide an 
annual report to Cabinet and to the Scrutiny Commission as well as updates throughout 
the year.

10.13 The Fund uses the Investment Property Databank (IPD) Benchmark as its overall 
performance yardstick.

10.14 More financial technical benchmarks such as Expected Yield and Internal rate of Return 
are also used to provide accounting rigor regarding the Fund’s performance.

10.15 Other items such as total investment, risk profile, liquidity and exit costs for the 
individual activities above a certain threshold are summarised in the regular reports to 
The Board.

10.16 The Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd Edition) which is issued 
under s15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 requires local authorities to develop 
quantitative indicators that allow Councillors and the public to assess a local authority’s 
total risk exposure as a result of its decisions (para 22 of the Guidance).

10.17 Therefore, the Council has adopted the quantitative indicators as recommended by 
the Guidance (see Appendix A) and these, where appropriate, will form part of the 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund Annual Report.

130



27   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

STAFF RESOURCES

11.1 The Fund is managed by the Head of Service with support from colleagues in Strategic 
Property Services. The Director of Corporate Resources will ensure that there are 
adequate resources employed to ensure the Fund is managed in a safe and productive 
manner.

131



28   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

APPENDIX A - QUANTITATIVE  
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Quantative Performance indicators
Estimate* 
2020/21 £000s

Estimate* 
2021/22 £000s

Debt to net  
service expenditure  
(NSE) ratio

Gross debt as a percentage of net service expenditure, 
where net service expenditure is a proxy for the size 
and financial strength of a local authority.

n/a n/a

Commercial 
income to  
NSE ratio

Dependence on non-fees and charges income to deliver 
core services. Fees and charges should be netted off 
gross service expenditure to calculate NSE.

1.22% 1.59%

Investment  
cover ratio

The total net income from property investments, 
compared to the interest expense.

n/a n/a

Loan to value 
ratio

The amount of debt compared to the total asset value. n/a n/a

Target income 
returns 

Benchmarking  
of returns

Net revenue income compared to equity. This 
is a measure of achievement of the portfolio of 
properties.

As a measure against other investments and against 
other council’s property portfolios.

2.5%

"5.0% 
vs"

 -2.4% (Sep 20) 
(Pension 
Fund property 
investments)"

3.1%

"5.6%  
vs"

2.6%  
(3yr to Sep 20 
annualised MSCI 
all balance prop 
index UK)

Gross and net 
income

The income received from the investment

portfolio at a gross level and net level (less costs) 
over time.

£8.1m

£4.7m

£10.0m

£6.4m

Operating costs The trend in operating costs of the non-financial 
investment portfolio over time, as the portfolio of 
non-financial investments expands.

£3.4m £3.6m

Vacancy levels and  
Tenant exposures 
for non-financial 
investments

Monitoring vacancy levels (voids) ensure the 
property portfolio is being managed (including 
marketing and tenant relations) to ensure the 
portfolio is productive as possible.

10.90%

(84,000 sq. ft)

10%

(75,000 sq. ft)

Amount of 
tenanted 
farmland 
disposed of vs 
acquired

Monitoring the size of the County Farm Estate. "Disposed = nil 
Acquired =  
37 acres 
Held = 7,438 
acres"

"Disposed = 50 
acres 
Acquired = 0 acres 
Held = 7,388 
acres"

Number of 
tenant farmers

Monitoring how many farmers have taken leases on 
County Farms Properties with particular reference to 
new entrants to the farming sector.

3 lettings,  
0 new entrants

3 lettings, and  
2 new entrants

132



29   Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021-2025

APPENDIX B 
Leicestershire County Council Corporate Asset Investment Fund  
Strategy Review Paper  
December 2020  
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

133



U
07

36

134



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leicestershire County 

Council Corporate Asset 

Investment Fund 
Strategy Review Paper 

 
December 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andy Green, Partner 

Emma McCallum, Investment Consultant 

Adam Porter, Investment Research Consultant 

 

 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

  

135



 

 Leicestershire County Council Corporate Asset Investment Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

December 2020           
  

 

Contents 
 

 Page 

 

1 Introduction 1 
2 Market Background 2 
3 Portfolio Review 5 
4 Strategic Proposals 8 
5 Implementation Considerations 14 
6 Summary and Next Steps 15 
 

Appendix A – UK Property Market: A Sector Review 17 
Appendix B – Infrastructure Market Review 21 

 

 

 

136



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 001 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

1 Introduction  

Addressee 

This paper is addressed to Leicestershire County Council (“the Council”). It provides a strategic review of the 

Council’s Corporate Asset Investment Fund (“CAIF” or the “Fund”) 

We accept no liability where the report is used by, or released or otherwise disclosed to, a third party unless we 

have expressly accepted such liability in writing. Where this is permitted, the report may only be released or 

otherwise disclosed in a complete form which fully discloses our advice and the basis on which it is given. 

Background 

The 2018/19 Annual Report refers to the CAIF as fundamental to the economic, social and environmental 

wellbeing of the people of Leicestershire. The CAIF’s income generated provides increased financial resilience to 

the Council’s ability to deliver a comprehensive range of services in the future. 

The strategic objectives agreed in 2018 are as follows: 

• Ensuring a diverse range of properties available to meet the aims of economic development; 

• Increasing the size of the portfolio; 

• Improving the quality of the land and property available; 

• Ensuring sustainability of the portfolios, replacing land sold to generate capital; 

• Providing a revenue income stream to support ongoing service delivery.  

The Fund is invested in both direct and indirect investments. To align the investments to the strategic objectives, 

the Fund is focused on the purchase of assets that deliver long-term income, with sound covenant and better than 

market yield, rather than a particular sector balance. The direct portfolio consists of property investments across 

the office, industrial, distribution and rural sectors and includes development properties. The indirect portfolio 

consists of six pooled fund investments: five UK property funds and one private debt fund. The Fund’s benchmark 

is the MSCI Monthly All Property Total Return Index. 

137



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 002 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

2 Market Background 

General Economic Review 

The onset of the pandemic has had a profound effect on financial markets so far this year. With populations across 

most of the developed world subject to lockdowns and/or strict social distancing measures, economic activity has 

suffered significantly with significant contractions in GDP experienced during the first half of the year.  

Global GDP growth was slowing even before lockdowns aimed at stemming the spread of COVID-19 led to a 

plunge in activity in the first half of 2020. Q3 GDP releases showed the initial rebound in activity was sharp as 

major economies exited lockdowns. Even so, output remains well below end-2019 levels and high frequency 

activity data suggested a plateauing of the US recovery and a renewed downturn in the UK and Europe since the 

end of the Summer, even before the imposition of new restrictions. Output in most major advanced economies is 

not expected to reach pre-pandemic levels until 2022, at the earliest.  

Inflation has fallen across most countries in the wake of the pandemic – headline UK CPI inflation fell from 1.7% 

to 0.5% over the period. The price of Brent crude oil fell by 38% over the period, with a nadir in Q1 being the 

lowest level seen since 2002.  

The US Federal Reserve (the Fed) and the Bank of England cut rates to record low levels and the European 

Central Bank and Bank of Japan joined the Fed and the BoE in announcing large expansions of quantitative 

easing programs. The Fed’s shift to “flexible” average inflation targeting likely means interest rate rises are even 

further away than previously envisaged.  

Sovereign bond yields fell, reflecting the far more subdued outlook for growth, interest rate and inflation. 10-year 

US and UK government bond yields fell 1.0% p.a. and 0.2% p.a. respectively. Implied inflation, as measured by 

the difference between nominal and index-linked gilt yields of equivalent maturity, fell 0.2% p.a. to 3.3% p.a., as 

nominal yields fell more than real yields.  

The UK economy has suffered one of the worst economic declines owing to the service-based economy. However, 

alongside the pandemic, the UK economy has faced the pro-longed Brexit uncertainty which, at the time of writing, 

remains unresolved. Sterling remains weak amid all this uncertainty.  

Property Market Review 

Property has been one of the asset classes most negatively affected by the pandemic. There was a concern even 

pre-pandemic that elements of the commercial property market were in the downturn phase of a cycle. However, 

the timing of the pandemic means that a normal market cycle cannot be presupposed. In fact, the future of all 

sectors will be affected by the shape of the economic recovery, affecting recent and future performance. 

The Bank of England indicated in August that it expects unemployment to reach 7.5% by the end of 2020, 

assuming a UK-EU trade agreement deal and extension of the furlough scheme. While there have been 

extensions to the furlough scheme, a trade agreement by 1 January 2021 remains uncertain at this stage.  

Hence, relative to the Bank of England position, on the downside, there is therefore the potential for no EU trade 

agreement, a continuation of further national lockdowns to control pandemic waves, or if a vaccine is slow to be 

distributed. 

138



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 003 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Rolling 3 Year Returns of the MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (All Property 2006-) 

 

Source: MSCI. 

The chart above shows that the returns for the UK property market have been falling since early 2016. This 

includes both the total return and capital return which were on an upward trend until Brexit-related uncertainty 

caused both measures to trend downwards. The chart shows that despite the Brexit-related uncertainty, the 

stability of income has remained, with the income return remaining above 5% p.a. Rental growth has also been 

on a downward trend since 2016 reflecting the uncertainty that Brexit has had on the property market.  

While this chart shows how the broad UK property market has performed, it masks significant sector divergence, 

with the industrial sector performing far stronger than the retail sector in particular which has been under significant 

structural change (we explore this later in this paper). 

The UK property market saw an initial steepening of capital value falls in the early months of the pandemic, 

causing total returns to fall, although these have since moderated. Although all sectors have fallen, the retail 

sector has been the standout poorest performer so far this year. 

We have included detailed reviews into the four main commercial property sectors (retail, industrials, offices and 

alternatives) as well as income-based property funds in Appendix A of this paper. 

Forward-Looking Property Return Expectations 

As is expected in times like these, any forecasts for economic growth are ever-changing in the face of changing 

expectations for economic recovery and potential lockdowns. The UK is now officially in a recession. In September 

2020, UK GDP had recovered 16.0% above its low in April but still remained below Q4 2019 by some 8.6%. 

However, there are differing views, even within the Bank of England, as to how protracted the recovery will be 

amid assertions that some sectors may not fully recover.  

For property specifically, capital values at an aggregate level fell through the first half of 2020. However, it is hard 

to base too much certainty about the outlook on these figures - the few transactions that have been completed 

have focused on prime, i.e. best in class assets, and there hasn’t been much of a move in pricing for these assets. 

The temporary protections such as government support, moratorium on evictions, and lenders overlooking 

covenant breaches has removed motivation for any stressed or distressed sellers. While there is some stability 

coming through in the data, it could be seen as a potential “false dawn” if there are more insolvencies and 

unemployment to come and, once transactions normalise, it’s likely that values will fall further. 

-25

-20

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

25

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total Return Capital Growth Income Return Rental Value Growth

139



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 004 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Many property managers we have spoken to expect capital value declines to continue into next year, with CBRE 

predicting a total fall peak-to-trough across all property of about 15% over 11 quarters with the expected trough 

in the first half of 2021. This compares favourably to corrections in the past with the Global Financial Crisis peak 

to trough decline being 40% over 8 quarters and the 1990s correction which took 14 quarters and a value drop of 

25-30%. This smaller peak-to-trough is mainly attributable to the monetary policy backdrop with low yields across 

the board.  

With this unprecedented low yield environment, property yield spreads are relatively wide versus fixed income 

yields from a historical perspective. It is expected that this will give some support to values, suggesting less 

decline than seen in other market shocks.  

With capital values likely to continue to face downward pressure well into 2021, total return expectations among 

those property investors brave enough to make forecasts over the next 3-5 years have low single digit returns for 

UK commercial property. Income returns should mitigate the declining capital values but we do not believe we 

have yet reached the bottom of the current property cycle. While rental growth had been broadly flat over the last 

few years, in mid-2019 this started trending downwards month-on-month. Void rates on the MSCI UK Monthly 

Property Index are also trending higher, driven by increased vacancies in the retail sector and are now above 

historical averages. 

 

 
  

140



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 005 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

3 Portfolio Review 

The table below summarises the Fund’s portfolio as at 31 March 2020: 

Asset Class 

Value at  

31 March 2020 

(million) 

% of Total Fund 
Net Income 

Return (1 Year) 

Capital Return  

(1 Year) 

Direct Portfolio  

(inc. Dev.) 
£125.8 73.6% 2.3% 0.1% 

Direct Portfolio 

(exc. Dev.) 
£67.0 39.2% 4.8% 1.3% 

Offices £27.2 15.9% 6.4% -1.8% 

Industrials £12.4 7.3% 7.8% -2.4% 

Distribution £0.5 0.3% 5.2% -0.2% 

Rural £22.5 13.2% 1.2% 7.8% 

Other £4.4 2.6% 5.1% 1.6% 

Development £58.8 34.4% -0.5% -1.2% 

Pooled Fund Portfolio £45.1 26.4% - - 

Property £24.8 14.5% 3.9% -3.0% 

Private Debt £20.3 11.9% 3.0% 0.7% 

Total £170.9 100.0% 2.7% -0.3% 

 

There are commitments that is forecast to see the value of the Fund’s direct property portfolio grow substantially 

over the next three years. 

We now provide comments on the direct and pooled fund portfolios within the Fund. We note that these figures 

are at 31 March 2020, which was shortly after the UK was plunged into lockdown. Valuers began placing material 

uncertainty clauses on valuations around this time so uncertainty existed on the capital values of the assets held 

by the Fund, both in the direct portfolio and the pooled property funds.  

Direct Portfolio 

Without having extensive details on each individual asset, we would state that the outlook for the Fund’s office 

holdings will depend on the quality and location of each office. Those offices located close to good transport hubs, 

including motorways and train stations, are likely to perform better than those located in less desirable locations. 

Vacancy rates are rising within offices as the pandemic continues and valuers are taking a more aggressive 

stance on vacancies by assuming longer vacant periods, leading to a write-down in capital values. This may 

explain the -1.8% capital return over the year to 31 March 2020, although we would note that the office assets 

delivered a healthy net income return of 6.4%. We note that the Fund’s capital return was impacted by a significant 

revaluation of its Embankment House asset.  

141



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 006 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

The Fund’s rural holdings have performed very well over recent years, largely driven by significant capital growth, 

and this continued over the year to 31 March 2020, with a capital return of 7.8%. Rural land prices have benefited 

from significant capital appreciation over recent years but according to Savills, the future path for rural capital 

values is less certain than in previous years. We expect increased regional divergence in performance so having 

assets in the right locations will be crucial in the Fund’s rural holdings outperforming the wider market. The Fund 

has benefited from a £1.4 million increase in the valuation of Syonsby Farm. 

The industrials sector has performed strongly over recent years, with yields plummeting. The Fund’s industrials 

portfolio has performed differently from the wider market over the last year however, with a capital return of -2.4%, 

although the income return was strong at 7.8%.  

We note that the fund has no exposure to retail sector assets which is a healthy position given the stress continued 

to be experienced in the sector.  

Pooled Fund Portfolio 

The fund has five pooled property fund investments, with the net performance of each fund over the trailing periods 

to 30 September 2020 (latest available) shown below alongside two representative UK property indices: 

 
1 Year 

3 Years  

(% p.a.) 

5 Years  

(% p.a.) 

10 Years  

(% p.a.) 

Aegon (Kames) Active Value Unit 

Trust I 
-6.0% 2.1% 4.5% - 

Aegon (Kames) Active Value Unit 

Trust II 
-1.3% 3.5% - - 

Hermes Property Unit Trust -2.6% 3.8% 5.8% 8.5% 

Lothbury Property Trust -4.2% 2.0% 3.7% 6.9% 

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust -2.7% 2.8% 4.3% 6.3% 

MSCI AREF UK All Balanced 

Property Fund Index 
-2.8% 2.6% 4.1% 6.4% 

MSCI UK Monthly Property Index -2.7% 3.2% 4.6% 7.6% 

Source: MSCI. 

We provide comments on each fund holding below: 

• Aegon Active Value Unit Trusts I and II – both unit trusts are closed-ended vehicles with a strong value 

focus, looking to invest in higher yielding, multi-let UK commercial property. As these are closed-ended 

funds, the investments are representative of the opportunities available (and market conditions present) 

when the funds were deploying the capital raised. Both funds have completed their investment 

programmes by being fully invested. 

Active Value Unit Trust I was launched in 2013 and has just under 50% of its investments in the office 

sector, with the retail warehouse sector the next largest allocation at just over 20%. This has impacted 

recent performance with the retail warehouse allocations in particular seeing large write-downs. When 

compared to the wider market, the fund’s relatively low allocation to industrials has proved a headwind to 

relative performance.  

142



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 007 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Active Value Unit Trust II was launched in 2016 and has a higher allocation to industrials (c.38%), the 

fund’s largest single sector allocation. It is more diversified by sector, with significant allocations to offices 

and retail warehouses (c.30% and 21% respectively). This higher allocation to industrials is one of the 

main reasons for the outperformance of Unit Trust II over Unit Trust I over the last year. 

• Hermes Property Unit Trust – the fund has been a very strong performer for many years and is well 

balanced across the main sectors. Hermes takes a very bottom-up approach so targets high quality assets 

located in areas with strong fundamentals. Consistently strong stock selection has been a great tailwind 

for performance. The fund also allocated some investments to higher risk, more asset management 

intensive assets to generate higher returns and these have also consistently added value. The fund has 

appointed a new fund director but is backed by an extremely strong proposition at Hermes. 

• Lothbury Property Unit Trust – the fund targets properties located in prime areas and has a reasonably 

high (c.30%) allocation to the retail sector, particularly prime high street retail in London. This has proved 

challenging amid the pandemic as rents have fallen in retail, resulting in significant write-downs in capital, 

although rent collection figures have remained high. We expect the fund to display defensiveness in 

“normal” downturns but the pandemic is causing unforeseen problems. We would expect the fund to 

emerge reasonably well once the pandemic eases and normal life resumes. 

• Threadneedle Property Unit Trust – this is similar in style to the Aegon unit trusts held by the Fund in 

that it targets higher yielding UK commercial property, with the key difference being that the vehicle 

structure is open-ended. The fund is well balanced from a sector perspective and having nearly one-third 

of the portfolio in industrials mitigated some of the capital losses experienced by the retail and office 

holdings, as did the income return which is high. We expect value-focused funds to lag peers in stressed 

market conditions so we are comfortable with its performance over the last year. The fund recently 

changed its lead fund manager, something we are closely monitoring although we have no real immediate 

concerns. 

From an overall portfolio perspective, the Fund’s pooled property allocations display a good level of diversification 

by style. The Aegon and Threadneedle investments focus on value investments in secondary property which 

results in higher yielding properties, providing income to the Fund. The Lothbury investment is focused on the 

prime end of the market while the Hermes investment offers balance across sectors. It should be noted that given 

the closed-ended structure of the Aegon funds, these will wind down over time, although holding the Threadneedle 

fund means that the Fund will retain a value-focused allocation when that occurs. 

Private Debt Investment 

The performance of direct lending as an asset class over the pandemic has largely been sector-dependent with 

more cyclical sectors such as retail, restaurants and leisure suffering more from protracted revenue loss during 

various phases of lockdowns. While most businesses suffered an initial shock through the first wave of national 

lockdowns, more resilient businesses have seen a rebound in earnings in the months since. Managers with more 

cyclical assets in the portfolio have encountered more stressed or underperformance in the assets with instances 

of workouts and restructurings. The market for direct lending is now even more active as banks have retrenched 

further in the pandemic leaving alternative lenders with a broader opportunity set. 

The Fund is invested in one private debt fund, Partners Group’s Multi-Asset Credit (IV) 2017 Fund. The fund is in 

its harvest period and the fund maturity is in September 2023. The portfolio has 93 assets across 61 issuers and 

is well diversified by sector as at 30 September 2020. The net IRR is 4% which is expected to increase slightly as 

loans which are marked below par (due to active broker quotes) are repaid.  

  

143



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 008 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

4 Strategic Proposals 

Based on our analysis of the Fund’s portfolio, we make a number of strategic recommendations for consideration 

for both the direct property and pooled fund portfolios. These are outlined below. 

Direct Property Portfolio 

We make a range of recommendations for the Fund’s direct property portfolio, as outlined below: 

Consider Increasing the Allocation to the Industrial Sector 

The industrials sector has seen significant growth over the recent years and in what has been a difficult last few 

years for UK commercial property, the industrials sector has delivered the strongest returns (see Appendix A). 

This has been driven by logistics and distribution properties, particularly those located in areas close to major 

populations (e.g. towns and cities) with strong transport links (i.e. close to major motorways and airports). While 

the growth in online shopping has hit traditional high street retailers particularly hard, the internet has forced 

retailers to rethink their business models and distribution and logistics facilities are vital for retailers to have 

successful online business.  

A lack of significant new supply of industrials property, particularly logistics and distribution facilities, has driven 

up prices and despite the inward movement in industrial property yields over recent years, we believe high quality 

property let to strong tenants will deliver attractive yields (and total returns) going forward. The sector delivered 

the highest proportions of rent collection this year as the pandemic raged on, highlighting its resilience. 

We would encourage the Fund to consider increasing the allocation to industrial assets. Given Leicester’s central 

location in England, its proximity to major motorways like the M1 and M6 and the large populations within the 

Midlands, we believe the fundamentals of the area are supportive to the industrials sector going forward. By 

making selective allocations to industrials, we believe the Fund would benefit from the potential for attractive 

capital growth and income returns from the industrial sector. 

Make Selective Allocations to the Office and Rural Sectors 

As outlined earlier in this paper, the outlook for the office sector is uncertain due to the unknown structural changes 

that the pandemic will likely have on the balance between office-based and home-based working once the 

pandemic is over. As outlined in Appendix A, we do not believe that offices will be disappear but we do expect a 

greater balance of working from an office and home and therefore the offices of tomorrow will have to reflect a 

likely change in requirements of their tenants. We believe that there will be greater demand for offices with more 

flexible spaces, including more collaborative areas such as breakout rooms. We expect Leicester to retain strong 

employment dynamics as the economy emerges from the pandemic so we would expect offices with good 

transport links, with good onsite amenities and those that are more environmentally friendly with strong credentials 

on carbon output and initiatives like recycling, to fare better than offices without such credentials. 

In addition to the office sector, we would note that Savills, a leading commentator on the rural property sector, 

forecasts that we are unlikely to see strong rises in rural land values over the coming years. The supply of rural 

land has been on a downward trend over recent years which is supportive of current prices, as is the expected 

demand for new land as the UK’s population continues to increase. However, the outlook for the farming sector 

hinges on changes to current subsidies and the outcome of Brexit so caution should be exercised when investing 

in the rural sector. 

For both the office and rural sectors, we would encourage careful selection of new investments as there is likely 

to be a greater dispersion in returns within each sector so asset choice and location will be critical in ensuring the 

Fund continues to invest in high quality assets in these sectors. We would advise against increasing allocations 

to both sectors. 

144



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 009 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Consider Investing in Residential Property 

There is a structural imbalance in the UK housing market with a chronic shortage of supply caused by under-

development and an increase in the population. People are renting for longer as it takes a lot longer to save a 

deposit to buy a house. According to a Government report in 2018, the number of households in the Private Rental 

Sector had doubled in 15 years, with 20% of households now residing in PRS. This is a demand trend we expect 

to continue, which will further support this nascent sector going forward and this strong demand supports attractive 

levels of rental growth compared to the UK commercial property market, as illustrated by the chart below: 

Improved Demand is Driving Rental Growth within the Private Rented Sector  

 

We have seen the resilience of the sector during the pandemic and expect that it will continue to be the most 

resilient sector as people typically prioritise paying rent over other expenses regardless of their economic situation. 

Investing in the residential sector provides diversification to a commercial property portfolio and we consider it to 

be a good complementary investment.  

Institutional investment into the residential sector has traditionally been low, although we expect this to change. 

The residential property market only accounts for just over 3% of the MSCI UK Monthly Property Index, although 

we expect this share to grow over the coming years. While the sector is still relatively difficult to access, as there 

is a national lack of supply and most investment will require some development risk, we are seeing focused 

strategies that sometimes blend an element of social housing as well. The chart below shows how the investment 

within parts of the private rented sector has grown significantly since 2015 and is projected to grow further: 

Actual and Projected Growth in the Private Rented Sector 

Source: Knight Frank 

0

20

40

60

80

Private Rented Sector Student Accommodation Senior Living

R
e

si
d

e
n

ti
al

 P
ro

p
e

rt
y 

In
ve

st
m

e
n

t 
(£

 b
ill

io
n

)

2015 2019 2025 (Forecast)

145



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 010 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Returns vary according to the sub-sector of the residential market you are choosing to invest in, with higher returns 

available for the private rented sector (largely built-to-rent) compared to social and affordable housing which is 

subject to greater regulation. Investors will be required to invest at the construction stage in order to generate 

returns that are more comparable with historical UK commercial property returns as investing in purely operational 

assets will deliver returns many consider to be insufficient to make an allocation. 

The following table summarises a breakdown of typical target returns for each tenure type from a selection of 

fund managers in the sector.  

Target returns of various tenures 

Tenure Net income yield 

(p.a.) 

Expected annual 

growth in income 

Typical leverage 

(loan to value) 

Targeted net 

return (p.a.) 

PRS/Build to Rent 3-4.5% c.3% 0-30% 6-7% 

Student Accomm. 1-2% 5-6% 0-30% 6-7% 

Senior Living 2-3% 5-6.5% 0-30% 6.5-8% 

Social housing 2-3% CPI +1% 0-30% c.4.5% 

Affordable renting 3% CPI + / -1% 0-30% 5-6% 

Shared ownership 4.5% RPI +0.5% 0-30% 4.5-7% 

Source: Hymans Robertson 

We would recommend that the Fund considers allocations to the residential sector and could partner with 

developers in order to create high quality accommodation within the local area. If the correct locations and 

developers are selected, this has the potential to meet each of the Fund’s strategic aims. In addition to the 

attractive income and returns on offer from the residential property sector, the ability to make a positive impact to 

the housing supply in the local area would likely be an attractive quality. 

Pooled Fund Portfolio 

There are a range of options available to the Council to alter the Fund’s pooled fund allocations that would help it 

meet the overall strategic objectives. Some potential options are outlined below. 

Evolve the Pooled Property Fund Portfolio 

The Fund is currently invested in five pooled UK commercial property funds, three of which are open-ended 

(Hermes, Threadneedle and Lothbury) and two are closed-ended (both Aegon). The two closed-ended funds will 

return capital to the Fund over the next few years and in the absence of a buoyant secondary market for such 

diversified, value-focused funds, we would recommend the Fund allows the allocations to be wound down 

naturally. Instead of recycling this capital automatically into future funds with Aegon, we would recommend any 

decisions to be made with regards to the following recommendations around the structure of the pooled property 

fund portfolio. 

While the three open-ended core balanced UK property funds offer good diversification relative to each other, we 

believe that the Fund does not require three such funds to achieve adequate diversification and instead could 

look to reduce the number of funds held to two. In light of the Fund’s strategic aims, particularly its income 

requirement, we would recommend retaining an allocation to the Threadneedle Property Unit Trust due to its 

income focus. Of the two remaining funds, we have greater conviction in the medium-term and long-term 

146



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 011 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

performance outlooks of the Hermes Property Unit Trust relative to the Lothbury Property Trust, particularly due 

to the latter’s higher allocation to the retail sector which has choppier times ahead. 

Rather than recycling the disinvestment proceeds from redemptions from one of the open-ended property funds 

into one or both of the other two remaining open-ended funds, we would recommend that the Council use these 

disinvestment proceeds to allocate to the areas outlined below (we would also recommend using the capital 

returned from the two closed-ended Aegon funds in the same manner).  

Consider Investing in Residential Property Funds 

As outlined in our review of the direct property portfolio, we believe the Fund should consider allocating capital to 

the UK residential property sector. While direct investments should be explored, the Fund could also make 

allocations to dedicated UK residential property funds. One of the key benefits of doing this is for the potential to 

benefit from either inflation-linked cash flows or through income from rents that will typically increase at levels 

close expected long-term inflation levels. 

There are a number of open-ended and closed-ended residential property funds available in the market. Higher 

returns (and higher income levels) would be expected from the private rented sector, which is comprised of build-

to-rent, student accommodation and senior living. Lower levels of income would be expected from investing in 

social and affordable housing, although the income available is typically contractually inflation-linked. In addition 

to providing income to the Fund, allocations to UK residential property would offer diversification benefits relative 

to the Fund’s commercial property investments, both direct and via pooled funds. 

Consider Investing in Impact or ESG-Focused Funds 

ESG and climate change, particularly sustainability, are now firmly on the agenda in major real estate markets as 

investors look to manage climate change risks especially. The global transition away from fossil fuels and towards 

a low-carbon economy has significant impact on buildings, with Savills having estimated that real estate is 

responsible for almost 40% of energy and process-related emissions globally. Asset managers predict that it will 

become almost impossible to sell buildings that aren’t climate friendly, requiring further investment to bring them 

up to standard. Highly efficient buildings can mean higher levels of operational performance, lower emissions and 

lower cost of capital. 

Investors are also increasingly taking into consideration the social side of ESG. There is no denying that real 

estate plays a significant role in our lives and society; from houses and flats where we live to our workplaces, 

where we shop and locations where the things we use or buy are made or stored. There is, therefore, a real social 

impact of building in and around communities, from creating jobs to providing housing. Investors concerned with 

ESG can look to specific funds or strategies with either a focus on the environment or social impact, but it is worth 

noting that many asset managers are already integrating ESG within their core investment processes. 

We would recommend that allocations to ESG or impact-focused funds should be explored. While there are no 

explicit ESG-focused objectives stated in the Fund’s strategic objectives agreed in 2018, such allocations would 

offer an element of future proofing were formal ESG objectives introduced in the future. 

In terms of our view of the responsible investment credentials of the Fund’s pooled fund holdings, we rate each 

manager of the four property managers as ‘Good’ for responsible investment, while we rate Partners Group as 

‘Adequate’ within private debt.  

Increase Allocation to Income-Focused Asset Classes Outwith Property 

The Fund currently has one pooled fund allocation outwith property, a private debt fund managed by Partners 

Group. The Fund should consider additional allocations, either to private debt funds or other income-focused 

asset classes. In particular, we believe allocations to core or core-plus infrastructure should be considered. 

147



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 012 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Infrastructure describes assets that societies require to function well. Infrastructure assets can provide high 

income streams with a long duration that can be linked in some way to inflation, either explicitly or implicitly. 

Clearly, this is of potential interest for investors looking for long term inflation-linked cash flows to match income 

requirements. Due to the monopolistic position that some infrastructure companies enjoy and the essential nature 

of the assets and services they provide, returns can be fairly predictable and resilient to market cycles. This can 

mean a low correlation of infrastructure with other asset classes and therefore good diversification for investors 

who can forgo liquidity.  

The aim of investing in infrastructure will, therefore, typically be to access some combination of: 

• further diversification of growth assets; 

• reasonably high income distribution; 

• a proxy match for longer term liabilities. 

The nature of the investment can be chosen so as to prioritise one of these factors over the others. However, in 

practice, the investments available will involve some compromise relative to the ideal. Across various 

geographies, infrastructure comes in a wide variety of forms. There are two main categories of infrastructure 

assets (though it should be noted that not all of these opportunities will present themselves in all geographies 

and, where they do, it is possible that they can have varying risk/return characteristics): 

• Social – for example, schools, hospitals and prisons. Revenues are typically dependent solely on the 

facilities being maintained and available for use; revenues will have little or no reliance on how much the 

facilities are used, and therefore little correlation with the wider economic environment. 

• Economic – consists of assets that support commerce, and for which revenues are typically dependent 

on fees charged direct to the consumer (demand based). Example sectors and asset types are listed 

below:  

o Transport e.g. Bridges, Tunnels, Airports, Sea Ports, Rail and Mass Transport systems; 

o Communications e.g. Cable Networks, Broadcast and Communication Towers, Satellite Systems; 

o Energy e.g. Oil and Gas Pipelines, Power Generation, Gas Storage, Transmission and Distribution 

networks; 

o Environmental e.g. Water, Waste Treatment and Distribution, Waste and Recycling, Desalination 

Plants, Renewables. 

Investing in infrastructure is very complex and costly to do directly so the easiest way for investors to access the 

asset class is through a pooled fund. There are a range of funds available but most target investments in economic 

infrastructure due the wider opportunity set and potential for higher returns. Funds also take varying levels of risk, 

with core funds investing in assets with far higher certainty over future cash flows due to a higher element of 

contractual income. The higher up the risk spectrum you venture, the lower the expected income return, although 

investors would expect to be compensated by a higher total return. Core-plus funds are predominantly invested 

in core infrastructure but typically allocate some portion of capital to higher risk investments that are currently less 

core in nature. 

Renewable infrastructure has emerged as a stand-alone sub-sector within the energy and environmental sub-

sectors of infrastructure over recent years. Renewable infrastructure investing is focused on the generation, 

storage and transmission of renewable energy, delivered largely by solar or wind-powered assets, although a 

range of new technologies also exists. Renewable infrastructure has been one of the most popular areas of 

infrastructure over recent years with investors attracted by the long-term cash flows on offer as well as the ESG 

148



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 013 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

characteristics. However, the high prices being paid for existing renewable assets has driven down yields so 

institutional investors typically prefer investing in greenfield renewable infrastructure where assets are built then 

operated. 

In terms of expected returns, we would expect generalist core-plus infrastructure funds that invest across a range 

of these different sectors (including renewables) to deliver high single-digit or low-double digit returns over the 

long-term, with a yield in the range of 4-6% p.a. Core-focused funds are expected to deliver a lower total return 

in the range of high single digits with a yield of around 4-5% p.a. For dedicated renewable infrastructure funds, 

we would expect returns for funds investing in existing assets to return 5-8% p.a., almost exclusively from income, 

while those that build then hold such assets are expected to return high single digit or low double digit returns, 

with income generated later in a fund’s life once assets have been built and are operational. 

We would recommend that due to the Fund’s requirements for income, an allocation to core or core-plus 

infrastructure should be considered. Investments can be made in such funds via either open-ended and closed-

ended fund structures and in addition to the attractive inflation-linked income on offer, such investments would be 

expected to provide diversification relative to the Fund’s property investments. 

A review of the performance of infrastructure during the pandemic is provided in Appendix B. 

  

 

  

149



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 014 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

5 Implementation Considerations 

The implementation considerations differ between the direct and pooled fund portfolios within the Fund. 

Direct Property Portfolio 

Hymans Robertson’s research team is focused on both asset class and fund solutions to our clients. We do not 

have the level of in-depth knowledge on the fundamentals driving local property markets. Accordingly, we would 

recommend that a specialist property investment firm with a strong in-house research capability is employed to 

conduct a full and in-depth review of the Fund’s direct property portfolio. 

Such a review could identify current property holdings may not be suitable for helping the Fund meet its strategic 

objectives over the coming years. As part of this review, suitable local investment opportunities could be identified, 

particularly within those sectors we have recommended the Fund focus on. 

Pooled Fund Portfolio 

One of the key considerations for investors when investing in property is transaction costs. Unlisted UK 

commercial property is an expensive asset class to invest in, typically incurring high spreads of c.7-8% from entry 

to exit, largely due to stamp duty. While fund structure may increase the tax efficiency and reduce costs, investors 

should generally make allocations for the long-term and only invest if they are prepared to lock capital away for 

at least a full market cycle.  

The development of the secondary market for property does allow more efficient trading of property to mitigate 

the transaction costs paid but unlisted property is an illiquid asset class so investors should be mindful of this and 

continue to treat property as an illiquid asset class. Investors looking to transition some or all of their current UK 

core commercial property portfolios into newer areas of the market should be mindful that it can take a number of 

quarters for capital to be drawn in the solutions outlined in the previous section so should plan accordingly. 

Were the fund to consider reducing the number of investments in pooled open-ended property funds, opportunities 

to redeem via the primary market (i.e. directly with the investment manager) and secondary market (via the selling 

of units to another investor) should be explored to assess which would offer the Fund better value at that particular 

point in time.  

We are aware that the Fund’s pooled fund allocations have often been made in funds and managers that the 

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“LCCPF”) has invested with or in. This would open up a number of 

infrastructure and private debt funds and managers that the Fund could also invest in, although we would note 

that the LCCPF is not currently invested in residential property funds. 

The Council could also seek additional advice on funds within each of the asset classes proposed in the strategic 

review, with fund recommendations provided following discussion of the return (particularly income) and risk 

requirements of the Fund to allow it to meet its strategic objectives. 

  

150



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 015 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

6 Summary and Next Steps  

Summary 

In this paper we have reviewed the Fund’s existing portfolio as well as conducting a strategic review on how it is 

positioned in the context of current market conditions. As part of our strategic review of the Fund’s portfolio, we 

make the following recommendations: 

• Future investment opportunities within the direct property portfolio should explore increased allocations 

to the industrial property, particularly in logistics and distribution assets. In addition, the fund should 

consider explicitly investing in residential property, particularly in the private rented sector and in social 

and/or affordable housing. 

• Careful consideration should be taken for future direct property investments in the office and rural sectors 

in the Leicestershire area given the uncertain outlook for both sectors. We would caution against 

increasing overall allocations to both sectors. 

• The structure of the pooled property fund portfolio should be considered with recommendations being to 

reduce the number of UK balanced commercial property fund holdings. 

• Additional pooled fund investments should be explored in dedicated residential property funds, ESG-

focused property funds and income-focused non-property asset classes, including private debt and 

infrastructure. 

• We would recommend that the Council appoints a direct property specialist to review the existing direct 

portfolio as well as provide guidance on the sector and geographic-specific outlook in the local area. For 

the pooled fund investments, we also recommend that the Council takes further advice on the range of 

fund options that would meet the Fund’s specific return and risk requirements.  

This is summarised in the table below which summarises the Fund’s portfolio at 31 March 2020: 

Asset Class 
Value at  

31 March 2020  
% of Total Fund 

Strategic 

Recommendation 

Direct Portfolio (inc. Dev.) £125.8m 73.6%  

Direct Portfolio (exc. Dev.) £67.0m 39.2%  

Offices £27.2m 15.9% Maintain or reduce 

Industrials £12.4m 7.3% Increase 

Distribution £0.5m 0.3% Increase 

Rural £22.5m 13.2% Maintain or reduce 

Other £4.4m 2.6% n/a 

Development £58.8m 34.4% n/a 

Residential Property - - New allocation 

Pooled Fund Portfolio £45.1m 26.4%  

Property (Core Commercial) £24.8m 14.5% Decrease 

Private Debt £20.3m 11.9% Maintain or increase 

Residential Property - - New allocation 

Infrastructure - - New allocation 

Total £170.9m 100.0%  

151



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 016 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

We are aware of a number of existing or planned developments over the coming years. This will impact the 

actual allocations in the table above so depending on the resulting residual changes, some prioritisation of our 

recommendations may be required. 

Next steps 

We would be happy to discuss the contents of this paper in more detail with the Officers should this be helpful.  

 

 

General Risk Warning 

Please note the value of investments, and income from them, may fall as well as rise. You should not make any 

assumptions about the future performance of your investments based on information contained in this document. 

This includes equities, government or corporate bonds, currency, derivatives, property and other alternative 

investments, whether held directly or in a pooled or collective investment vehicle. Further, investments in 

developing or emerging markets may be more volatile and less marketable than in mature markets. Exchange 

rates may also affect the value of an investment. As a result, an investor may not get back the full amount originally 

invested. Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance.  

152



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 017 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Appendix A – UK Property Market: A Sector Review 

Retail: All Doom and Gloom? 

Coming into 2020, the wider UK property market performance was already being dragged down by the retail 

sector. In 2019 16,073 store units closed across the UK with over 143,000 total job losses. This trend has 

continued into 2020 with 13,868 stores closing and job losses numbering over 125,000 so far in 2020 (up to 1 

September), with this number expected to increase to over 235,000. 

The pandemic and lockdown have certainly exacerbated a crisis in retail, a sector already struggling with a 

combination of the shift of consumer behaviour to online shopping, a slowing of consumer spending since 2015 

and fierce competition amongst retailers. The growing number of vacancies paired with the fact that investors are 

actively looking to reduce their retail exposure over the last few years has meant that capital values and overall 

performance of the sector has taken a significant hit. 

Given the national lockdown when all non-essential shops were closed, it’s no surprise that traditional retail is 

struggling. Rent collections in retail have been down markedly since March and estimates are that this will 

continue; although collection statistics vary across firms, Fitch reported three large property REITS collected 

between 16-36% of retail rents in June 2020, reflecting retailers having had essentially zero or drastically reduced 

revenues. With the recent extension of the moratorium on evictions until December, there is comment that some 

performing retailers deferring rents and landlords have little recourse in these situations. 

Since shops have started reopening, some cities are seeing a rebound in fortunes. While in London there has 

been a decline of footfall with levels only reaching around 31% of pre-crisis as at September 2020, the pandemic 

has changed commuting patterns (and thus spending patterns), meaning that footfall in some smaller regional 

towns, such as Blackpool and Bournemouth, has actually increased to 141% and 133% of pre-pandemic levels 

respectively. The obvious uncertainty is whether this is a short-term catch up, and what will be the longer-term 

trend.  

One change coming out of the pandemic is some renewed attention to turnover-based leases, which could help 

keep some retailers in business. Turnover-based leases see tenants pay rent based on their turnover and how 

sales perform. Certainly in this model, the landlord has a more active interest and becomes a participant in the 

store’s outcome; while this might result in more volatile and cyclical income streams, we wouldn’t expect the use 

of such leases to become commonplace and, as such, the overall impact to investors is likely to be muted. 

On a broader note, uncertainty around retailer performance and rising vacancies across the country will likely add 

downward pressure to rents, a picture worsened by the macro elements: should unemployment increase 

considerably or there is prolonged uncertainty, consumer spending will be hit, which will mean further pain for the 

retail sector in general. 

While the traditional retail picture is bleak, there are some potential brighter spots of retail that continue to attract 

investment. Essential retail, such as supermarkets, are well valued by investors for being typically long-term, 

inflation-linked leases. As supermarkets have stayed open throughout the pandemic, and even seen an uptick in 

revenue during lockdown as people couldn’t eat out, this particular sub-sector has fared very well. Other asset 

managers are looking to the future shopping experience with large retail parks (referred to as retail warehouses) 

anchored by a supermarket or large, well-known retailer. These are expected to fare well as they are naturally 

better pre-dispositioned for social distancing with spacious, outdoor layouts and also potentially support greater 

integration of click-and-collect as there is floor space available for storage.  

So what will happen with the abundance of vacant or distressed retail stock? If city centres wish to revitalise their 

high streets, the local councils will likely look to alternative uses for properties that could provide some regional 

office or residential supply to other sectors.  

153



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 018 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Industrials: Logistics and the Rise of Ecommerce 

There has long been a rise in online shopping to the detriment of bricks and mortar retail. With the national 

lockdown affecting non-essential shops, this caused a massive spike in ecommerce activity as spending shifted 

online. Online ecommerce penetration jumped from 19% to 32% from February 2020 to May 2020 with a slight 

decrease since. Chart 3 below breaks this out by sector: 

Chart 3 – The Growth of E-Commerce in the UK 

 

Source: CBRE and the Office for National Statistics. 

Logistics, a sub-sector of industrials, has been a popular allocation for investors for some time. In fact, the second 

quarter of 2020 saw a record take-up for UK logistics property, mainly driven by ecommerce-related functions. 

This is a spike in activity previously fuelled by tenants seeking to secure both larger warehouse spaces and 

smaller, “last-mile” facilities close to city centres.  

According to Fitch, rent collection in the logistics sector for April-June was 95% with collection rates for “big-box” 

assets higher than urban warehouses with smaller tenants. This trend is augmented by investor demand for assets 

in such a resilient sector, which is pushing prices higher, particularly for large warehouses with prime tenants, 

such as Amazon, and investors need to be selective going forward. Although ecommerce could see a slight impact 

if consumer spending is reduced, this is not expected to dampen the enthusiasm or expectations for long-term 

logistics sector growth. 

Offices: Working Hard or Hardly Working? 

The trend of flexible, or remote working, and for more flexible co-working spaces had begun to grow in favour, in 

part due to the rise of tech start-ups across the country and the growing popularity of collaborative working spaces 

made popular by the likes of WeWork.  

With lockdown forcing the vast majority of office workers to work from home, this trend has become the “norm”, 

and there have been many articles about the death of the office. While these concerns may be overstated, there 

has certainly been a sentiment shift amongst workers and companies are taking heed and re-examining their 

office space requirements 

Pre-pandemic, employees who were working from home at least part of the time were a relatively small proportion 

of the workforce but had been growing as demonstrated in Chart 4.  

Chart 4 – The Rise in Home Working 

154



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 019 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

 

Source: Federated Hermes and Morgan Stanley Research. 

A survey by Morgan Stanley has indicated a significant acceleration of this trend with all demographics and sectors 

indicating a preference to work from home more frequently in the future. There has been deterioration in sentiment 

for offices, with 93% of respondents to the RICS Q2 survey expect businesses to cut back on their office space 

requirements to some extent. A more recent survey by the Institute of Directors also reflects this trend with over 

50% of executives planning to cut office space after the pandemic, with over 21% indicating this cut is likely to be 

significant. In addition, nearly three-quarters of the executive respondents indicated that they would encourage 

staff to increase working from home post-pandemic. This change of demand is set to change the dynamics of 

office sector, but we may not see the impact for a few years as companies are unlikely to break current leases 

and will make any changes at lease renewal stage.  

However, we do not believe the pandemic spells the death of the office overall. The office remains important for 

both employers and employees. The office promotes cohesion, collaboration and brand recognition, and there is 

no question of the importance of the social aspect in this regard and the broader mental health wellbeing for most 

employees. However, office space originally marked for fixed desks may instead become more collaborative 

working spaces with increased hot-desking. 

For investors, it is expected that location becomes even more important: well-located, best-in-class assets, with 

a strong ESG profile, will maintain the most robust valuations. However, as with all sectors, office demand could 

be affected by the economic recovery: a lack of economic recovery will likely lead to corporate insolvencies and 

increased layoffs and unemployment. 

Alternatives: Mixed Fortunes 

Alternatives is a catch-all sector for assets outside of the main three sectors: retail, office and industrials. Within 

alternatives, hotels and residential (typically purpose-built rental accommodation rather than individual houses 

and flats) are the most established sectors but there has been a more recent emergence of student 

accommodation and healthcare underpinned by similar fundamentals: changes in demographics, a rise in middle-

class incomes and urbanisation.  

Residential property has, by far, proven itself to be the most resilient sector during the crisis and this is no real 

surprise as it is expected that the population will continue paying for its housing costs whenever possible. The 

private rented sector (“PRS”) is a nascent sector in the UK but is quickly gaining traction, although there is very 

limited supply. Given the resilience and supply and demand factors, this will continue to be a sector of interest for 

investors going forward. 

9.1% 9.4%
8.5% 8.5% 9.0% 9.1% 9.6% 9.7% 10.0% 10.1%

10.1%
11.0% 11.1%

11.3%
11.6%

12.7%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%
2

0
0

4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

% Usually working from home % Sometimes working from home Total

155



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 020 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Other sectors within alternatives have had a much more mixed picture. UK hospitality has seen a bifurcation in 

performance. On the one hand, business hotels in city centres have suffered dramatically and have uncertain 

futures given the lack of business travel and the uncertainty over whether (or even if) business travel will normalise 

back to pre-pandemic levels. On the other hand, hotels positioned to take advantage of the UK boom in domestic 

holidays are performing beyond expectations.  

Investment in student accommodation has risen over the last few years and one would expect the pandemic to 

cause challenges in this sector. While we may have expected the pandemic to have discouraged foreign students 

(or at least encouraged deferral of places), for high quality assets linked to red brick universities, there has been 

no change in performance. In fact, initial data shows lower than expected vacancy rates as universities have taken 

on more domestic students. A key question is the extent to which this persists. 

With the healthcare sector, it remains to be seen how it will fare through the pandemic. While an ageing population 

had meant a rise in care homes and investment as a sector, the sector has suffered general reputational damage 

due to its handling of the pandemic and the fact that care home residents suffered more than the general 

population. 

Income-Based Property 

Long lease property funds invest in a subset of the UK property market, specifically targeting properties let to 

(typically higher quality) tenants on long, index-linked leases typically in excess of 15 years. Long lease funds 

have invested in a wide range of sub-sectors including supermarkets, leisure, offices, medical facilities, hotels 

and student accommodation, where the income stream is expected to be robust and sustainable. The resilience 

of these sectors throughout the pandemic has been mixed: given the long duration requirement of lease 

agreements, long lease property funds have avoided significant exposures to the troubled parts of the UK retail 

sector (high street retail and shopping centres) and have benefitted from exposure to supermarkets. However, 

exposures to hotels, leisure and student accommodation had the biggest immediate stress due to a fall in rent 

collections amid the lockdown enacted in March.  

Commercial ground rents can be considered an extension of long-lease, with even greater value placed on the 

income rather than residual values. The main security for holdings, other than tenant quality, is the over-

collateralisation provided through vacant possession values being greater than the value of the ground rents. 

While the pandemic has placed greater pressure on rent collection than long lease funds given exposure to leisure 

sector, this vacant possession value provides protection to valuations, so long as vacant possession values do 

not decline materially too.  

We have explored many of these sectors above and to date rent collection on long lease funds has been stronger 

than the broader market, but it should be noted that the starting yield on long lease property is typically lower than 

for the broader property market (reflecting the expected security of income) and any tenant credit event can 

therefore impact the stability of future returns. 

A reduction in broad market rents that leads to overrenting of long-lease properties will also affect residual values. 

Any reduction in rent collection and increasing concerns about the short-term prospects of some sectors that long 

lease funds target, predominantly leisure and student accommodation, means that the near-term outlook for long 

lease funds is uncertain as this pandemic continues, but we have greater conviction in the medium and long-term 

prospects of long lease funds compared to core balanced property funds. 

  

156



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 021 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Appendix B – Infrastructure Market Review 

Market Performance  

Infrastructure experienced negative total returns as the effects of the pandemic took hold. The EDHEC Infra300 

Index, an unlisted infrastructure index, showed a total return of -9.4% over the year to 30 September 2020 (in 

sterling terms). This is over the market as a whole and masks significant sector divergences. The steep drop in 

valuations has been led by the sectors that have the greatest degree of economic sensitivity. Before we delve into 

examining the sector performance in more detail, it is worth noting how the economic sensitivity of infrastructure 

assets varies by sector. This is illustrated by the following table: 

Sensitivity Level Sector 

High Economic Sensitivity 

Ports 

Airports 

Toll Roads 

Medium Economic Sensitivity 

Railways 

Pipelines 

Renewables 

Low Economic Sensitivity 

Water 

Utilities 

Communications 

Social 

 

As expected, the infrastructure sectors most severely impacted by the Coronavirus pandemic are those with the 

highest levels of economic sensitivity: airports; toll roads; and ports. These sectors are more economically 

sensitive because they offer services which are typically in less demand during economic downturns. The airport 

sector bore the brunt of the initial effects of the pandemic, with 90% of the world’s fleet of passenger aircraft being 

grounded as countries imposed severe restrictions on personal freedoms. It is intuitive that there will be a drop in 

air and road travel as people tighten their belts while a reduction in global trade will see less sea trade. Sectors 

with low economic sensitivity typically have more stable revenues during economic downturns as the services 

they offer are much more essential and critical to the functioning of the economy. This downturn is obviously 

unusual in that there has never been such restrictions placed on personal freedoms but these relationships still 

remain true as this downturn progresses. 

The airport sector has experienced the most severe initial impact of all the main infrastructure sectors due to the 

sharp drop in air travel. Airports rely on high passenger footfall to attract airlines to pay premium prices to operate 

services from while they receive commercial revenues from airport facilities such as retail and hospitality. With 

the levels of air travel falling off a cliff from March onwards, valuers have had to factor in reduced revenues 

received from airports as well as other material risks such as prolonged recoveries in passenger volumes. 

Another sector which has experienced hardship of late is the ports sector. Ports have historically had the greatest 

levels of economic sensitivity as they involve the processing of shipping containers. Over 90% of global trade is 

conducted by sea and it is the most cost-effective means of transporting goods and materials around the world. 

With global trade plummeting, firstly in China then more broadly, the reduction in global trade means these ports 

are experiencing less volumes. It should be noted that global trade saw less of an immediate reduction from the 

pandemic than may have been expected and was already facing headwinds from the escalating trade war 

between the US and China. However, as the consequences of the economic damage inflicted by the virus take 

hold, economically sensitive sectors like ports remain vulnerable. 

157



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND 022 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

December 2020           
  

Toll roads are the final sector that have experienced steep declines in volumes. Will many countries in lockdown, 

road traffic volumes have plummeted, as have the road tolls received from drivers? This pain has been worse for 

those relief toll roads that benefit from drivers opting to pay to use them instead of using the more congested free 

roads. The longer that populations are subject to lockdown measures, the more prolonged pain likely to be 

experienced by toll roads. 

While the majority of the market turmoil can be attributed to the Coronavirus pandemic, the dispute between 

Russia and Saudi Arabia that led to a collapse in oil prices has also impacted some energy infrastructure assets. 

Oil and gas pipelines are critical infrastructure and many funds are invested in the midstream energy sector which 

is involved in the transportation and storage of oil and gas. Lower oil prices, coupled with the reduction in energy 

usage from locked down economies has led to a reduction in oil and gas production so pipelines have experienced 

less volumes of usage. On a more positive note. there has been a boom in storage although this remains a small 

part of the energy infrastructure sector.  

Sectors with lower economic sensitivity have generally performed better, as expected. Consumers still require the 

key utilities and although some will need assistance with payment plans, revenues should be relatively unaffected. 

The increase in home working brought on by the lockdowns heightens the demand for communications 

infrastructure, a structural trend that will only accelerate and strengthen. Finally, social infrastructure (hospitals, 

schools, prisons, etc.) remain unaffected by the current turmoil, with revenues usually dependent on making the 

asset available rather than on usage, with revenues ultimately backed by governments.  

We noted earlier that the Coronavirus pandemic has reduced the demand for energy, causing electricity prices to 

fall. The vast reduction in pollution and emissions that we have experienced over recent weeks should also 

strengthen the tailwinds behind green energy. Renewable infrastructure is currently dominated by wind and solar 

assets geared towards the generation of electricity so while it has some cyclicality due to falling energy prices, 

this is mitigated by the offtake contracts in place, with only lower quality renewable assets exposing asset owners 

to market pricing risk. 

158



 
 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 25 JANUARY 2021 
 

SUPPORTING ECONOMIC RECOVERY IN LEICESTERSHIRE 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Scrutiny Commission of the 

proposed economic recovery actions to be taken by the County Council in 

response to the impact of COVID-19 restrictions on Leicestershire’s 

businesses and workforce.  The report seeks the Commission’s views on a 

range of actions proposed to support businesses and individuals over the 

short, medium and long term including participating in the national Kickstart 

scheme, support for people seeking work, and Broadband improvements. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Council’s Strategic Plan (agreed by County Council in December 2017), 

supported by the Council’s Enabling Growth Plan, outlines the Council’s long-

term vision for the people and place of Leicestershire and sets the Council’s 

five key outcomes for 2018 to 2022, which include building a strong economy, 

supporting wellbeing and opportunity, developing greater communities and 

keeping people safe. 

 

3. In June 2020 the Council’s ‘COVID-19 Recovery Strategy 2020-2021’ was 

presented to the Cabinet.  Key objectives for economic recovery were defined 

including addressing the significant impact of Covid-19 on the labour market 

and re-skilling Leicestershire’s residents to be able to compete in the changed 

local economy; including upscaling digital skills and tackling digital isolation, 

skills for a zero-carbon economy and supporting cohorts most affected by the 

COVID-19 lockdown (e.g. those not in employment, education or training, 

young people and the over-50s).  

 

4. The report to the Cabinet on 20 October 2020 entitled ‘Coronavirus (Covid-19) 

Impact and Response of the County Council – Recovery’ considered the 

effect on County employment levels and job vacancies and outlined the 

actions already being undertaken to mitigate economic damage including 

£750,000 of Business Recovery funding committed by the Council.  The report 

recognised that further work would need to be undertaken to support the 

159 Agenda Item 13



economy stating that options such as Kickstart, further rural rollout of 

Broadband and supporting the Council’s commitment to a zero-carbon 

economy would all be explored. 

 
Background 
 
5. The impact of the pandemic on Leicestershire’s economy is unprecedented. 

The damage is immediate and long lasting with evidence demonstrating that 

the hardest hit sectors are hospitality and tourism with the youngest most 

affected through job losses. 

 

6. Unemployment claimant rates in Leicestershire have risen from 1.6% to 4% 

since March 2020.  This is below both the East Midlands rate (5.5%) and the 

national rate (6.4%).  The 18-24 year age group have felt the biggest impact 

both locally and nationally with the Leicestershire rate for this age group at 

5.6%.  Rates for furloughed staff are similar at local and national levels (7% at 

the end of October).  

 

7. The Retail, Hospitality and Tourism sectors have been hit especially hard by 

the pandemic.  Although this is the case across the UK, Leicestershire (and 

Leicester City) has been particularly badly affected due to the extended local 

lockdown during the summer months when the rest of the UK was beginning 

to reopen. The aforementioned sectors all employ large numbers of young 

people. 

 

8. Data shows low numbers of business closures between April and August 

2020 due to Government support measures which were put in place (95.2% of 

eligible businesses received support locally).  However, closures rose rapidly 

in September and October 2020.  Surveys show that both businesses and 

consumers are concerned about future prospects. 

 

9. Appendix A to this report, provided by the Business Intelligence Team, gives 

further details of the local economic impact. 

 

Kickstart Gateway 

 

10. The Government announced the national Kickstart scheme on 2nd September 

2020.  It is aimed at young people aged 16-24 receiving universal credit and 

at risk of becoming long-term unemployed. 

 

11. The Government scheme provides funding to organisations willing to recruit 

30 Kickstart applicants to new six-month roles within their organisations.  As a 

national initiative, Kickstart provides 100% of the National Minimum Wage (or 

the National Living Wage depending on the age of the participant) for 25 

hours per week for a total of 6 months, associated employer National 

Insurance contributions and employer minimum automatic enrolment 

contributions. 

160



 

12. The Government is also looking to councils and other stakeholders to act as 

‘Kickstart Gateways’ and as such support groups of businesses willing to 

appoint a smaller number of Kickstart applicants. 

 

13. It is proposed that this Council acts as a Kickstart Gateway, in partnership 

with the City Council.  It is not proposed that the Council applies as a single 

employer given the difficulty in defining 30 new placements across the 

Authority at this time.  The City Council holds the same view. 

 

14. It is proposed that the Kickstart scheme in Leicestershire and Leicester is for 

12-month placements and not 6-months, as proposed in the Government 

scheme.  Evidence demonstrates that outcomes for young people secured 

through short 6-month placements are far less satisfactory than those secured 

for longer placements.  For example, the Step Up project from the City 

Council enabled work placements to be extended for an additional 3-6 

months, resulting in the number of participants remaining in work being 63%, 

with 83% not claiming benefits.  The extended placement gave individuals: 

 

a. more time to become embedded into the organisation leading to 

possible retention;  

b. more time to learn and develop skills especially for those individuals 

furthest from the labour market. 

 

15. It is proposed the Council appoints 15 Kickstart applicants. The total cost 

associated with this extension, estimated to be £100,000, will be met by the 

appointing County Council department.  It is anticipated that the City Council 

will also offer 15 extended placements, but numbers have still to be 

confirmed.  Costs for the extension of the placements will be financed 

independently by each Council. 

 

16. It is also proposed that the County and City Councils scheme actively seeks to 

support young people furthest from the labour market, including care leavers 

and young people with disabilities that affect their ability to secure work.  Such 

an approach inevitably creates additional cost to the Council, through physical 

adaptations and the need to include additional managerial or pastoral support. 

Additional Kickstart scheme funding of £1,500 per participant is provided 

towards the cost of employability training or other support for participants.  
 

17. Costs for management of the project, including engagement with participating 

Leicestershire SMEs (small and medium sized enterprises) and support to the 

Council’s placement line managers is estimated to be in the region of £75,000 

to include the recruitment of a part- time project manager.  A management fee 

of £300 per participant is funded by the scheme and this could be 

supplemented from the current Economic Reserves. 

 

161



18. The Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) Board met on 

1 December 2020 and agreed to provide up to £500,000 to provide placement 

extensions, also from 6 to 12 months, to local SMEs offering Kickstart roles.  

Allocation criteria relating to sector or geography is yet to be determined.  A 

procurement exercise will be used to secure management (Gateway) 

services. 

 

19. There are a number of Leicestershire organisations putting themselves 

forward as Kickstart Gateways, including district councils, the East Midlands 

Chamber and the Federation of Small Businesses.  However, their intention is 

to promote the Government’s six-month placement scheme with no extension, 

and no focus on those furthest from the labour market. 

 

20. The County Council’s proposed scheme, in partnership with the City Council, 

therefore differs to that being offered by other stakeholders in the County and 

City. 

 

21. A Business Case providing further detail on the Kickstart proposals can be 

found at Appendix B. 

 

Work+ 

 

22. The impact of the pandemic on employment will affect all ages and abilities 

within the County.  The Work+ proposal looks to put in place a universal 

support offer, accessible online and through our libraries, that will help 

individuals access work. 

 

23. The proposed Work+ offer is a 2-year project to support people to become 

work ready, offering assistance around developing their CV, cover letters, job 

search, email account, how to use LinkedIn and other Social Media platforms 

to search for jobs.  It will support those wanting to explore volunteering 

opportunities, improve interview techniques, explore self-employment or 

access digital training and business support. 

 

24. Work+ would be managed within the Communities and Wellbeing Service 

(within the Adults and Communities Department).  Libraries offer a neutral, 

safe and inclusive place for people to attend and job search with an 

opportunity to engage with Learning and Work Advisors from the 

Leicestershire Adult Learning service (LALs) who can provide free impartial 

Information Advice and Guidance (IAG) about courses, as well as other 

opportunities that may be available. 

 
25. In the case of face-to-face interaction being limited by COVID-19 restrictions, 

the project will provide an integrated virtual offer via a phone line and live chat 

for job seekers to engage with.  Ongoing restrictions will mean that this virtual 

offer will be an essential element of the scheme in the short term and need to 

be developed quickly via the secondment job role and made available 

162



promptly.  Technology essential to delivering the virtual offer will need to be 

put in place and supported. The virtual offer will be available throughout the 

lifetime of the project because it may be a preferred approach for some 

participants and will also help reach out to people living in rural areas.  
 

26. The programme will also explore volunteering and work placement 

opportunities through working with the voluntary sector and key partners such 

as the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) to enable participants to 

develop skills and improve confidence that could support them to move into 

employment. 

 

27. A structured approach would be provided for participants of approximately 12 

weeks support (depending on their needs) shaping a way forward into 

employment, training or volunteering.  This would include follow up sessions 

in order to track participant outcomes. This would be managed by Work+ and 

LALs staff. 

 

28. It is proposed that Work+ is a universal offer targeted at “people actively 

looking for work” but with set targets to engage with “hard to reach” groups, 

including ethnic minorities, people with physical disabilities and mental health 

issues.  The project would also aim to have a fair gender balance across its 

delivery consistent with the population. 

 

29. Unemployment is high and is anticipated to increase over the next 12 months. 

As such, demand will be high from participants wishing to engage with Work+. 

Whilst accurate estimations are challenging, considering the number of people 

who have previously engaged with the Council’s Work Clubs scheme in the 

past, a target for the number of ‘visits’ to Work+ over the two years is 10,000, 

with a positive outcome target for at least 50%.  

 

30. Work+ would be primarily located in County Libraries, initially offered from the 

6 of the main libraries (Coalville, Hinckley, Market Harborough, Melton 

Mowbray, Wigston Magna, Oadby).  Delivery would take a staged approach 

and use demand data to inform where need is greatest.  Loughborough library 

delivers Moneywise Plus which is a European Social Fund project, therefore 

Work+ will complement this service rather than compete with it.  It is also 

proposed that pop-up arrangements would be put in place at the shopping 

centre libraries and Adult Learning Centres.  Community led libraries would 

also be encouraged to host pop-up Work+ surgeries and events where 

demand is greatest.  If appropriate, pop up Work+ surgeries could also be 

delivered from voluntary sector partner premises to ensure accessibility for 

target groups. 

 

31. It is planned that the scheme would be publicised via a promotional campaign 

making use of an impressive mailing list built up by the Communities and 

Wellbeing Service with over 4000 individual learners, 118,307 library users, 

163



and 900 participation group members. Working with external partners such as 

DWP and VAL would further support the promotion of the project.  The target 

audience will be reached through the use of case studies looking at the 

‘journey of a participant’ and social media platforms promoting the offer. 

 

32. Work+ is estimated to cost £340,000 over a two-year period.  Once 

established, three individuals would be required to deliver the service, with 

some ongoing management time also required.  Other costs would include 

laptops to be used by participants, hire of library facilities and travel expenses. 

It is proposed that this be funded through use of the Broadband Gainshare 

Fund.  A Business Case providing further detail on Work+ proposals can be 

found at Appendix C. 
 

Business Support 

 

33. The Leicestershire Business Recovery Fund was launched in July 2020 to 

support companies with 50 employees or less, particularly those from the 

tourism, retail, agriculture, and creative sectors, by providing grants of 

between £2000 to £10,000 to ensure their survival by, for instance, developing 

online selling and diversifying into new product areas.  Over 120 businesses 

across the County have benefited from this essential project, with 50% match 

funding being invested by each business. 

 

34. The Business Recovery Fund was funded through money secured by the 

County Council from the Leicester and Leicestershire Business Rates Pool. 

 

35. The Council’s Community Pub fund was launched in December 2020 to 

support Leicestershire’s village pubs.  A one-off emergency payment of 

£1,000 was awarded to those pubs who are wet led (less than 50% of income 

derived from food) and able to demonstrate that the business played a 

significant role in the community. 

 

36. A key aim of the initiative, given the urgency of the situation some pubs find 

themselves in, was to make payments as quickly as possible.  The agreed 

approach enabled the first grants to be issued to 20 landlords within 4 working 

days of the fund launching. 

 

37. Although the application process for the Community Pub Fund was 

streamlined in comparison to other grant schemes, applicants and their 

businesses did have checks carried out to assess eligibility, including 

Companies House and VAT registrations.  Any anomalies were addressed, 

prior to grants being approved.  A database of applicants detailing their 

progression through the system has been developed to ensure that an audit 

trail exists, should this be required. 
 

38. The emergency funding is drawn from the Council’s Economic Growth 

Reserves. 

164



 

39. The Council, in partnership with Leicester City Council, through the Place 

Marketing Organisation, are proposing additional activity that would see 

greater promotion of the Council’s tourism destinations through the ‘Uncover 

the Story’ campaign as well as capturing additional materials that will promote 

the County as an attractive destination for inward investment. Funding for this, 

estimated to be in the region of £180,000, is being sought from the LLEP’s 

Investment Panel and will be drawn down within this financial year. 

 

40. The Council’s Business Intelligence Team has been supporting the lobbying 

work of the Tourism Advisory Board and LLEP by providing evidence for 

DCMS of the additional disadvantage gap experienced by Leicestershire’s 

tourist attractions as a result of the extended local lockdown.  

 

41. The Council, through the Place Marketing Organisation, has partnered in the 

establishment of a Business Tourism Service to support those business event 

venues and conference hotels that have been unable to operate effectively 

since the start of the pandemic. The service will help this hard-hit sector to 

stimulate new business through pro-active lead generation and showcasing 

the sub-regional offer with a new website and marketing activity. 

  

42. The Council, through the Place Marketing Organisation, has partnered with 

the LLEP Growth Hub to develop a series of webinars and ‘clinics’ for tourism 

and hospitality businesses to aid the recovery of the sector and restore it to its 

pre-COVID-19 baseline. Experts will show SMEs in the sector how to reach 

new visitor markets, take advantage of emerging consumer trends, develop 

new products and how to take them to market. 

 

Broadband rollout 

 

43. Superfast Leicestershire is a multi-million-pound project led by the County 

Council, in partnership with British Telecommunications (BT), the Leicester 

and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP), Broadband Delivery UK 

(BDUK) and district councils.  The aim of the project is to bring superfast 

broadband access to areas not served by commercial operators. 

 

44. Phase 1 delivery ran from April 2014 to March 2016.  Phase 2 delivery ran 

from April 2016 to Sept. 2019.  At the completion of Phase 2 of the 

programme, more than 72,000 properties have gained access to superfast 

broadband, including approx. 11,000 businesses.  This has been achieved 

through a public sector investment for the period 2014-2019 of £18m, and a 

BT capital contribution of £8.5m. 

 

45. As a direct result of the Programme’s intervention, coverage of Superfast 

Broadband across Leicestershire has increased from 81% to 96%. 

 

165



46. The Council launched a procurement exercise in April 2020 to secure a 

delivery partner for Phase 4 of the roll out that would see the delivery of 

superfast broadband to rural areas in the east of the County.  Unfortunately, 

no credible bids were received so the contract remains unlet.  The Council is 

in dialogue with BDUK regarding further feasible interventions and 

mechanisms aimed at extending coverage across the remaining unserved 

areas across east Leicestershire.  

 

47. The Council remains committed to further improvements to broadband 

coverage in the county and is in dialogue with BDUK regarding a number of 

initiatives, listed below:  

 

a. Place based Community Hub programme. This would see publicly-

owned buildings (including village halls, libraries, schools and GP 

services) having gigabit-capable connections and acting as WIFI hubs 

in rural communities. This will enhance the services offered to the 

public. 

 

b. Outside In programme. This is a Government-led £5bn BDUK 

programme providing Gigabit-capable broadband connections to the 

first one million homes and businesses in the hardest to reach 20% of 

the UK by 2025. Detailed plans for the roll-out of this programme are 

currently being worked up and not yet known. 

 

c. Top up voucher scheme - community and small to medium sized 

businesses can aggregate government vouchers together in group 

schemes to fund the cost of gigabit-capable broadband to their 

community. This scheme has been used by communities in 

Leicestershire in the past and the launching of a further scheme is 

anticipated in Spring 2021. 

 

48. Contractual arrangements with suppliers and BDUK mean that where 

residents or businesses take up a broadband service provided through the 

Superfast Broadband scheme the council receive receives a return on its 

investment, known as Gainshare. This investment fund which has been used 

previously to support broadband roll out currently sits at £1.687m. This fund is 

not ringfenced and as such is proposed as the funding source for the Work+ 

programme referred to in paragraphs 35-45 above. 

 

49. A new broadband promotional campaign is planned for early 2021. The 

resulting increase in take-up of services will generate further gainshare 

income to the Council. 

 

 

 

 

166



Green Economic Recovery 

  

50. The Council’s commitment to climate change and the environment agenda is 

well known and follows the Climate Emergency Declaration in 2019.  To 

ensure that Leicestershire’s wider economic recovery reflects our broader 

environmental commitments, the following series of principles are proposed to 

underpin all economic recovery work: 

 

a. To engage and partner with local, regional and national stakeholders 

that are experts in the green economy and innovation. 

 

b. The design of operational activities and delivery of services will be 

regularly reviewed and assessed in line with the Council’s current and 

future green policies. 

 

c. To encourage companies relocating to Leicestershire or increasing 

their investment in the County, to adopt a green approach in their 

activities. 

 

d. Partnership working with district councils in development of revised 

Local Plans to support environmentally positive approaches. 

 

e. Investment in growth and development sites (particularly where the 

Council is a landowner) to support green recovery approaches. 

 

f. Opportunities will be sought to leverage the Council’s influence and 

reputation to attract Green Recovery funding from Government. 

 

51. If agreed by Cabinet, detailed cross-departmental action planning will be 

undertaken to support delivery of the above principles.  

 

Regional Economic Recovery Arrangements 

 

52. In response to the pandemic, the Leicestershire Resilience Forum established 

the Economic Recovery Cell (ERC), under the leadership of the LLEP Chief 

Executive. This group, on which all key stakeholders are represented, 

including the County Council, have met on a regular basis to agree a 

coordinated, evidence based response. 

 

53. The ERC has developed a COVID-19 Economic Recovery Action Plan which 

is appended to this report. This Action Plan sets out the activity planned 

across the partnership. To meet immediate local needs priorities have been 

structured against the following key themes: 

 

 Business recovery 

 People, employment and skills 

167



 Green recovery 

 Innovation, science and technology 

 Infrastructure 

 

54. The ERC will also develop a longer term Economic Recovery Strategy; a five- 

year plan that reflects the longer term recovery challenges and actions. 

Progress on the development of this Strategy is dependent on the publication 

of the Government’s White Paper ‘Devolution and Local Recovery’, now 

expected in Spring 2021. 

 

Community Support 

 

55. In addition to the support provided by the County Council to Leicestershire’s 

businesses and workforce, considerable investment is being made to 

communities and community groups. The voluntary and community sector 

across Leicestershire has, and continues to, undertake a pivotal role in 

supporting its communities. This is true not only in the services and activities 

provided by the sector, but it is recognised that the sector has an important 

economic impact as an employer and a provider of learning and skills.  

 

56. A focus for this investment is the Leicestershire Communities Fund which has 

supported community and voluntary groups to continue to carry out their vital 

work, despite the impact of COVID-19. The Fund has helped over 220 

projects across the County with more than £1.5million of funding that has 

supported communities to provide food, health and wellbeing support during 

the crisis. Round 3 of the Leicestershire Communities Fund was launched on 

Wednesday 2nd December with almost £600,000 of additional funding 

available for community and voluntary groups. 

 

57. Further community support has been provided by over £125,000 of SHIRE 

Grant funding that has been allocated to voluntary sector projects to support 

vulnerable people, £250,000 of DEFRA funding that has been awarded to 

foodbanks across the County and £250,000 of the Contain Outbreak 

Management Fund that has been allocated to Citizens Advice to provide 

additional debt and money management support to people in hardship.  

 

58. Direct support for vulnerable people is being provided with the help of the 

Winter Support Grant: The Council’s £1.62 million grant is being used to 

provide food vouchers for eligible children during the school holidays as well 

as food, fuel and heating support to families in hardship.  

 

Financial implications 

 

59. The proposals outlined in this report will, in total, cost approximately 

£1,645,000, £950,000 of which (covering the Business Recovery Fund and 

Community Pub fund) has previously been committed. 

168



 

60. As a national initiative, Kickstart provides basic employment costs for a total of 

6 months.  To extend 15 County Council roles to a 12-month placement and 

provide employer contributions to the Local Government Pension Scheme for 

the duration of the placement, additional costs would be in the region of 

£100,000.  This cost would be split across departmental budgets. 

 

61. Work+ is estimated to cost £340,000 over a two-year period.  It is proposed 

that this be funded through use of the Broadband Gainshare Fund. 

 
62. The Community Pub programme has been funded through use of the 

Economic Reserves Fund.  The Business Recovery Grant scheme has been 

funded through use of the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership 

business rates pool. 

 
63. The financial position and proposed drawdown from the Economic Reserves 

Fund and Broadband Gainshare Fund is included within the draft MTFS for 

2020/21. 

 

64. The Director of Corporate Resources and Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on this report. 

 

65. A summary of the financial implications are shown on the following table: 

 

Proposal Total project cost Source 

Kickstart £175,000  £100,000 split across departmental 

budgets 

 £75,000 from the Economic Reserves 

Fund 

Work+ £340,000 Broadband Investment Gainshare Fund 

Business 
Recovery Fund 

£750,000 LLEP Business Rates Pool 

Community Pub 
Fund 

£200,000  Economic Reserves Fund (£150,000) 

 Projected underspend from the Business 

Recovery Fund (£50,000) 

Place Marketing 
Boost 

£180,000 LLEP Investment Fund, subject to LLEP Board 
approval 

 

Timetable for Decision(s) 

 

66. The Cabinet will consider a similar report at its meeting on 5th February 2021 

which will include any comments made by the Scrutiny Commission.  Subject 

to the Cabinet’s decision, the Council will work collaboratively with the City 

169



Council as a Kickstart Gateway and plans will be finalised to roll-out Work+ in 

the County Council libraries. 

 

67. This report, along with updates from the Infrastructure and Community strands 

will also be presented for discussion at the next meeting of the Joint Member 

Working Party. 

 
Conclusion 
 
68. The County Council has acted quickly and positively in response to the 

challenges posed by COVID-19.  Initially the focus was necessarily concerned 
with the health impacts and delivery of key services, including grants being 
awarded to community groups providing vital support to those most affected. 
During the summer financial assistance was also provided to affected small 
businesses through the Business Recovery Fund to support their survival, and 
more latterly community pubs have been provided with emergency funding. All 
the above has been widely welcomed by grant recipients and the wider 
community. 

 
69. The primary focus is now the medium term activities proposed in this report to 

support the sustainability and growth of Leicestershire's economy as we look 
beyond the immediate impact of COVID-19.  Through initiatives such as 
Kickstart and Work+, the people of Leicestershire, particularly the young who 
may feel their future has been most severely impacted by the events of 2020 
and those furthest from the work place who will most benefit from receiving 
practical assistance, will develop the skills and experience that will be of value 
to many local businesses. 

 
70. The recent economic shocks have also enabled the Council to consider the 

implications for the wider growth environment.  Improving broadband access 
through a number of new initiatives, developing principles that support a 
greener and more sustainable economy and promoting the tourism 
opportunities across the County provide longer term benefits that will support 
growth in Leicestershire into the future. 

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 

71. There are no Equality and Human Rights Implications directly arising from this 

report. 

  

Risk Assessment 

 

72. Large and complex projects that require upfront investment in order to 

generate future financial returns inevitably bring a significant degree of risk.  

The County Council is mindful of this and appropriate governance 

arrangements need to be in place to continually monitor such projects.  The 

Growth Service will ensure that adequate project specific governance is in 

170



place and that updates are also regularly provided to Members as 

appropriate.  

 

Environmental Impact 

 

73. There are no environmental implications arising directly from the contents of 

this report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
74. None. 

 
Background Papers (excluding exempt items) 

 

“Working together for the benefit of everyone - Leicestershire County Council’s 

Strategic Plan 2018-22” - https://bit.ly/35x4V4d  

 

Report to the Cabinet on 23 June 2020 “Coronavirus (Covid-19) Impact and 

Response of the County Council - Recovery and Financial Impact” - 

https://bit.ly/3nyBZ1Y  

 

Report to the Cabinet on 20 October 2021 “Coronavirus (COVID-19) Impact and 
Response of the County Council - Recovery -  https://bit.ly/3sf2rkF  
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 

 

Simon Lawrence, Head of the Growth Unit & Major Programmes 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 

 
List of Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Economic Data provided by Business Intelligence 

Appendix B – Kickstart Business Case 

Appendix C – Work+ Business Case 

Appendix D – Leicestershire Resilience Forum ERC, Economic Recovery Action  

 Plan 

 
 

171

https://bit.ly/35x4V4d
https://bit.ly/3nyBZ1Y
https://bit.ly/3sf2rkF
mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

Economic Data provided by Business Intelligence 

Unemployment 

County picture 

In November 2020, there were 17,585 individuals claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) and 

Universal Credit in Leicestershire, an increase of 165 claimants over the previous month and 

an increase of 10,460 when compared to March 2020. 

Since March 2020, the claimant rate in Leicestershire has increased from 1.6 percent to 4.0 

percent of the working age population in November 2020.  This represents a significant 

increase but remains below the East Midlands figure (5.5 percent) and the England figure 

(6.4 percent). 

Age 

As is the case nationally, Leicestershire’s unemployment rates are higher in those aged 18 to 

24 than in other broad age groups.  For Leicestershire the rates are 5.6 percent for the 18-24 

age group, compared to 4.5 percent for those aged 25-49 and 3.1 percent for those aged 

50+. 

Young people are three times more likely to work in the most affected two sectors – 

(Accommodation and Food; Arts, entertainment and recreation) according to the TUC.  The 

aforementioned sectors have seen 3.5 times more businesses pause trading than the all 

business average.  This has led to both increased furlough and job losses.  

Districts  

In November 2020, Charnwood had the largest number of individuals claiming JSA and 
Universal Credit with 4,645 claimants, followed by Hinckley and Bosworth with 3,020 
claimants, and North West Leicestershire with 2,650.  Melton experienced the smallest 
number of claimants (1,270), followed by Oadby and Wigston (1,585).  Blaby had 2,420 
claimants and Harborough 2,000 claimants. 

In November, claimant rates across the Districts saw small changes with North West 

Leicestershire rising by 0.2% and Oadby and Wigston decreasing by 0.1%. All other Districts 

were within this range. 

Oadby and Wigston had the highest claimant rate in November 2020 with 4.6 percent of the 

working age population claiming JSA and Universal Credit, followed by Hinckley and 

Bosworth with 4.4 percent, while Harborough experienced the lowest claimant rate with 3.6 

percent. 

173



 

Figure 1 Unemployment Rates in Leicestershire districts. 

 

Furloughed Staff 

Data released in mid-December by HMRC provides details of all claims as at the end of 
October 2020. The England level was 7% of all eligible workers. Three Leicestershire districts 
were above this figure, although Leicestershire districts had higher levels than neighbouring 
counties.   
 
Figure 2 Percentage of Staff Furloughed in Leicestershire and neighbouring county districts 
 

 

174



Considering numbers, Leicester City has more employments furloughed than neighbouring 

cities. Charnwood is the highest district in the area. 

Figure 3 Number of Staff Furloughed in Leicestershire and neighbouring county Districts 
 

 

Self employment claims 

Leicestershire districts are amongst those with the highest take-up rates of self-employment 

claims. However, some districts are amongst the lowest. The UK rate is 69%. County average 

67% and City 73%. 

Figure 4 Take up rate of self-employment claims in Leicestershire and neighbouring county 
Districts 

 

175



Impact on Retail and Hospitality Sectors 

There is a time lag in receiving economic data at the local level, so we have to rely on proxy 

indicators to assess impact on the economy.  One such indicator is footfall in town centres 

which helps to assess impact on the retail, hospitality and personal services sectors.  

Provisional data from wi-fi networks in eight market town centres in Leicestershire shows 

that weekly footfall fell dramatically at the end of March 2020 before recovering slowly until 

early September, while remaining well below levels at the start of 2020.  Weekly footfall 

then started to decline before dropping dramatically with the second national lockdown in 

early November.  All eight town centres followed a similar pattern.  This has a significant 

impact on businesses in the hospitality, personal services and retail sectors. 

Figure 5 Number of visitors in 8 Leicestershire Town Centres (based on town centre wi-fi 

data) 

 

 

 
Google publishes aggregated, anonymized data from Google Maps to show how busy 

certain types of places are, for example, retail & recreation, grocery & pharmacy, transit 

stations, workplaces, parks and residential. During the lockdown period, this data shows 

increased activity in ‘parks’ and ‘residential’ areas.  In the other areas, activity was much 

reduced initially, but showed a gradual trend of recovery.  This is likely to now decrease 

again as the area has entered tier 4. 

 

Impact on Tourism Sector 

 
Visit Britain estimates that tourism across the country has fallen by at least 55.9% during 

2020. The Leicester City and Leicestershire area has suffered particularly badly due to the 

extension of lockdown in the City and Oadby & Wigston over the summer months when 

other areas were beginning to re-open. Large local attractions have reported falls in revenue 

of between 66% and 80%.  

 

176



The graph below uses google mobility data (retail and recreation) to show that Leicester city 

(green line) was furthest from ‘baseline activity’ than any major city in England during the 

summer.  Leicester City was frequently 63% - 75% below baseline and frequently 30% 

behind ‘average’ cities.   Although the figures relate to Leicester City, businesses have 

commented that this has had implications for Leicestershire ‘by association’ with visitors to 

the county area postponing or cancelling their trips.   Many visitors to Leicestershire 

attractions are day visitors from Leicester and the extended city lockdown has had a 

significant impact on county attractions. 

Figure 6 Google Mobility Data (Retail and Recreation) Difference from Baseline 

 

 
 
 

It is difficult to quantify the impact on the local economy, but a conservative estimate of a 

60% reduction would equate to a £1.1 Billion loss to the Leicester and Leicestershire local 

economy.   

 

Business Closures  

Business closures have shown a sharp increase in recent months. The year-to-year 

comparison is heavily impacted by government funding made available during the pandemic 

to support businesses. This meant that far fewer businesses closed during the first national 

lockdown. However, as various support schemes began to reduce, business closures rose 

sharply. These figures will be interesting to monitor in the coming months to compare the 

overall numbers over the whole year. 

 

 

 

 

177



Figure 7 Dissolved or Liquidated Businesses 

 

 

Business Concerns 

The Leicestershire Business Survey and community insight survey both convey a potential 

lack of confidence about the future from both businesses and consumers. 

The Leicester and Leicestershire Business Survey conducted in the May to August time 

window with 250 local businesses showed their key concerns as: 

 83% further Covid-19 outbreaks 

 49% red tape 

 46% political uncertainty 

 44% impact of social distancing on their business 

 40% about cashflow 

 39% supply chains 

 35% UK leaving EU  
 

 

Community Insight Survey  

The County Council’s Community Survey asks people how worried, if at all, they feel about 

the impact of Covid-19 on the areas shown in Figure 8. The responses provided during 

quarter 2 suggest that people have become significantly more worried since quarter 1. This 

is important for the recovery as consumer confidence and spending will play a significant 

role in rebuilding the economy. 

 

 

 

178



Figure 8 Community Insight survey 

 

 

 

Small Business Grants Fund 

Local authorities have received and distributed funding to support small and medium 

businesses in England during coronavirus. Across England, 94.5% those identified as eligible 

have received funding. The average across Leicestershire (districts and the City) is slightly 

higher at 95.2%.  As individual areas, three are below the national average – Blaby, 

Charnwood and Melton. 

 

 

 

 

 

179



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 1 of 6 

Purpose – To capture basic information about new project proposals for approval through MTFS spend 
controls. Applicable to all revenue and capital proposals, regardless of funding source or budget availability 
 
When to use this document – As early as practical in the consideration of new LCC projects 

1) Idea appraisal - minimise feasibility work/option appraisal until some certainty that scheme 
will proceed 

2) Post feasibility 
 
Approach – The level of detail should reflect the level of investment sought and the risk being borne 
  

 

Proposal Name Kickstart Scheme participation 

 

Aims and 
objectives 

Please explain why this project is needed? 
The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is unprecedented, unlike other economic shocks, it is 
ongoing and volatile with the likelihood of repeated lockdowns giving rise to high levels of 
uncertainty. 
 
It has been widely recognised that young workers (aged up to 25) are likely to be 
disproportionately disadvantaged by any downturn in the economy. They are the highest 
percentage of claimants by age group, and young women are particularly disadvantaged as 
they are more likely to work in hospitality or retail. This age group is likely to be the 
hardest hit for several reasons including missing education, reduction in apprenticeship 
opportunities, a more competitive labour market and lack of workplace digital skills. 
 
In March 2020, 2,950 claimants in Leicester and Leicestershire were aged 18 to 24.  This is 
a claimant rate of 2.6%.  By October this had risen to 7,220 (6.4%).  This is an increase of 
4,270 claimants or 145%.  This compares to a claimant rate of 5.2% across all age groups 
(2.1% in October 2019). 
 
In September 2020 the UK government launched the Kickstart Scheme in response to the 
threat of increasing unemployment levels, particularly affecting young people, as a result 
of the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
The Council has been considering its role in supporting economic recovery following the 
impact Covid-19, both from an internal and county wide perspective, and consider that 
Kickstart will be a valuable vehicle to mitigate against the potential damage to the long 
term employment prospects of young people, particularly those that are vulnerable or face 
additional challenges. 
 
How will it link to the strategic outcomes of the Council? 
 
Strong Economy 
Contributes directly to the sub-outcome ‘Leicestershire has a highly skilled and employable 
workforce’ by providing placements that enable participants to benefit from six or twelve 
months of work experience supported by employability training.  There is an additional 
commitment to provide a clear pathway to ongoing opportunities via paid employment, 
apprenticeships, further training or volunteering roles. 
 
 
 

181



APPENDIX B 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 2 of 6 

Wellbeing and Opportunity 
Supports sub-outcome ‘Everyone is able to aim high and reach their full potential’ by 
working with those at risk of long-term unemployment, enabling them to take up work 
opportunities and increase their employability skills. 
 
Keeping People Safe 
Opportunities would be actively sought to provide placements that support the council’s 
objectives around developing a green economy and achieving carbon neutrality across 
Leicestershire by 2050. This would also support the sub-outcome ‘People act to protect 
and enhance the environment for current and future generations’ 
 
How does this project contribute to LCC’s strategic change agenda (i.e. Financial 
Sustainability, Ways of Working, Carbon Neutrality or Digital)? 
LCC’s strategic change agenda aims to ensure that the authority is lean and working 
smartly to meet future obligations and to continue to deliver high quality services to the 
people of Leicestershire.  The Kickstart scheme provides young people across 
Leicestershire, particularly those that are most vulnerable and at risk of long term 
unemployment, with an opportunity to meaningfully contribute to strategic aims through 
supporting delivery across a range of LCC services. 
 

  

Proposal 
Outline the 
expected 
approach to 
delivering the 
project, including 
likely options  

The Government’s Kickstart Scheme provides funding to create new job placements for 16 
to 24 year olds on Universal Credit who are at risk of long term unemployment. Employers 
of all sizes can apply for funding which covers: 
 

 100% of the National Minimum Wage1 (or the National Living Wage2 depending on 
the age of the participant) for 25 hours per week for a total of 6 months 

 Associated employer National Insurance contributions   
 Employer minimum automatic enrolment contributions 

 
There are 2 ways in which employers can engage with the programme: 
 

 Larger organisations, with a minimum of 30 job placements can apply directly 

 Those with fewer placements can engage through a Kickstart Gateway (typically a 
local authority, trade body or charity) that will support applications from multiple 
companies. Gateways will receive £300 per placement to cover admin costs. 

 
For each job placement employers must help the young person become more employable. 
This could include: 

 looking for long-term work, including career advice and setting goals 
 support with curriculum vitae (CV) and interview preparations 
 developing their skills in the workplace 

A payment of £1500 per placement is provided to support development of employability 
skills. 
 
Leicestershire provision 
There are several organisations offering to act as a Kickstart Gateway across Leicestershire 
and the wider East Midlands, including district councils, FE colleges and East Midlands 
Chamber and high levels of interest from companies has been reported.  Each Gateway is 

                                                           
1
 From Apr 2021 - £4.62 (under 18), £6.56 (18-20) or £8.36 (21-22). Reviewed annually in April. 

2
 From Apr 2021 - £8.91 (23+). Reviewed annually in April. 

182



APPENDIX B 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 3 of 6 

working closely with companies to support their recruitment and employability skills 
delivery.  
 
LCC is well placed to provide internal placements and could focus on offering opportunities 
to those with specific needs such as care leavers or those with disabilities.  As a large 
employer a range of roles could be offered requiring different skill sets.  A key part of the 
scheme concerns ensuring participants skills and employability increase during the 
placement period. This would be supported by Leicestershire’s Adult Learning services 
(LALs). The training would support development of viable exit strategies either within LCC 
or externally, for example, through apprenticeships.   
 
As providing line management to placements of this nature can be challenging – 
particularly if working remotely – additional training should be provided to those taking on 
this role.  This will improve the skills and increase the experience of managers responsible 
for managing Kickstart participants.  A mechanism to support manager networking (actual 
or virtual) will be developed to provide peer learning and support opportunities. 
 
Partnership approach and extended provision 
Discussions have been held with Leicester City Council and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership (LLEP) regarding a joint Gateway provision (supporting both internal and 
company placements), enabling a co-ordinated response and providing additional value to 
participants.  Discussions with CMT have considered LCC providing funding up to the value 
of £250,000 to support Kickstart in Leicestershire.  A decision has yet to be taken on 
sources of LCC funding, but consideration will need to be given as to whether departments 
contribute proportionately according to the number of placements they receive.  It should 
also be noted that payments from DWP are received in arrears, triggered by submission of 
evidence of PAYE payments to participants. 
 
Leicester City Council are also looking at providing up to £250,000 of funding to support 
placements within the city council. Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership 
(LLEP) have committed to match funding the local authority contributions, with up to 
£500,000 to support 90 Kickstart placements in city and county SME, extended to 12 
months. 
 
LCC could choose to deliver Kickstart placements as defined by the national scheme, but by 
committing to providing additional funding there are several ways in which LCC could 
enhance the support provided to participants; 
 

 Option 1 – Providing placements in line with the government scheme 

Internal placements operating as specified by government – 6 months support at 
appropriate minimum wage level with employability support provided.  As the national 
scheme provides pension contributions in line with auto enrolment requirements, 
additional costs would be incurred to bring provision in line with LGPS employer 
contributions. 
 

 Option 2 – Extending placements for an additional 6 months 

Extending the placement period, resulting in an overall 12 month placement for 
participants, would provide additional security for the participant and a longer period in 
which to gain from the experience and develop their skills.  A similar programme delivered 
by Leicester City Council from 2013-15 created 258 jobs of which 75% of participants did 
not return to claiming benefits.  The extended duration of placements was seen as 
particularly valuable. 

183



APPENDIX B 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 4 of 6 

 

 Option 3 - Extending placements for an additional 6 months, whilst also 

increasing hours to 37 per week for the full 12m duration  

LALS proposes 25 hours of work placement with additional time for training contributing to 
a full time working week for participants.  There would be a significant cost in taking this 
approach (assuming that participants were paid for the time spent training).  A 25 hour 
week which included the training provision would reduce costs and potentially benefit line 
managers who would be under less pressure to productively fill the time of participants 
with limited working experience, working remotely and potentially facing other challenges.   
 

 Option 4 - Extending placement for an additional 6 months but paying the real 

living wage (£9.50ph) for all participants, for the full 12m duration  

An option being considered by Leicester City Council is to pay participants the real living 
wage.  This approach is likely to make participants feel more valued as a significant 
member of their team. 
 
Options 2-4 above, extending the placement to 12 months, provides added value to 
participants and an additional incentive to secure a placement at LCC. In addition to 
increased security it ensures that a greater range of support offers, delivered to greater 
depth, can be provided.   
 
Leicester Employment Hub, an EU ESF funded project of which LCC are a partner, would act 
as the Kickstart Gateway for LCC and Leicester City and could bid to manage the LLEP 
funded SME participants.  Through the partnership approach LCC would work closely with 
the Employment Hub in identifying and supporting county businesses participating in the 
scheme and would be influential in deciding which applicants would benefit from the 
extension to 12 months supported by LLEP funding.  The employability support services 
provided internally would be offered to local SME and focus could be given to; key sectors 
where strong growth is forecast, geographies where youth employment is particularly 
affected or companies where there are clear plans in place in support of carbon reduction. 
 
Other advantages of this joint approach include; 

 A clear and consistent offer across city and county boundaries 

 Ability to attract additional funding via the LLEP 

 A compelling offer with differentiation from other local providers 

 Shared management and administration resourcing through the Leicester 
Employment Hub 

 Shared branding and promotion 
 
LCC placements 
The County Council’s internal placements could be distributed across Departments 
according to headcount unless otherwise agreed.  This would generate placements as 
follows; 
 
Adults & Communities - 5 
Children & Family Services - 4 
Environment & Transport - 3 
Corporate Resources - 2 
Chief Executive’s - 1 
 
In line with the Council’s aims of supporting those in our community that are 
disadvantaged, we would, as outlined above, aim to encourage applications from those 

184



APPENDIX B 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 5 of 6 

who may require additional support to gain employment, for example, care leavers or 
those facing other barriers to work.  Care would need to be taken to ensure participants 
are carefully supported (particularly if working remotely) with work at an appropriate 
volume that provides meaningful new skills and experience.  Extra support may be 
required for some participants for example, additional equipment or a personal work 
coach/mentor.  There may be an increased risk that participants with additional barriers to 
work are unable to successfully complete the placement and recording issues and 
successful support mechanisms as they arise will form a valuable body of lessons learnt as 
the scheme progresses. 
 
It should also be noted that the scheme requires that placements are ‘new jobs’ – neither 
replacing existing or planned vacancies or causing existing employees, contractors or 
apprentices to lose work or reduce their hours.  Careful consideration will need to be given 
to how to address this requirement, without increasing headcount at a time when financial 
pressures are increasing.  Options may include considering roles which address specific 
time limited activities or short term capacity issues.  Line managers should then consider 
building in activities which open up opportunities to secure longer term or permanent 
employment through, for example, access to internal vacancies or apprenticeships.  

 

Anticipated 
Benefits 
Please specify 
which service 
areas will benefit 
and projected 
timeframe 

Financial Benefits (please specify if these will be cashable and key assumptions): 
The scheme’s aim is not to deliver financial benefits, rather it provides a service to local 18-
24 year olds to provide employment, developing working experience and improving 
employability skills. 
 

Participants receive the National Minimum Wage (or the National Living Wage depending 
on the age of the participant) for 25 hours per week for a total of 6 months. 
 
LCC as employer would receive employer National Insurance contributions and minimum 
automatic enrolment contributions for each participant. 
 
In addition, employers will also receive £1,500 funding per job placement. This is for setup 
costs and to support the young person develop their employability skills and can be split 
between the employer and (if applicable) Kickstart Gateway. 
 

Non-Financial Benefits: 
Participants will benefit from an opportunity to gain additional work experience, increase 
their employability, earn a salary and identify suitable next steps. 
 
Service departments will benefit from the additional resource provided by the placement 
and increased people management experience for line managers. 
 
More broadly, the county will benefit from raised skill levels in participants and a reduction 
in Universal Credit claimants.  It would be anticipated that, given the right level of support 
and guidance through their placements, the majority of those taking part in the scheme 
will go on to further training or work, ultimately securing permanent positions.  This 
potentially results in significant personal gain for individuals and a long term positive 
impact through a reduction in use of council and other services and financial support over 
the course of a working lifetime. 
 

  
 
 

185



APPENDIX B 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 6 of 6 

 

Approvals limits – please circle 
 

<£50k  DMT + Finance and Transformation Business Partners 
£50k - £100k per above + CT/DK/NW 
>£100k + per above + CMT (or Transformation Delivery Board) 

 

 
Mandate 
Completed by: 

 
Rebecca Littlewood 
 

 
Date:     

 
17 December 2020 
 

 

 

Reviewed and 
Approved by 
Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

 
 
 

Date:   

 

Reviewed and 
Approved by: 

 Date:                                     

   
 

186



APPENDIX C 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 1 of 3 

Purpose – To capture basic information about new project proposals for approval through MTFS spend controls. 
Applicable to all revenue and capital proposals, regardless of funding source or budget availability 
 
When to use this document – As early as practical in the consideration of new LCC projects 

1) Idea appraisal - minimise feasibility work/option appraisal until some certainty that scheme will 
proceed 

2) Post feasibility 
 
Approach – The level of detail should reflect the level of investment sought and the risk being borne 
  

  

Proposal Name Work+ 

  

Aims and 
objectives 

Please explain why this project needed? 
Unemployment levels in Leicestershire are rising (4.1%) and are set to rise further following the 
furlough scheme ending in April 2021.  
After January 2021 there will not be any form of Work Club being delivered from the County’s library 
due to the current funding from the European Social Fund not continuing. This will leave a large gap in 
provision when it is most needed.  
 
How will it link to the strategic outcomes of the Council? 
 
With project focussing on Employment and Skills and preparing people to re enter employment the 
project fits well with the strategic plan and link with many of the outcomes, Strong Economy, 
Wellbeing and Opportunity and Greater Communities.  
 
How does this project contribute to LCC’s strategic change agenda (i.e. Financial Sustainability, 
Ways of Working, Carbon Neutrality or Digital)? 
 
LCC’s strategic change agenda aims to ensure that the authority is lean and working smartly to meet 
future obligations and to continue to deliver high quality services to the people of Leicestershire.  
Supporting people back into employment will reduce the amount of people requiring LCCs services 
allow them to support the most in need.  
 
 
 

           

187



APPENDIX C 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 2 of 3 

Proposal 
Outline the 
expected 
approach to 
delivering the 
project, including 
likely options  

Work+: The Offer: 
The Work+ offer would be a 2 year project to support people to become work ready with their CV, 
cover letters, job search, email account, how to use LinkedIn and other Social Media platforms to 
search for jobs. Explore volunteering opportunities, interview techniques, digital training, self-
employment and business support. 
 
Work+ would be managed within the Communities and Wellbeing Service. The libraries offer a 
neutral, safe and inclusive place for people to attend and job search with an opportunity to engage 
with Learning and Work Advisors (Leicestershire Adult Learning Service) who can provide Information 
Advice and Guidance (IAG) about LALs courses as well as other opportunities that may be available. 
Explore opportunities with the voluntary sector which could include volunteering at the work+ in the 
future.  
 
A structured approach would be provided for participants of approximately 12 weeks (depending on 
their needs) shaping a way forward into employment, training or volunteering. This would include 
follow up so we could track participants outcomes and track for 6 months after. This would be 
managed by Work+ and LAL staff.  
 
Governance  
Work+ would be managed by a board chaired by Chief Executive and including internal and external 
partners. There would be a project group to deal with the operational side of the project.  
 
Target Audience 
Work+ would be a universal offer targeted at “people actively looking for work” but set targets around 
engaging with ethnic minorities, people with disabilities, mental health issues and ensure a gender 
balance. 
 
Success for a participant would be: Employment, Improved confidence/wellbeing, Volunteering, 
Enrolled into training. Supporting them to be a positive contributor to their community.  
 
Unemployment is high and will continue to increase so it is expected the demand will be high from 
participants to engage with Work+. Also considering the number of people who previously engaged 
with the Work Clubs a target for the number of ‘visits’ could be 10,000 over the life time of the project 
with a positive outcome for at least 50%.  
 
Partners 
The Work+ would work with a number of services across the authority such as the Participation Team 
and the Local Area Coordinators (LACs). LACs Community Recovery Workers could sign post people to 
Work+, support participants during the Work+ sessions and then with follow up ensuring they reach a 
sustainable outcome. The Participation Team would play a strong role if participants would like to 
explore volunteering opportunities with the County Council.  
 
External partners would include DWP, LLEP, Futures, VAL to attract participants to Work+ and provide 
support to a positive outcome.  
 
Direct engagement with employers would be encouraged to attract in participants, there could be a 
focus in on particular sectors e.g. social care, employers could be invited to promote their 
opportunities, arrange work experience and discuss potential training offers via apprenticeship 
schemes at Work+ and even interview candidates at the library where appropriate. 
 
Delivery Locations: 
Work+ would be primarily located at the libraries, rolled out across the 6 main libraries (Coalville, 
Hinckley, Market Harborough, Melton Mowbray, Wigston Magna, Oadby). Delivery would take a 
staged approach and use data to inform where need is greatest. Loughborough library delivers 
Moneywise Plus which is a European Social Fund project, therefore Work+ will complement this 
service rather than compete with it. It is also proposed pop-up arrangements would be put in place at 
the Shopping Centre libraries and Adult Learning Centres. Community led Libraries would be 

188



APPENDIX C 
Project Mandate  

 
 

 
 3 of 3 

      

Anticipated 
Benefits 
Please specify 
which service 
areas will benefit 
and projected 
timeframe 

Financial Benefits (please specify if these will be cashable and key assumptions): 
Having the support of Work+ can reduce the risk of those participants becoming long term 
unemployed which could put a strain on our services such as Public Health, Adults and Communities & 
Children’s and Families Service. By having this in place could quickly return the participants back into 
employment.   
 
This investment can also provide wider benefits to other parts of the public sector such as health, 
DWP.   
 

 

Non-Financial Benefits: 
Corporate Social Responsibility to support the unemployed.  
Positive contribution to Leicestershire’s Economic Recovery.  
Positive effect on families having working parents to provide a role models to children.   
Being in employment can have a positive impact on wellbeing.  
 
 
 

           

      

 
 

 

 
 

 

Approvals limits – please circle 
 

<£50k  DMT + Finance and Transformation Business Partners 
£50k - £100k per above + CT/DK/NW 
>£100k + per above + CMT (or Transformation Delivery Board) 

 

 
Mandate 
Completed by: 

 
 
Sarah Rudkin 
 

 
Date:     

 
 
5th January 2021  

 

Reviewed and 
Approved by 
Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

 
 
 

Date: 

 

 

     

Reviewed and  
Approved by:                                                                    Date:   
 

189



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
  

 

  

 

 

Covid-19 

Economic Recovery Action Plan 

December 2020 

191



 

 

 

 
 

   

    

    

     

    

   

   

   

    

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

  

Contents 

Foreword.................................................................................................................................................................3 

1. Introduction..................................................................................................................................................4 

2. COVID-19 Economic response ..............................................................................................................5 

3. Economic Impact – Leicester and Leicestershire ............................................................................6 

4. Progress to Date .........................................................................................................................................8 

Businesses Support ........................................................................................................................................8 

People .................................................................................................................................................................8 

Infrastructure ....................................................................................................................................................8 

5. Priority Actions ............................................................................................................................................9 

People, Employment and Skills..................................................................................................................9 

Business Support.......................................................................................................................................... 10 

Innovation....................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Green Recovery............................................................................................................................................. 11 

Infrastructure ................................................................................................................................................. 12 

2 

192



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Foreword 

Foreword from Kevin Harris, Chair of the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership 

It is no exaggeration to say that Covid-19 is the most damaging economic shock in a 

working generation, and its impact on our area will be long lasting and far reaching. This 

unforeseen public health crisis has disrupted our lives and businesses in an unimaginable 

way over the past year.  And yet, it has also shown that when most needed, we are able to 

come together as one: through the Local Resilience Forum many different agencies have 

worked together to address the challenges, and many of our businesses have pivoted their 

operations to respond to changing consumer demand. 

Developed in consultation with public, private and voluntary sector partners, this Economic 

Recovery Plan identifies the key priorities for action over the next 12 months.  Setting out 

our short-term priorities, with particular focus on employment and jobs, access to skills, 

particularly digital and green technology skills, supporting business recovery and increasing 

innovation across the industrial spectrum. 

Our aim, together with our public, private and voluntary sector partners, is to build back a 

robust and sustainable economy, where business and residents can flourish, and inclusive 

growth is embedded into our ways of working. Over the coming year we will continue to 

work in partnership to create jobs, deliver growth and transform to a low carbon economy.  

We will harness the strengths of our universities and Enterprise Zones to ensure that our 

businesses are able to seize opportunities through innovation and the adoption of 

technology. 

It will be challenging, we do not yet know the full impact that the pandemic will have on our 

economy, and the impact on jobs and some sectors of the economy is already significant.  

We will use emerging data to continue to focus our resources on supporting the recovery of 

our High Streets, the diverse range of sectors within our economy and the health and 

wellbeing of Leicester and Leicestershire residents.  At the same time we will relentlessly 

pursue opportunities within our reach, taking advantage of our unique geographical location 

and the many advantages that this affords us. 

This Economic Recovery Plan is the start of a critical path for this area, built on our collective 

will to rebuild our economy, for businesses, for individuals and the communities they belong 

to. 

3 

193



 

 

 

  
 

   

 

   

    

 

  

   

    

    

 

  

    

 

 

   

   

    

 

 

  

  

  

  

    

  

    

 

  

 

   

  

 

1. Introduction 
The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is unprecedented, unlike other economic shocks, it is 

ongoing and volatile with the likelihood of repeated lockdowns giving rise to high levels of 

uncertainty. Local response in Leicester and Leicestershire has been coordinated through the 

Local Resilience Forum, comprising key stakeholders, with Leicester and Leicestershire Local 

Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) leading the Economic Recovery Cell (ERC). The ERC has 

overseen the development of a high-level Economic Recovery Action Plan for Leicester and 

Leicestershire as part of the Covid-19 Economic Recovery framework: 

1 Analyse Economic Shock Immediate and ongoing 

2 Create short-term economic recovery plans 12-18 months (to Dec 2021) 

3 Develop longer term economic recovery strategy 5-10 years (to 2030) 

An initial draft of the plan was circulated among partners and stakeholders in September 

2020 and feedback received has been incorporated into the development of the current 

more succinct and focused plan. 

The plan was developed according to the following principles: 

• Using available economic data to inform the plan 

• Focusing on business and employment support 

• Recognising where there are opportunities to build back better and respond to 

emerging local and national priorities. 

To meet immediate local needs priorities have been structured against the following key 

themes: 

• Business recovery 

• People, employment and skills 

• Green recovery 

• Innovation, science and technology 

• Infrastructure 

This document identifies the key priorities; it is supported by a detailed matrix developed 

with partners and stakeholders which captures the specific responsibilities, actions, 

timescales and resources feeding into each of the identified priorities within the plan.  This 

will be regularly reviewed by the Economic Recovery Cell. 

Cutting across all of the priorities are four identified ‘golden threads’: cross cutting strands 

embedded within the recovery actions which are seen as critical to successful economic 

recovery. In the more detailed plans, consideration will be given to how these overarching 

themes will be addressed within each priority. 

4 

194



 

 

 

  

 

  
 

  

 

  

 

    

  

  

 

 

  

  

   

    

 

  

  

  

 

  

    

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

Place: development 

of place based deals 

and implementation 

of recovery plans for 

our city, towns and 

rural areas 

Green recovery: 

accelerating our 

sustainable and clean 

growth and 

exploiting our 

natural capital assets 

Digital: ensuring 

effective 

infrastructure, skills 

and transformation 

Inclusive growth 

and wellbeing: 

ensuring economic 

recovery is 

distributed fairly 

across society 

Figure 1 Cross-Cutting Themes 

2. COVID-19 Economic response 
At the time of writing the fluid nature of the impact of Covid-19 on our economy has already 

been felt keenly in Leicester and Leicestershire, firstly through the extended period of 

lockdown within Leicester City and surrounding districts, and more recently by the 

announcement of a further national lockdown due to begin on 5th November. 

The Recovery Plan has to be flexible and to provide a steer in terms of positive actions which 

can be undertaken within the next 18 months to mitigate against the effects not only of 

Covid-19 but also of EU transition once the transition arrangements come to an end on 31 

December 2020. 

Therefore in determining priorities for action, a number of factors have been considered in 

addition to the feedback from stakeholders to the first draft: 

• a reduced number of priorities allowing concentration on key issues; 

• responding to immediate and emerging priorities where resources have been 

identified; 

• consideration of additional impact arising from EU Transition; 

• actions which can be achieved within the coming year to December 2021; 

• importance of addressing the most adversely affected parts of the economy but also 

of building upon strengths of the area to aid recovery; 

• ensuring that the plan addresses the needs of all parts of our economy, be that 

urban, rural, high street or city centre; and that where possible actions will have a 

wide-ranging impact and 

• ensuring the plan remains flexible to consider the impact of future lockdowns and 

closures of non-essential business. 

5 

195



 

 

    
 

   

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
   

 

 

     

        

      

      
 

     

  

 

  

  

3. Economic Impact – Leicester and Leicestershire 

National GDP in August 52,600 
9.2% below the February pre-Covid-19 employments furloughed at 31 August 2020* 

rate. 
Source: ONS Source: HMRC 

19,975 more people claiming JSA or 29,200 
Universal Credit between March and claims made to the Self Employment Income 

October 
____________________________________________ 

Claimant rate for 18-24-year 

Support Scheme up to 31 August 2020* for a 

total value of 

£73.8 million 
Source: HMRC 

olds was 6.4% in October 
Source: Nomis 

As of 30 August £193,885,000 paid 

out to 16,507 business properties 

through the Small Business Grants Fund 

and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants 

Fund. 

A total of 95% of eligible businesses 

have received funding. 
Source: HMRC 

Source: EMSI 

Source: FAME, Bureau van Dijk 

Job Postings 

Business Concerns 

83% Further Covid-19 Outbreak 40% Cashflow 

49% Red tape 39% Maintaining supply chains 

46% Political uncertainty 35% UK leaving EU 

44% Social Distancing 

Source: Leicester and Leicestershire Business Survey – May-August cohort of 250 respondents 

*Includes all claims received to 30 September 2020 

Figure 2 Economic Impact 

6 

196



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

   

  

 

 

 

   

  

  

 

  

    

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

The data in Figure 2 illustrates the impact which Covid-19 has had on the area as a whole, 

however, it is recognised that there are business sectors and groups within society likely to 

be more adversely affected.  

More vulnerable industries 

Industries most adversely affected by Covid-19 have been those classed as non-essential 

where they have been unable to trade, but also those within supply chains. For example, 

agriculture has been adversely affected by the decrease in demand from wholesalers 

supplying the hospitality industry. 

Travel, tourism and hospitality sectors have been among the hardest hit, and the impact has 

been keenly felt across the area, particularly through the extended Leicester lockdown. 

Allied to this is the impact on creative and cultural industries, hit hard by the preparation and 

development time required to stage events and productions in addition to social distancing 

requirements. 

The retail sector has also been impacted by the closure of non-essential retail, albeit that 

some outlets have been able to pivot to online platforms. 

Whilst not all manufacturing has been adversely affected by Covid-19, there is a concern that 

the predominance of manufacturing across Leicester and Leicestershire which exports to the 

European Union could increase the area’s vulnerability in a no-deal Brexit scenario. 

More vulnerable sections of our population 

Young workers (aged up to 25) are likely to be disproportionately disadvantaged by any 

downturn in the economy. They are the highest percentage of claimants by age group, and 

young women are particularly disadvantaged as they are more likely to work in hospitality or 

retail.  This age group is likely to be the hardest hit for a number of reasons including 

missing education, reduction in apprenticeship opportunities, a more competitive labour 

market and lack of workplace digital skills. At the other end of the age spectrum, those over 

50 may also find it harder to secure employment in times of recession. 

In any recession, there is an increased propensity for widening inequalities, with 

disadvantaged communities at greatest risk, including BAME communities, people with 

disabilities and care leavers. 

Whilst the priorities are high level, the development of specific actions within the Action 

Matrix, will ensure that we address the needs of those businesses and individuals who are 

forecast to be disadvantaged, linking activity and interventions to areas of opportunity and 

growth. 

7 

197



 

 

   

 

    

   

      

     

  

  

 

  

  

 

 

  

   

    

  

  

  

   

 

  

 

  

 

 

    

     

 

  

    

 

   

   

 

   

 

 

   

  

  

  

   

 

 

 

4. Progress to Date 

Businesses Support 

• Local authorities across Leicester and Leicestershire successfully distributed £193,885,000 

of government grant support (Small Business Growth Fund and Retail, Hospitality and 

Leisure Grant Fund) to 95% of eligible businesses compared to national average of 93% 

• Business Gateway Growth Hub delivered over 100 webinars to SMEs between April and 

October, many of them focused on supporting businesses through Covid-19 

• Between August and October 2020, grants totalling £484,594 have been made to 71 rural 

businesses through the Leicestershire Business Recovery Fund 

• A Tourism Recovery Framework has been developed by the Tourism Advisory Board 

• The Growth Hub developed a Covid-19 Business Toolkit to ensure businesses have access 

to the latest information and guidance 

• Established a Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) Regional Entrepreneurial 

Acceleration Programme (MIT REAP)1 project group comprising De Montfort, Leicester 

and Loughborough Universities, SMEs, Corporates, Risk Capital, LLEP Growth Hub and 

UKRI to drive forward innovation priorities through enabling improved connections 

between the area’s assets in science and technology and its strong manufacturing base. 

• Produced regular economic intelligence updates on the impact of Covid-19 via the LLEP 

Business and Economic Intelligence Update, LSR Online and Multi-Agency Information 

Cell to inform planning and sharpen the focus of potential interventions 

• Development of a range of Business Improvement District, City and Town Centre 

Recovery Plans 

• Identification of £1.6m additional LLEP funding to support Covid-19 recovery 

interventions including low-carbon technologies, NEET prevention, digital poverty and 

potential local enhancements to existing schemes of support 

People 

• The Enterprise Adviser Network secured £20k of Careers and Enterprise Company (CEC) 

funding to deliver 1,500 ‘Unbox Your Future’ toolkits to young people across Leicester 

and Leicestershire at risk of becoming NEET (not in education, employment or training) 

• An immediate response to potential redundancies through collaboration between LLEP, 

Futures, Leicester Employment Hub and the Department of Work and Pensions to set up 

the Covid-19 redundancy and recruitment service 

• A range of organisations including local authorities, business representative 

organisations, and training providers have registered as Gateway organisations for the 

Government’s Kickstart Scheme, which provides funding to create new job placements 

for 16 to 24-year olds on Universal Credit who are at risk of long-term unemployment 

Infrastructure 

• Allocation of £20m to four projects via the Getting Building Fund 

o Junction 23 M1 / A512 Access Improvements 

o St. Margaret’s Gateway 
o SportPark Pavilion 4 

o Granby Street and St. George’s Street Regeneration Gateway 

1 A pilot project designed to  support LEPs/MCAs to develop strategies and approaches to drive up 

productivity and entrepreneurial innovation in their local area.  

8 

198

https://bizgateway.org.uk/our-services/support/coronavirus-covid-19/
https://www.lsr-online.org/


 

 

  

 

 

        

  

 

  

 

 

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

    

  

 

   

  

 

  

5. Priority Actions 

People, Employment and Skills 

1. Augment the national Kickstart programme through the delivery of local enhancements 

to maximise young people’s prospects of securing employment. 

2. Deliver additional targeted support to those young people most at risk of becoming 

NEET. 

3. Create a Leicester and Leicestershire Digital Skills partnership made up of key partners, 

businesses and stakeholders in order to address digital skills deficiencies in the 

workplace and wider society. 

4. Identify and deliver interventions targeted at reducing digital poverty across Leicester 

and Leicestershire. 

5. Develop an area-wide Apprenticeship Strategy with input from businesses and key 

delivery partners to enable both employers and individuals to benefit from the 

opportunities offered by apprenticeships and enable volumes to increase post-Covid-19. 

6. Secure a Wave 2 Institute of Technology (IoT) within the LLEP area to provide a vehicle 

for the delivery of higher technical qualifications and digital skills linked to the needs of 

the economy of Leicester and Leicestershire. 

7. Create opportunities for graduate employment within SMEs as both a route to business 

recovery for the employer and a way of creating employment opportunities for 

graduates. 

8. Develop clear pathways into employment for emerging, highly productive and buoyant 

sectors (e.g. low carbon) through detailed consultation with sector representatives to 

understand the skills and qualifications required, the scale of opportunity and the range 

of occupations. 

9. Deliver effective careers, employment and retraining advice through DWP, NCS and other 

partners.  Consider if there is a need to further supplement this activity at a local level. 

Reduce the flow of low skilled, poorly qualified individuals into adulthood and ensure 

that good quality, relevant careers support is available to all age groups, including those 

over fifty. 

10. Enable continued delivery of support interventions for those furthest from the labour 

market in both urban and rural settings. 

9 

199



 

 

 

 

   

   

    

 

  

  

  

 

 

    

    

   

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

   

 

    

   

 

  

Business Support 

1. Provision of ongoing advice and support to business on both Covid-19 and EU transition 

through a range of channels feeding into the Business Gateway Growth Hub as the 

impact of both events continues to unfold. 

2. Respond to an anticipated increase in demand for start-up support through the 

development and coordination of a cohesive local framework for start-up support.  This 

will draw together existing offers including provision for the development of 

entrepreneurial skills among key groups, e.g. newly redundant, graduates, young people 

and women. 

3. Commission research on the impact of Covid-19 and EU Transition across a range of 

sectors to enable the development of sector recovery plans and effective targeting of 

support not only to those industries adversely affected but also those where there are 

identified opportunities for growth. 

4. Utilise discretionary funding to extend availability of Business Grants to a greater number 

of SMEs and particularly those who have been unable to access any other form of 

financial support during the crisis. 

5. Provision of support for the development of locally based supply chains where possible 

to address instances where chains have been broken as a result of Covid-19 and to 

mitigate against the impact of EU transition. 

6. Utilising established channels, further invest in place marketing, with outputs which play 

to the strengths of the area, mitigating against any residual negative image resulting 

from Covid-19 and connecting and communicating effectively to new markets and 

visitors alike. 

7. Establish sector focused Peer Networks to enhance resilience and recovery from the 

impact of Covid-19 and enable SMEs to develop potential for future growth and 

productivity. 

8. Provide support to enable digital transformation in SMEs across a range of sectors. 

9. Develop a comprehensive roadmap leading to a zero-carbon economy for Leicester and 

Leicestershire to include investment opportunities, jobs and skills requirements and 

identifying pathways to training and careers. 

10 

200



 

 

 

 

    

   

  

 

  

 

 

   

     

 

 

 

     

   

 

 

  

   

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

      

 

Innovation 

1. Establish an adequately resourced LLEP Innovation Board to provide impetus and 

oversight to drive forward accelerated innovation priorities at a strategic level and ensure 

that momentum is maintained. 

2. Develop sector-focused accelerator programmes, to channel innovation in both 

traditional and beacon sectors.  Use accelerator programmes to forge improved 

connections between the area’s ‘beacon’ science and technology assets and ‘bootstrap’ 

manufacturing base enabling cross sector transfer of technologies. 

3. Identify and action ‘quick win’ opportunities for the creation of new spaces (both physical 

and virtual) for improved knowledge exchange and cross-fertilisation of skills from high 

R&D to low R&D sectors. These connections would stretch beyond campuses and civic 

institutions to off-campus mixed spaces, new networks and hubs, and use existing 

infrastructure (e.g. the well-connected creative and digital industries). 

4. Develop a support service to act as a catalyst, connecting business to the R&D potential 

within universities and smoothing perceived barriers to engagement, providing a 

gateway to an ‘accelerator’.  This service would act as a bridge to join up higher 

education expertise with real life business needs and provide support in accessing 

finance for innovation. 

5. Enhance sustainability and success through collaboration with FE and HE to develop 

focused training programmes for the manufacturing workforce to enable adoption of 

new technologies (e.g. AI, big data, automation, low carbon, e-commerce) which support 

innovation and enhance manufacturing capabilities. 

6. Engage with local and regional low/zero carbon innovation programmes to ensure 

matches with local business and clusters. 

Green Recovery 

To aid Green Recovery some underpinning work is required within the next 12 months to 

scope the needs of the Zero Carbon sector and develop a package of support which can be 

applied across the wider business community. 

1. Initial development of a detailed understanding of the future growth needs of the Zero 

Carbon sector and the wider decarbonisation of businesses across the LLEP area by: 

o mapping zero carbon and circular economy business opportunities within the 

local economy; 

o establishing a focus group comprising businesses already engaged in the sector, 

in order to develop an understanding of how best to support businesses to 

11 

201



 

 

 

  

    

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

  

  

   

  

 

    

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

reduce their emissions/impact and what should be included in the development 

of a bespoke training package to support the wider business community and 

o Development of a trial product and support package to support the business 

community to move towards zero carbon and deliver business efficiencies. 

2. Acceleration of local infrastructure projects in order to begin identifying large scale and 

visible projects in the LLEP area. This is partly about starting to identify strategic 

investment projects, partly about generating some local momentum, and partly about 

securing investment. 

3. Set out the investment requirements for our local zero carbon development needs and 

work with partners to match the associated training and skills routes and business 

opportunities. 

4. Promotion of sustainable transport options and promotion of green modes of travel 

including walking and cycling. 

Infrastructure 

1. Delivery of four additional capital projects through the Getting Building Fund which 

mitigate against the impact of Covid-19: 

o Junction 23 M1 / A512 Access Improvements; 

o St. Margaret’s Gateway; 

o SportPark Pavilion 4 and 

o Granby Street and St. George’s Street Regeneration Gateway. 

2. Leverage existing natural capital assists to drive a green economic recovery through 

the development of a Natural Capital Plan to establish a baseline position and assess 

contribution of national capital assets to local growth and productivity, with 

appropriate metrics to allow for future monitoring and evaluation. 

3. Identify opportunities to add further green credentials to plans, e.g. zero emissions 

vehicles, charging/re-fuelling locations to support zero emissions connectivity and 

wider uptake of such vehicles by the public sector, private sector and wider use. 

4. Facilitate improvements in digital connectivity through broadband, Wi-Fi and 5G 

connectivity, particularly in rural blackspots.  Develop a viable and achievable plan for 

encouraging SMEs and other businesses to adopt 5G technologies as a 

transformative route to both innovation and improved productivity. 

12 

202


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 2020
	8 Provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 2024/45
	Appendix A-  Four Year Revenue Budget 2021-25
	Appendix B - Corp  Central Items Revenue Budget 2021-22
	Appendix C - Earmarked Funds Policy
	Appendix D - Insurance Policy
	Appendix E - Capital Strategy 21-25
	Appendix F - Draft Capital Programme 2021-25

	9 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 2024/25 - Chief Executive's Department
	Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2021/22
	Appendix B - Growth and Savings 2021/22 - 2024/25
	Appendix C - Capital Programme 2021/22 - 2024/25

	10 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 2024/25 - Corporate Resources Department
	Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2021/22
	Appendix B - Growth and Savings - 2021/22 - 2024/25
	Appendix C - Capital Programme - 2021/22 - 2024/25

	12 Draft Revised Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy 2021 - 2025
	Appendix A - Draft Revised CAIF Strategy 2021 - 2025
	Appendix B - Hymans Robertson - LCC CAIF Strategy REview Paper

	13 Supporting Economic Recovery in Leicestershire
	Appendix A - Economic data provided by Business Intelligence
	Appendix B - Kickstart Business Case Summary
	Appendix C - Work+ Business Case Summary
	Appendix D - Covid-19 - LRF Economic-Recovery-Action-Plan-FINAL




